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Financial Performance
Bittium’s net sales during in 2016 increased 
by 13.0 percent year-on-year to EUR 64.2 
million (EUR 56.8 million in 2015).

The share of the product-based net sales 
was EUR 11.9 million (EUR 13.1 million in 
2015), which resulted mainly from the prod-
uct deliveries of the tactical communica-
tion system, product deliveries of Bittium 
Tough Mobile LTE smartphones and relat-
ed security software, the deliveries of oth-
er terminal products for authorities’ use, 
and deliveries of products for measuring 
and monitoring biosignals. The decrease in 
the product-based net sales year-on-year 
was mainly caused by the ending of prod-
uct deliveries of a special terminal project 
for a US-based customer during the corre-
sponding period.

The share of the services-based net sales 
was EUR 51.8 million (EUR 43.4 million in 
2015). Despite the decrease in the demand 
for the services business in the network 
equipment market, the services-based net 
sales increased year-on-year due to the in-
creased demand for the R&D services relat-
ed to the special terminal products. 

Operating result was EUR 2.5 million (EUR 
2.3 million in 2015).

Cash flow from operating activities was 
EUR -1.7 million (EUR 2.1 million in 2015, 
including both continuing and discontin-
uing operations). Net cash flow was EUR 
-27.9 million, including the dividend pay-
ment in April, the investments made into 
the company’s new office building in Oulu, 
Finland, and the acquisition made in No-

vember (EUR 79.5 million in 2015 including 
the cash flow resulted from the sale of the 
Automotive business and the cash flow of 
the cancelled demerger process and the 
cash flows of the voluntary public tender of-
fer of own shares). Equity ratio was 87.0 per-
cent (90.5 percent on December 31, 2015) 
and net gearing was -70.3 percent (-88.2 
percent on December 31, 2015).

Significant Events

Changes in the Company’s 
Management and 
Organizational Structure

On April 27, 2016 Bittium announced follow-
ing appointments in the company’s man-
agement group:

M.Sc. Sami Kotkajuuri (b. 1967) was appoint-
ed as Vice President, Business Develop-
ment as of May 1, 2016. Kotkajuuri has been 
working at Bittium since 2009. As his latest 
task, he was responsible for the IoT (Inter-
net of Things) Solutions product and service 
area, where Bittium offers R&D services and 
customized solutions for companies need-
ing wireless connectivity for their devices. 
Kotkajuuri continued as a member of the 
company’s management group reporting 
to Hannu Huttunen, CEO.

M.Sc. Klaus Mäntysaari (b. 1966) was ap-
pointed as Vice President, Connectivi-
ty Solutions as of May 1, 2016. Mäntysaari 
has been working at Bittium since 2004. 
Previously he was responsible for Telecom 
product and service area, where Bittium of-
fers R&D services for wireless telecommu-

nication market. Mäntysaari continued as 
a member of the company’s management 
group reporting to Hannu Huttunen, CEO.

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpora-
tion decided on changes in the company’s 
organizational structure and management 
group to support the company’s updated 
strategy that was announced on November 
24, 2016. According to its strategy Bittium’s 
business focuses on three product and ser-
vice areas: Defense & Security, Connectivity  
Solutions and Medical Technologies.

Mr. Jari Sankala (M.Sc. Electrical Engi-
neering, Digital Communications) was ap-
pointed as Senior Vice President, Defense 
& Security product and service area. Mr. 
Sankala has been working at Bittium since 
2011 and transfers to his new position from 
the head of sales. In Bittium’s new orga-
nizational structure, the sales operations 
are managed by the product and ser-
vice areas. Mr. Klaus Mäntysaari (M.Sc.) 
continued as Vice President, Connectivi-
ty Solutions product and service area. He 
has been working at Bittium since 2004. 
Mr. Arto Pietilä M.Sc. (Applied Electronics) 
was appointed as Senior Vice President, 
Medical Technologies product and ser-
vice area. Mr. Pietilä has been working at 
Bittium since 2001, among others as head 
of operations, head of Contract R&D busi-
ness and as head of Wireless Solutions 
business. Prior to Bittium, Mr. Pietilä acted 
as the Managing Director of Polar Electro Oy.

Mr. Sami Kotkajuuri, head of business devel-
opment, decided to move on to new chal-
lenges outside of Bittium and resigned from 
the company’s service. Mr. Kotkajuuri contin-
ued his duties until the end of the year 2016.
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As of December 1, 2016 Bittium manage-
ment group consists of following persons: 
Mr. Hannu Huttunen, CEO (chairman); Mr. 
Pekka Kunnari, CFO; Mr. Kari Jokela, CLO; 
Ms. Karoliina Fyrstén, Director, Corporate 
Communications and Marketing, heads of 
product and service areas: Mr. Jari Sanka-
la, Mr. Klaus Mäntysaari, and Mr. Arto Pietilä; 
and Mr. Jari-Pekka Innanen, Vice President, 
Engineering.

Directed Share Issue 
without Consideration 2016

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpo-
ration decided on March 22, 2016 on a di-
rected share issue without consideration as 
reward payments to the key persons of the 
company. In the share issue a maximum 
of 58,000 new shares was issued without 
consideration to the key persons entitled to 
share rewards according to the terms and 
conditions relating to the share rewards. 
A total of 9 people belonging to the man-
agement and personnel of the company 
were in the target group of the payment. 
Of the maximum of 58,000 shares offered 
in the share issue, 37,500 shares were sub-
scribed. The 37,500 shares issued in the 
share issue were registered with the Trade 
Register and registered on the book-entry 
accounts of the recipients of the shares on 
March 24, 2016 and became subject to trad-
ing on the trading list of Nasdaq Helsinki on 
March 29, 2016. After the registration of the 
new shares, the number of shares in Bittium 
Corporation totaled to 35,693,166.

Stock Options

A total of 55,498 new shares in Bittium Cor-
poration were subscribed for between De-
cember 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016 by vir-
tue of the option rights 2008C. The share 
subscription price, EUR 30,523.90 was re-
corded in the company’s invested non-re-
stricted equity fund. The corresponding in-
creases in the number of the company’s 
shares were entered into the Finnish Trade 
Register on February 10, 2016 and April 14, 
2016. Shareholder rights by virtue of the 
new shares commenced as of the above-
mentioned registration entry date. Trading 

with the newly registered shares started on 
February 11, 2016 and April 15, 2016 as an ad-
ditional lot of Bittium Corporation’s shares 
in Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The share subscrip-
tion period for stock options 2008C ended 
on March 31, 2016.

Reduction of Significant  
Customer Relationship

On October 5, 2016 Bittium announced to 
have received information according to 
which significant customer cooperation 
with a global network equipment manu-
facturer will reduce during 2017. According 
to the information received, if the planned 
actions of the customer will materialize in 
full, these actions might have a negative 
effect to Bittium’s net sales and operating 
result in 2017. The reduction of the cooper-
ation had no effect on the Bittium’s outlook 
for the year 2016.

Acquisition

In November 2016, Bittium acquired the 
ownership in Mega Electronics Ltd and 
MegaKoto Ltd specialized in healthcare 
technology. Mega Electronics Ltd was ac-
quired by purchasing 100 percent of the 
shares in Remega Ltd. Mega Electronics 
Ltd was a fully owned subsidiary of Reme-
ga Ltd. Mega Electronics Ltd owned 28.2 
percent of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd, a 
company specialized in healthcare ser-
vices, and had signed binding share pur-
chase agreements to acquire 100 percent 
of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd. The acqui-
sition of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd was 
completed as planned.

Mega Electronics Ltd (now Bittium Bio-
signals Ltd), founded in 1983, is a Finnish 
ISO13485 certified medical device manu-
facturing company. The company is spe-
cialized in biosignal measuring for cardiol-
ogy, neurology, rehabilitation, occupational 
health and sports medicine. MegaKoto Ltd 
(now Bittium Medanalytics Ltd) provides 
comprehensive arrhythmia monitoring 
services for its customers such as primary 
care centers, private clinics and hospitals.

The pro forma net sales of Remega group 
and MegaKoto Ltd was approximately EUR 
3.1 million in 2015 and pro forma operating 
profit was approximately EUR 0.2 million. 
According to the preliminary and unaudit-
ed accounts, the pro forma net sales of the 
acquired companies in January-October 
2016 was EUR 3.0 million and pro forma op-
erating profit EUR 0.4 million. The net sales 
in January-October 2016 grew by 58 per-
cent compared to corresponding period in 
2015. The companies employ altogether 28 
persons and are located in Kuopio, Finland.

The debt free cash purchase price of the 
share acquisition, including the purchase 
price of MegaKoto shares, was EUR 8.0 mil-
lion, which was adjusted based on the lev-
el of cash, debt and networking capital of 
the acquired companies as of completion 
of the acquisition. In addition to the afore-
mentioned purchase price, an additional 
purchase price, capped at EUR 1.0 million, 
is payable upon the achievement of certain 
financial performance targets for the ac-
quired business between January 1, 2017 
and December 31, 2018. The potential addi-
tional purchase price will be paid in cash af-
ter achieving the goals. The acquisition had 
no significant impact on Bittium’s balance 
sheet, operating result and financial posi-
tion, and it didn’t have an effect on Bittium’s 
financial outlook for the year 2016 published 
on November 3, 2016 in the Interim Report 
January-September 2016. Remega group 
and MegaKoto Ltd has been reported as 
part of Bittium Corporation from the time 
of acquisition onwards.

With this acquisition Bittium got the own-
ership of Faros product family, focused on 
remote heart monitoring, NeurOne prod-
uct focusing on measuring the electrical 
activity of brain, and BrainStatus, a dis-
posable quick analysis headband used in 
emergency and intensive primary care to 
diagnose for example epileptic seizures and 
brain stroke, and other healthcare technol-
ogy products. Faros devices are EU medi-
cal device directive class CE class IIa and 
USA FDA 510(k) registered medical devices. 
MegaKoto Ltd is a private provider of health-
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care services approved by the Finnish Na-
tional Supervisory Authority for Welfare and 
Health having more than 70 health centers 
and private clinics using its heart monitor-
ing Kardiolog.fi service.

Bittium has over 30 years of experience in 
mobile radio technology and the acquisi-
tion today expands its technology compe-
tence to healthcare technology, where mo-
bile solutions are being increasingly used 
in patient monitoring. The products and 
services of Mega Electronics and MegaKo-
to and their strong experience in biosignal 
measurement technology strengthens Bit-
tium’s offering for these markets. Bittium is 
now able to provide for the healthcare mar-
ket global leading advanced solutions for 
patient care both in the hospitals as well 
as in home care.

Purpose
We adapt our deep knowledge to deliver su-
perior innovations and reliable, secure com-
munications and connectivity solutions. 

Vision
Bittium’s vision is to become a global en-
abler of secure and reliable connectivity for 
people and things.

Strategic Guidelines
On November 24, 2016 Bittium Corporation 
updated its strategy to strengthen its po-
sition in the global markets and to speed 
up its growth. The company plans to make 
significant investments in the future by in-
creasing significantly the R&D investments 
in its own products and solutions in the 
year 2017. In line with the nature of the de-
fense and public safety markets, the invest-
ments will pay back in a longer time period 
and therefore Bittium plans to activate the 
most of the R&D investments to its balance 
sheet. The company has a strong balance 
sheet and financial position.

Bittium decided to establish a new product 
and service area around healthcare tech-
nology. Combining healthcare technolo-

gies with Bittium’s long-term experience 
and knowhow in wireless and security tech-
nologies give the company good conditions 
to serve its customers in healthcare sec-
tor by offering them new kinds of products 
and services. As the first step to build the 
competencies in healthcare technology on 
November 10, 2016 Bittium acquired Mega 
Electronics Ltd, a company specialized in 
measuring and monitoring biosignals.

Bittium continues to search for inorganic 
growth opportunities in all its product and 
service areas and is prepared to invest in 
acquisitions that strengthen the compa-
ny’s growth strategy.

According to its updated strategy the 
company’s business is divided into three 
product and service areas effective as of 
December 1, 2016: Defense & Security, Con-
nectivity Solutions and Medical Technol-
ogies.

Defense & Security
In the Defense & Security product and ser-
vice area Bittium offers globally leading 
products and services for its customers in 
the defense, security and public safety mar-
kets. Bittium aims to significantly increase 
investments in various authority and spe-
cial terminals as well as in related software 
development and extend its tactical com-
munication product portfolio for defense 
industry. Growth in the net sales is sought 
especially from own products and product 
platforms that Bittium offers for interna-
tional defense and public safety markets.

Bittium’s competitiveness in these markets 
is based on trust and reliability, hi-quality of 
the products and services, as well as on ad-
vanced technology and security knowhow 
developed within the company during the 
last 30 years. Bittium offers its customers 
in the defense market new kind of efficiency 
for their management systems with prod-
ucts that enable faster data transfer, bet-
ter mobility, and superior compatibility with 
other communication systems.

In the public safety markets the transition 
towards LTE-based technology is expected 

to accelerate in the next few years. As the 
security threats are growing increasingly 
more security demands are set for the com-
munication systems. Bittium increases in-
vestments in developing its product offer-
ing further for these markets. The company 
also continues offering public safety mar-
kets R&D services to develop special ter-
minals and related systems that use both 
terrestrial and satellite networks.

In the defense, security and public safety 
markets, there are signs of unification re-
garding technologies as well as in securi-
ty demands. Also many customers, part-
ners and supply chains are mostly the same 
and the trend towards this is strengthening. 
Bittium merged two separate product and 
service areas into one and with that syner-
gy Bittium is able to better serve the cus-
tomers in defense and security technology.

The defense, security and public safety 
markets are slowly evolving markets by 
their nature. They are characterized by long 
sales cycles driven by the national govern-
ments’ long preparation periods of projects 
and purchase programs. The purchases of 
the selected products are typically execut-
ed over several years.

Connectivity Solutions
The development of wireless technology 
continues and digitalization creates grow-
ing need for wireless connections. Bittium 
offers R&D services and wireless connec-
tivity solutions for its customers, and the 
demand is expected to increase within the 
next few years. The competitiveness of 
the company in these markets is based on 
the strong technology and security com-
petence, as well as on trust, reliability and 
quality. The more critical the system is, the 
more significant role Bittium’s strengths 
have.

The demand for developing 4G technology- 
based network equipment is decreasing as 
the technology and market reach their ma-
turity. However, Bittium is already strongly 
involved in the development of 5G technol-
ogy which in a long run gives the company a 
good position to offer even more advanced 
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connectivity solutions also for customers in 
other markets.

Medical Technologies
In the healthcare sector, remote monitor-
ing and home care markets are growing 
strongly. Patient monitoring in the hospital 
environment is also changing into wireless. 
These trends create demand for the dig-
italization of services, wireless capability 
and secure connections. For these markets 
Bittium decided to establish a new product 
and service area around healthcare tech-
nology. As the first step to build the com-
petencies in healthcare technology, on 
November 10, 2016 Bittium acquired Mega 
Electronics Ltd, a company specialized in 
measuring and monitoring biosignals.

Combining healthcare technologies with 
Bittium’s long-term experience and compe-
tence in wireless and security technologies 
give Bittium good conditions to serve its 
customers in healthcare sector by offering 
them new kinds of products and services.

Bittium plans to strengthen its product and 
service offering for these markets also by 
searching for acquisition targets that com-
plements the whole.

Financial Targets
Bittium has announced earlier that it tar-
gets 10 percent annual growth in net sales 
and to reach EBIT level 10 percent of net 
sales in the year 2017 at the latest. The com-
pany believes that in the coming years it is 
able to grow its net sales even more than 
the earlier announced target, and therefore 
sets up a target to exceed the annual 10 per-
cent growth target of the net sales.

However, Bittium believes, that during the 
year 2017 it is not yet able to reach the tar-
gets set for the growth in the net sales and 
EBIT level. The reason for this is the termi-
nation of significant customer cooperation 
with a global network equipment manufac-
turer, of which Bittium announced earlier 
in October, that is expected to materialize 

faster and more extensively than the com-
pany estimated earlier. According to the 
information received by Bittium, the net 
sales from this customer cooperation will 
end completely in the beginning of the sec-
ond quarter of the year 2017. To this extend 
this kind of extensive and rapid decrease 
in the services business net sales is most 
likely difficult to be replaced in a short term. 
In addition, the operating profit level of the 
year 2017 is also affected by the planned 
investments to enable the future growth.

Bittium targets further to increase the share 
of net sales generated from own products 
and product platforms. According to the 
targets Bittium announced earlier, in the 
year 2017 the share of net sales generated 
from own products and product platforms 
is clearly higher than in the year 2014, when 
the product based net sales was 26.7 per-
cent of the net sales.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, MEUR
2016

12 months
2015

12 months

   Net sales 64.2 56.8
   Operating profit / loss 2.5 2.3
   Financial income and expenses 0.6 -0.2
   Result before tax 3.1 2.1
Result for the period from continuing operations 3.5 2.3
Result for the period from discontinuing operations 539.0
Result for the period 3.5 541.3
Total comprehensive income for the period 3.5 541.5

Result for the period attributable to:
   Equity holders of the parent 3.5 541.3
Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
    Equity holders of the parent 3.5 541.5

Earnings per share from continuing operations, EUR 0.098 0.020
 

Consolidated Financial Statements
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CEO’s Review

Bittium’s main focus areas in 2016 were in-
ternationalization and enabling growth. We 
succeeded well in reaching the growth tar-
get and the net sales grew by 13.0 percent 
from previous year and was EUR 64.2 mil-
lion. Especially service business developed 
positively, thanks to the demand for R&D 
services related to special terminal prod-
ucts. In the product business we made lots 
of efforts to enter the international markets, 
which have created a good base to grow the 
product business in the coming years. Due 
to the market nature and slow development 
pace we were not able to reach our product 
business growth targets. 

The share of the product-based net sales 
was EUR 11.9 million which is EUR 1.2 mil-
lion less than in the corresponding period 
last year. The decline in the product-based 
net sales was mainly caused by the end-
ing of product deliveries of a special termi-
nal project for a US-based customer during 
the corresponding period. The share of the 
services-based net sales was EUR 51.8 mil-
lion which was EUR 8.4 million more than in 
the corresponding period last year. The ser-
vices-based net sales developed positively 
thanks to the increased demand for R&D 
services related to special terminal prod-
ucts. The operating profit slightly grew and 
was EUR 2.5 million.

We continued the R&D investments in our 
products and product platforms aiming for 
growth especially in the international de-
fense and public safety, and mobile securi-
ty markets. The R&D investments were 10.8 
percent of net sales and focused mainly on 
products targeted for mobile security and 

public safety markets, such as further de-
velopment of Bittium Tough Mobile secure 
LTE smartphone. R&D investments were 
also continued in the Bittium SafeMove 
product family. 

Bittium Tough Mobile and device manage-
ment and encryption software Bittium Se-
cure Suite have created lots of interest in 
the mobile security and public safety mar-
kets, and we delivered many systems for 
several customer trials for several countries 
during the last year. We also closed many 
distributorship contracts and got good 
partners that have taken Bittium Tough Mo-
bile as part of their own product portfolio 
and solutions for their customers. Despite 
the increased awareness of the information 
security threats and existence of secure 
mobile devices, the development of the 
mobile security and public safety markets 
has been slightly slower than estimated.

The development of the tactical commu-
nication system Bittium Tactical Wireless 
IP Network (TAC WIN), used by the Finnish 
Defence Forces, continued and we made 
product deliveries related to that system. 
We also continued our efforts to bring our 
product portfolio targeted for defense mar-
ket to the international markets. We re-
ceived a small order for TAC WIN system to 
Asia and an order for TAC WIN system and 
related integration work to be delivered to 
the Estonian Defence Forces. We extended 
our tactical communication product portfo-
lio and brought a new software product, Bit-
tium Tough VoIP Service (Voice over Internet 
Protocol) to the markets. The new software 
significantly improves the capability to lead 

troops and maintain situational awareness 
in the quickly changing conditions of the 
battlefield.

Bittium has been part of the development 
of the European ESSOR wave form (Euro-
pean Secure Software defined Radio) since 
it started in 2009. In 2016, the communi-
cation of land forces of different Europe-
an countries enabled by ESSOR wave form 
was demonstrated both during the Eurosa-
tory exhibition in Paris as well as in battle-
field conditions in Finland organized by the 
Finnish Defence Forces. The demonstra-
tions were carried out jointly with Leonar-
do from Italy and Thales from France. These 
demonstrations showcased how the land 
forces of different European countries can 
communicate seamlessly with each other 
in joint operations, linking up via a common 
waveform regardless of the radio platforms 
they use.

The product development project for the 
Mexican Ministry of Communication and 
Transportation, started in May 2015, has 
continued according to plans. Bittium de-
velops Android-based mobile devices that 
use both terrestrial and satellite connection 
for their MEXSAT system.

The demand for Bittium’s R&D services de-
veloped positively during 2016. In the be-
ginning of October we received information 
according to which significant customer 
cooperation with a global network equip-
ment manufacturer will reduce during 2017. 
According to the current information the 
cooperation with the aforementioned cus-
tomer will end completely during the sec-
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ond quarter of 2017. This kind of decrease in 
the service-based net sales that happens 
this fast and in this extend, is impossible to 
be replaced with other projects in a short 
term. Ending of this cooperation affects sig-
nificantly Bittium’s net sales and operating 
result in 2017.

In November, we expanded our technology 
competence to medical technology, where 
the solutions for patient monitoring are 
using wireless technologies increasing-
ly. We acquired companies specialized in 
medical technology and services and our 
product portfolio expanded to measuring 
and monitoring of biosignals for cardiolo-
gy, neurology, rehabilitation, occupational 
health and sports medicine. Together we 
are able to provide for the healthcare mar-
ket global leading advanced solutions for 
patient care both in the hospitals as well 
as in home care. 

In November, we updated our strategy and fi-
nancial targets. We plan to make significant 
investments in our future by increasing the 
R&D investments remarkably for own prod-
ucts and solutions. In line with the nature of 
the defense and public safety markets, the 
investments will pay back in a longer time 
period and therefore most of the R&D in-
vestments are being planned to be capital-
ized to the balance sheet. The company has 
a strong balance sheet and financial posi-
tion. We decided to establish a new prod-
uct and service area around medical tech-
nology. Combining medical technologies 
with our long-term experience and know-
how in wireless and security technologies 
gives us good conditions to serve our cus-

tomers in healthcare sector by offering 
them new kinds of products and services. 
The first step to build the competencies 
around medical technology was the ac-
quisition made in November. 

The year 2016 has been an interesting year 
of growth. We have built our company for 
enabling long term growth and interna-
tionalization. I want to thank our person-
nel and partners for the remarkable invest-
ments and numerous great achievements 
during 2016. I want to express my thanks 
to our customers for their loyalty and trust, 
as well as our shareholders for supporting 
the company’s long term growth.

Hannu Huttunen
CEO
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Bittium’s Products  
and Services

Bittium is specialized in the development of 
reliable and secure connectivity and com-
munication solutions and mobile informa-
tion security solutions leveraging its 30 
years legacy of expertise in advanced ra-
dio communication technologies. Bittium 
also offers its customers also healthcare 
technology products and services in bio-
signal measuring in the areas of cardiolo-
gy, neurology, rehabilitation, occupational 
health and sports medicine based on its 
over 30 years of expertise in measuring 
technologies.

Bittium’s business operations are devided 
into three product and service areas: De-
fense & Security, Connectivity Solutions ja 
Medical Technologies. 

Defense & Security

In the Defense & Security product and ser-
vice area Bittium offers globally leading 
products and services for its customers 
in the defense, security and public safe-
ty markets. Bittium’s competitiveness in 
these markets is based on trust and reli-
ability, hi-quality of the products and ser-
vices, as well as on advanced technology 
and security knowhow developed within the 
company during the last 30 years.

Bittium Tough Mobile™ is a secure and 
durable Android-based LTE smartphone 
combining the latest information securi-
ty and commercial device technologies. 
Bittium Tough Mobile incorporates a hard-
ware-based security platform, which en-
ables strong device security as well as 
deep integration of both customers’ own 
and third-party software security solutions. 
This dedicated hardware is essential for 
building layered mobile security solutions. 
In addition, Bittium Tough Mobile’s features 
include for example a programmable Push-
to-Talk button (PTT), glove-usable 5” full HD 
display, IP67 level water and dust protec-
tion, and MIL-STD-810G level shock resis-
tance. Bittium Tough Mobile and related 
management system and VPN encryption 
solution have received official encryption 
product classification in Finland from the 
Finnish Communications Regulatory Au-
thority where material can be transferred 
between a smartphone and connected 
back end solutions on top of creating and 
processing of classified information.

Bittium Secure Suite™ is a device manage-
ment and encryption software product that 
complements Bittium Tough Mobile smart-
phone with a scalable set of new software 
services for remote management, remote 

Business Operations in 2016

attestation and securing the network con-
nections of the device. Bittium Tough Mo-
bile smartphone and Bittium Secure Suite 
form a unique, complete, reliable system 
for processing and transferring sensitive 
and classified material and securing crit-
ical communication.
Bittium Specialized Device Platform™ is a 
versatile device platform leveraging latest 
mass market mobile device hardware and 
software technologies. The platform en-
ables companies to roll-out fully custom-
ized mobile devices in various form factors 
(incl. module, smartphone, tablet and smart 
watch) faster and with lower development 
risks. The platform has been productized to 
public safety, security, industrial and smart 
watch markets. One of the major products 
based on this platform is the Bittium Tough 
Mobile, secure smartphone.

Bittium SafeMove® Mobile VPN software 
enables the utilization of all IP based appli-
cations and networks by securing the con-
nections between the work station and cor-
porate services before Windows logon. With 
Bittium SafeMove, for instance home care 
workers are allowed to have full access to 
the same systems and applications they 
would have on a hospital desktop, enabling 
real-time access to patient records.

Bittium SafeMove® Analytics is an ad-
vanced monitoring and reporting module 
that helps organizations to monitor network 
connectivity and performance to improve 
productivity and user experience. The Ana-
lytics tool continuously gathers connectivi-
ty data such as connectivity status, speed, 
throughput and bytes transferred, network 
type and Wi-Fi network information. It is 
also easy to enhance the tool with posi-
tioning information if GPS data is available.Bittium Tactical Wireless IP Network™ (TAC WIN)
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Bittium Tactical Wireless IP Network™  
(TAC WIN) is a Software Defined Radio 
based wireless broadband network sys-
tem intended for military and public safety 
use. With the system MANET (mobile ad hoc 
network), link, and connection networks can 
be formed into one logical IP network quick-
ly, no matter what the location is. Bittium 
TAC WIN is compatible with existing fixed 
and wireless network infrastructures. The 
core of the system is a tactical router that 
enables users to freely form both wired and 
wireless broadband data transfer IP con-
nections. Tactical router enables also con-
nections to different types of terminals and 
other communication systems connect-
ing them into one communication network. 
In addition to the router, the system com-
prises three types of radio heads, and each 
radio head covers its own frequency band 
area and can be used for flexible formation 
of optimized network topologies for differ-
ent communication needs. All the prod-
ucts of the system are designed for harsh 
conditions, and thanks to the system’s au-
tomated functions the implementation of 
the system can be done quickly. Due to the 
software-based functionality of the Bittium 
TAC WIN system, it can be easily updated 
with additional performance cost-efficient-
ly during the whole lifespan of the system.

Bittium Tough VoIP™ product family’s prod-
ucts enable tactical IP calls and broadband 
data transfer even in demanding condi-
tions. Products are easily integrated to ex-
isting IP infrastructure. The product fami-
ly consists of a range of tactical IP-based 
communication products, including dis-
tributed VoIP service network for tactical 
environment, Bittium Tough VoIP Service;  
Voice over IP clients, Bittium Tough VoIP 
Field Phone and Bittium Tough VoIP Ter-
minal; and network extension unit, Bittium 
Tough VoIP Network Extender.

Bittium Tough VoIP Field Phone™ is a SIP 
(Session Initation Protocol) compliant cli-
ent that provides interoperability with oth-
er SIP clients and server implementations 
available in the market, and incorporates 
functionality that enables introduction of 
VoIP services in dynamic self-forming net-
works independent from server.

Bittium Tough VoIP Terminal™ is a wireline 
VoIP phone that can be operated either as 
an part of Bittium Tough VoIP solution or 
as a IP terminal together with a third-par-
ty equipment.

With the Bittium Tough VoIP Network  
Extender™´s SHDSL (Symmetric-High- 
Speed Digital Subrscriber Line) connectivi-
ty, an IP network can be extended over long 
distances using conventional field wire. The 
Network Extender also features Ethernet 
and SHDSL connections to external net-
works and devices. With these products it 
is possible to provide wired connectivity 
and enhanced reliability of VoIP services 
regardless of availability of network ser-
vices. Products are also easily integrated 
to existing IP infrastructure and are fully in-
teroperable with commercial equipment.

The Bittium Tough VoIP product family was 
extended in April with Bittium Tough VoIP 
Service™ software product, which can be 
used to connect both fixed data network 
users and wireless tactical data network 
users to the same voice service network.

Bittium Tactical LTE Access Point™ is a 
solution providing LTE access to the Bit-
tium TAC WIN network. With the solution, 
different troops can benefit from cost-effi-
cient and high-speed multimedia data and 
VoIP services by using commercial smart-
phones as well as special terminals intend-
ed for authority use.
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Connectivity Solutions

In the Connectivity Solutions product and 
services area Bittium provides innovative 
design and development services to cus-
tomers who demand the development of 
customized, purpose-built IoT devices ac-
cording to industry-specific requirements. 
Bittium has strong expertise on system de-
sign, technology integration, wireless radio 
and antenna technologies, and power op-
timized, small form-factor device develop-
ment. Bittium’s competitiveness on these 
markets is based on strong technology and 
data security expertise, and on an estab-
lished reputation for reliability and quality.  

Bittium wearable platform for health mon-
itoring is a wearable device platform inte-
grated with four sensors: 3-axis acceler-
ometer, Optical Heart Rate (OHR), skin 
temperature and EmoGraphy skin conduc-
tance sensor. These sensors allow the mea-
surement of person’s stress level, fatigue 
and sleeping quality. The wearable platform 
provides an easy way to develop and test 
new healthcare specific products and ser-
vices such as remote patient monitoring or 
professional driving applications.

Medical Technologies

Bittium offers its customers healthcare 
technology products and services in bio-
signal measuring in the areas of cardiolo-
gy, neurology, rehabilitation, occupation-
al health and sports medicine. Combining 
healthcare technologies with Bittium’s 
long-term experience and competence in 
wireless and security technologies gives 
Bittium good conditions to serve its cus-
tomers in healthcare sector by offering 
them new kinds of products and services.

Faros ECG Event and Faros ECG Mobile are 
software solutions for remote heart moni-
toring, where the cardiac arrhythmia iden-
tified by the detection algorithms embed-
ded in the Faros device is quickly passed 
to professionals for examination. The solu-
tions enable patients’ earlier repatriation 
and even better ability to react to potentially 
emerging arrhythmias faster.

Faros Cardiac Rehab is a solution for Cardi-
ac rehabilitation real-time monitoring for up 
to 16 patients simultaneously. The solution 
enables more effective rehabilitation of the 
patients and increases their safety during 
training.

NeurOne is one of the most accurate and 
quickest EEG measuring devices in the 
world designed for research and clinical 
use. NeurOne system enables fully synchro-
nized group measuring of up to 30 persons 
simultaneously for example in different 
types of psychological studies. The solu-
tion is optimized for use with transcranial 
magnetic stimulators (TMS-EEG), with op-
tional possibility to use it during magnetic 
resonance imaging procedures (fMRI-EEG).

BrainStatus is a wireless compact EEG am-
plifier, which is used together with a dispos-
able easy and quick to wear BrainStatus 
electrode headband for example to diag-
nose epileptic seizures and brain stroke. 
BrainStatus enables quick measurement 
in field conditions as well as in hospitals, 
thus making the treatment process of the 
patient faster.

Business  
Development in 2016

Despite the decrease in the demand for 
R&D services for the mobile network man-
ufacturers, the demand for Bittium’s R&D 
services developed positively during 2016. 
Also, the demand for R&D services in the 
IoT markets developed positively. The prod-
uct development project for the Mexican 
Ministry of Communication and Transpor-
tation, started in May 2015, has continued 
according to plans. Bittium develops An-
droid-based mobile devices that use both 
terrestrial and satellite connection for their 
MEXSAT system.

In October, Bittium announced to have re-
ceived information according to which sig-
nificant customer cooperation with a global 
network equipment manufacturer will re-
duce during 2017. At that time, according to 
the information received, if the planned ac-
tions of the customer will materialize in full, 
Bittium estimated that these actions might 
have a negative effect to Bittium’s net sales 
and operating result in 2017.

During 2016 Bittium continued the R&D in-
vestments in its own products and product 
platforms aiming for growth especially in 
the international mobile security, defense 
and public safety markets. The investments 
focused mainly in the further development 
of the Bittium Tough Mobile™ secure LTE 
smartphone targeted for the mobile secu-
rity and public safety markets.

Base station

Faros
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Bittium Tough Mobile 

Bittium Tough Mobile and related manage-
ment system and VPN encryption Bittium 
Secure Suite™ have generated lots of inter-
est in the information security and public 
safety markets. Bittium has been actively 
seeking for, and has found a few suitable 
partners and resellers who have taken Bit-
tium Tough Mobile as part of their own prod-
uct portfolio and/or solution for their cus-
tomers. The product deliveries of Bittium 
Tough Mobile continued during the whole 
year. The awareness of information securi-
ty risks is growing and the interest towards 
secure mobile devices is increasing, howev-
er, the development of the public safety and 
information security markets in 2016 was 
somewhat slower than expected.

In the turn of May-June at Critical Communi-
cations World exhibition in Amsterdam, Bit-
tium launched a new Bittium Tough Mobile 
B28 frequency variant, which is targeted for 
public safety networks requiring this band 
28. In addition, Bittium and Air-Lynx demon-
strated the first public safety LTE evolved 
Multimedia Broadcast Multicast Solution 
(eMBMS) that enables efficient use of the 
whole LTE radio spectrum, delivering huge 
amounts of data even in a congested net-
work environment. This is particularly im-
portant in public safety, security and oth-
er mission-critical communications, which 
require fast data speeds, low latencies and 
reliable connections.

In October, the company announced to 
have conducted the first ever Voice over 
LTE (VoLTE) call with Bittium Tough Mobile 
on the Public Safety Band 14 LTE Network 
in the United States.

Bittium SafeMove  
Product Family

Bittium continued R&D investments in 
Bittium SafeMove product family and an-
nounced Bittium SafeMove Analytics soft-
ware as a standalone software product for 
enterprises for monitoring and analyzing 
the performance of wireless networks and 

mobile devices. Organizations that use An-
alytics will get real-time and historical data 
on the location of mobile devices and the 
performance of wireless networks and thus 
are able to enhance the efficiency and user 
experience of mobile workers.

In May, Bittium released a new software ver-
sion of Bittium SafeMove Mobile VPN re-
mote access solution. The new software 
version enhances the information secu-
rity of mobile workers by supporting per-
formance-improving encryption methods. 
Moreover, the new management user inter-
face and support for mobile Android devic-
es make the work of IT departments signifi-
cantly easier.

In May, Bittium established a partnership 
with Getac to improve the productivity, se-
curity and user experience for field workers 
in challenging conditions. Bittium offers its 
SafeMove Mobile VPN and Analytics soft-
ware to all Getac’s rugged tablets and note-
books as an option across Europe from May 
2016 onwards. 

Bittium Tough VoIP 
Product Family and 
Bittium TAC WIN System

The development of the tactical commu-
nication system Bittium Tactical Wireless 
IP Network (TAC WIN), used by the Finn-
ish Defence Forces, continued during the 
year. The product deliveries for the commu-
nication system were continued during the 
whole year. Bittium received a new order for 
a new software package for the system. The 
main objective for the development work of 
the new software package is to continue 
enhancing the performance, data transfer 
capacity and survivability of the software 
and the related radio platform.

Bittium also continued efforts to bring its 
products and services, targeted to defense 
industry, to the international defense mar-
kets and received a small order of TAC WIN 
system in Asia. In November, the company 
announced to have received a purchase or-

der for a tactical communications system 
and related integration work to be delivered 
to the Estonian Defence Forces.

Bittium expanded its product portfolio in 
tactical communications by introducing 
Bittium Tough VoIP Service (Voice over In-
ternet Protocol) software product. With the 
product both fixed data network users and 
wireless tactical data network users can be 
connected to the same voice service net-
work. This significantly improves the capa-
bility to lead troops and maintain situational 
awareness in the quickly changing condi-
tions of the battlefield.

ESSOR (European Secure 
Software defined Radio)  
Cooperation Continued

Bittium has been part of the European ES-
SOR programme since it started in 2009. 
The aim of the program is to develop the 
European Software Defined Radio technol-
ogy in order to improve the capabilities for 
cooperation in coalition operations.

In June, Bittium demonstrated together 
with both Italian company Leonardo and 
French company Thales how the land forc-
es of different European countries will be 
able to communicate with each other in 
joint operations, linking up via a common 
waveform regardless of the actual radio 
platforms they use.

In December, Bittium demonstrated to-
gether with Leonardo, Thales and Finnish 
Defence Forces the capabilities and func-
tionalities of the High Data Rate Wave-
form (HDRWF) developed in the European 
ESSOR programme in battlefield condi-
tions.

The Acquisition of 
Mega Electronics

In November, Bittium acquired Mega Elec-
tronics Ltd and MegaKoto Ltd, companies 
specialized in healthcare technology and 
services.

Bitti
um Tough Mobile™
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Mega Electronics Ltd (now: Bittium Biosig-
nals Ltd), founded in 1983, is a Finnish ISO 
13485 certified medical device manufac-
turing company.

The Company is specialized in biosignal 
measuring for cardiology, neurology, rehabili-
tation, occupational health and sports medi-
cine. MegaKoto Ltd. (now Bittium Medanalyt-
ics Ltd.) provides comprehensive arrhythmia 
monitoring services for its customers such 
as primary care centers, private clinics and 
hospitals.

With this acquisition Bittium got the own-
ership of Faros product family, focused on 
heart remote monitoring, NeurOne prod-
uct focusing on measuring the electrical 
activity of brain, and BrainStatus, a dis-
posable quick analysis headband used in 
emergency and intensive primary care to 
diagnose for example epileptic seizures and 
brain stroke, and other healthcare technol-
ogy products. Faros devices are EU medical 
device directive class CE class IIa and USA 
FDA 510(k) registered medical devices. Bit-
tium Medanalytics Ltd is a private provid-
er of healthcare services approved by the 
Finnish National Supervisory Authority for 
Welfare and Health having more than 70 
health centers and private clinics using its 
heart monitoring Kardiolog.fi service. This 
acquisition was part of Bittium’s strategy 
announced later in November.

Market Outlook
Bittium’s customers operate in various in-
dustries, each of them having their own in-
dustry specific factors driving the demand. A 
common factor creating demand among the 
whole customer base is the growing need for 
higher quality and secure data transfer. Due 
to the technology and measuring compe-
tences accrued over time and long history 
in developing mobile communication solu-
tions, Bittium is in a good position to offer 
customized solutions for its customers.

The following factors are expected to create 
demand for Bittium’s products and services 
in 2017 and beyond:
•	In the mobile telecommunications, the 

4G technology development work has de-
creased significantly affecting declining 
to the mobile network markets in the near 

future. The development of 5G technolo-
gy has started very well creating demand 
for Bittium’s R&D services increasingly. 
However, the development of 5G technol-
ogy has just begun, and it will not replace 
the amount of the 4G development work 
within the next few years. Therefore in the 
future the demand for R&D service for the 
network equipment manufacturers is ex-
pected to be significantly lower than in 
the previous years.

•	As the digitalization evolves, the secure 
IoT (Internet of Things) has become a sig-
nificant development area in many indus-
tries. The increasing need of companies 
to digitalize their operations, collect data 
wirelessly and transfer it to the internet 
and cloud services generate need for Bit-
tium’s services and customized solutions. 
For this there is a need for connected de-
vices for consumers and demanding in-
dustrial usage that collect information 
through their sensors and connect the 
devices securely to the internet and cloud 
services. Also the integration of different 
systems and technologies play an import-
ant role in enabling the complete digitali-
zation service. To ease and speed up the 
processing of large data amounts there 
are different kinds of learning systems 
and devices under development that use 
different kinds of artificial intelligence (AI) 
technologies.

•	The use of LTE technology, smartphones 
and applications is expected to contin-
ue increasing in special verticals such as 
public safety creating demand for Bittium 
Tough Mobile secure LTE smartphone and 
other customized special terminals based 
on Bittium’s own product platform. The 
awareness of mobile security risks is 
growing and the interest towards secure 
mobile devices is increasing. Also the in-
terest towards LTE-SAT-hybrid devices 
with terrestrial and satellite connections 
has grown to further improve the function-
ality of authorities’ critical connections. 
The sale of the secure terminal products is 
expected to develop moderately accord-
ing to the nature of public safety markets.

•	Using public network connections in 
portable devices is increasing also in de-
manding professional use, such as in the 
public sector. This creates requirements 
for network connections to be easy to use 
and secure. The products in the Bittium 

SafeMove product family enable the ease 
of use of the devices and security in de-
manding use.

•	In the defense sector’s tactical communi-
cation market the governments’ defense 
forces and other authorities need net-
works that troops, who are increasingly 
constantly on the move, can use for trans-
ferring growing amounts of data securely. 
This creates demand for Bittium Tactical 
Wireless IP Network (TAC WIN) broadband 
network and for other Bittium’s IP-based 
(Internet Protocol) tactical communica-
tions solutions. Bittium continues its ef-
forts to bring its defense market targeted 
products and services also to the interna-
tional defense markets and aims to get 
new international customers for its tacti-
cal communication system in 2017. Due to 
the long sales cycles driven by purchas-
ing programs of national governments, 
it takes years to receive significant pur-
chase orders.

•	Heart problems and brain strokes are 
among the most frequent causes of 
death. Recognizing the symptoms ear-
ly on, based on information gathered by 
measuring, enables the start of the effec-
tive treatment fast. Also the prevention of 
diseases and health problems are being 
increasingly invested in. The healthcare 
technology market is ongoing a signifi-
cant change in the patient care both in-
side the hospitals as well as in homecare. 
The repatriation of patients is being pur-
sued earlier than before which may enable 
significant cost savings in the healthcare. 
One of the growing application areas in 
the IoT segment is healthcare technol-
ogy that enables implementing these 
changes for its part. A prerequisite for 
early repatriation is the enabling of ac-
curate and precise follow-up and mea-
surement in home conditions through re-
mote monitoring. For this purpose Bittium 
offers its Faros product family for remote 
heart monitoring and NeurOne product 
family for measuring the electrical activ-
ity of brain.
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22nd of December

Bittium, Leonardo, Thales and the 
Finnish Defence Forces demonstrate 
ESSOR High Data Rate Waveform 
for joint operations in battlefield 
conditions

15th of November 

Bittium’s subsidiary Mega Electronics 
Ltd. exhibits its latest innovative 
products and solutions for cardiology 
and neurology at Medica 2016 
exhibition

3rd of November

Bittium received a purchase order for 
a tactical communications system and 
related integration work to be delivered 
to the Estonian Defence Forces

3rd of November 

Bittium exhibits its products and 
solutions for tactical communications 
at Indo Defence 2016 exhibition

12th of October 

Bittium conducts the first VoLTE call in 
Public Safety LTE band 14 environment

12th of October 

Bittium exhibits its new wearable 
device platform at IoT Solutions 
World Congress 2016 in Barcelona

26th of September 

Bittium exhibits its secure and easy-to-
use Bittium SafeMove remote access 
solutions at HETT Show 2016 in London

Press Releases in 2016

13th of June 

Bittium and Leonardo-Finmeccanica 
to demonstrate the first European 
cross-platform military radio 
technology for effective joint 
operations

13th of June 

Bittium exhibits its products and 
solutions for tactical communications 
at Eurosatory defense exhibition

31st of May 

Bittium and Air-Lynx launch world’s 
first public safety LTE evolved 
Multimedia Broadcast Multicast 
Solution (eMBMS) solution

31st of May 

Bittium exhibits the Bittium Tough 
Mobile smartphone and announces 
its Band 28 variant for public safety at 
Critical Communications World 2016

24th of May

Bittium and Getac partnered to 
improve productivity, security and user 
experience for field workers

24th of May

Bittium exhibits its secure and easy-to-
use Bittium SafeMove remote access 
solutions at Healthcare ICT conference 
2016

23th of May

Bittium releases new software version 
of Bittium SafeMove Mobile VPN 
remote access solution

20th of May 

Bittium SafeMove Analytics software is 
now also available for enterprises as 
a standalone software product

5th of April 

Bittium expands its product family in 
tactical communications with Bittium 
Tough VoIP Service™ software product

5th of April 

Bittium exhibits its customized, secure 
IoT solutions and engineering services 
at Hannover Messe 2016 industrial fair

22nd of March 

Digia Salpa mobile communications 
solution receives national information 
security classification in the Bittium 
Tough Mobile™ smartphone

14th of March 

Bittium exhibits its customized, secure 
IoT solutions and engineering services 
at Wearable Technology Show 2016

24th of February 

Bittium received a purchase order 
from the Finnish Defence Forces for 
a software upgrade for the Bittium 
TAC WIN system used in tactical 
communication

27th of January 

Bittium exhibits Bittium Tough Mobile 
smartphone, its device management 
and encryption software and IoT 
solutions at Mobile World Congress 
2016

20th of January

Bittium exhibits its secure and easy-to-
use Bittium SafeMove remote access 
solutions at Long-Term Conditions 
Conference 2016
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Bittium´s core competences are strong and 
extensive know-how of radio technology, 
embedded software, electronics, and prod-
uct integration. At Bittium the way of work-
ing is based on the implementation of Lean 
and Agile methods. The development of en-
gineering competences has been further 
supported by virtual competence teams 
and trainings that are based on the cur-
rent needs.

In 2016 the main focus of Bittium’s person-
nel’s competence development has been 
in developing the software design process 
in all software levels and in utilizing the 
Open Source methods more efficiently. A 
new focus area has been the implemen-
tation of the DevOps operation models, 
where the aim is to improve the dialogue 
between R&D operations and to facilitate 
agile changes in the production phase of 
the software development. In relation to the 
digitalization, DevOps is a growing product 
development model. The development of 
the model also supports strongly the de-
velopment of our own personnel’s compe-
tences and the adoption of new, fast and 
agile working methods. During fall 2016 we 
arranged own Hackathon events where the 
development of competence and producti-
zation were combined in a natural, inspiring 
way that facilitates innovation. Other im-

portant competence development areas 
were development of information security, 
especially in software development, utiliza-
tion of 5G technology, and back- and front-
end development.

During 2016 Bittium continued to partici-
pate in the DIMECC N4S (Need for Speed) 
program. In this program, the focus is on 
more rapid and regular version releases, 
continuous integration and development 
of test automation chains, as well as in-
creasing transparency, real time feedback 
and collecting quality data throughout the 
whole chain from suppliers to customers. 
The program is widely utilized in product de-
velopment and in managing the production 
chain, which increases productivity and flu-
ency of the work. The results of our employ-
ee and customer satisfaction surveys have 
furthermore improved, which reflects the 
achievements of the program.

Accelerate, a program where the aim is at 
creating and maintaining a growth basis 
for innovations, also continued as a devel-
opment model in 2016. In the program, the 
working models and tools for Bittium’s in-
novation work were furthermore developed. 
Through the tool the personnel can share 
ideas in a transparent easy-to-use forum 
that enables discussion and co-develop-

At the end of the year 2016 altogether 623 employees worked in 
Bittium in Finland, USA, Great Britain and Singapore. The amount 
of personnel increased by 106 from last year in Finland. Part of 
the increase in headcount was due to the business acquisition, 
when Bittium acquired the ownerships of Mega Electronics Ltd. 
and MegaKoto Ltd in November 2016. The average age of the 
personnel in Bittium was 41 years. R&D engineers and special-
ists constituted clearly the largest proportion of the personnel.

ment. The results of this program received 
good feedback e.g. at the EU EUREKA clus-
ter’s ITEA Digital Masterclass benchmark 
forum.

In 2016 we continued to improve leadership 
skills and wellbeing also through the pro-
cesses of supervisor work. A new Quarter 
Chat process was implemented to facilitate 
good coaching leadership. In this new mod-
el of supervisory work the supervisor meets 
the subordinates more frequently and in-
formally. The enhanced interaction helps in 
building mutual trust, which enables better 
and more real time support to work fluen-
cy, competence development and wellbe-
ing. The previously used more formal de-
velopment discussion was removed from 
the annual clock, but employees can still 
reserve time for a development discussion 
with their supervisors whenever it is need-
ed and topical from the competence de-
velopment point of view. This reform was 
received well; in a survey carried out in early 
fall 2016, the general opinion of the persons 
who had “Quarter Chatted” with their su-
pervisors, was that these discussion had 
been very useful.  
  
Also the BES 2016 (Bittium Employee sur-
vey) result showed, that employees are 
more satisfied than before with the super-
visor work and the company’s operations in 
general. The results of the annual employ-
ee survey improved significantly already in 
2015, and the increase in the scores of all 
parts of the survey continued moderate-
ly also in 2016. Especially the employees 
felt, that they were better informed of the 
operations and strategy of the company 
than before. The survey carried out in Octo-
ber set an all-time record in response rate, 
77 percent.

Personnel 
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Shares

The shares of Bittium Corporation are quot-
ed on the Nasdaq Helsinki. The company 
has one series of shares. All shares entitle 
their holders to dividends of equal value. 
Each share has one vote. The share does 
not have a nominal value. The company’s 
shares have been entered into the Euroclear 
Finland Ltd.’s book entry system.

At the end of the financial period, the ful-
ly paid share capital of the company en-
tered into the Finnish Trade Register was 
EUR  12,941,269 and the total number of the 
shares was 35,693,166. The accounting par 
value of the company’s share is EUR 0.10. 
The company does not have its own shares 
in its possession.

Option Rights

The Annual General Meeting of March 14, 
2008, decided to issue stock options to 
Bittium group’s (former Elektrobit group) 
key personnel. The maximum number of 
stock options was 4,200,000, of which 
1,400,000 were marked with the symbol 
2008A, 1,400,000 were marked with the 
symbol 2008B and 1,400,000 were marked 
with the symbol 2008C. The stock options 
entitled to subscription of a maximum total 
of 4,200,000 new shares of the company or 
treasury shares. 

Shares and Shareholders 
The proportion of the shares that were to  
be subscribed using the stock options to 
be issued was a maximum total of 3.1 per-
cent of the company’s shares and asso-
ciated voting rights after a possible share 
subscription, if new shares were to be is-
sued in the subscription. The subscription 
price for the shares to be subscribed based 
on the stock options was based on the pre-
vailing market value of the Bittium Corpo-
ration share at Nasdaq Helsinki in January 
2009, January 2010 and January 2011. The 
subscription price was to be recorded in the 
fund for invested unrestricted equity. The 
share subscription period for stock options 
2008A was 1 April 2012–31 March 2014, for 
stock options 2008B 1 April 2013–31 March 
2015, and for stock options 2008C 1 April 
2014–31 March 2016.

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpora-
tion decided on June 5, 2013 on the transfer 
of stock options 2008A and 2008B to the 
Finnish book-entry system and to apply for 
listing of 1,400,000 stock options 2008A and 
of 1,400,000 stock options 2008B on the of-
ficial list of Nasdaq Helsinki. The trading with 
the stock options started on June 17, 2013. 
The share subscription period for stock op-
tions 2008A ended on March 31, 2014 and 
the share subscription period for stock op-
tions 2008B ended on March 31, 2015.

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpora-
tion decided on the transfer of series 2008C 
stock options to the Finnish book-entry sys-
tem on December 20, 2013 and applied for 
listing of 1,400,000 stock options 2008C 
on the official list of Nasdaq Helsinki. Ap-
plication was made for the listing to com-
mence on April 1, 2014. The share subscrip-
tion period for series 2008C stock options 
commenced on April 1, 2014 and ended on 
March 31, 2016.

A total of 55,498 new shares in Bittium Cor-
poration were subscribed for between De-
cember 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016 by vir-
tue of the option rights 2008C. The share 
subscription price, EUR 30,523.90 was re-
corded in the company’s invested non-re-
stricted equity fund. The corresponding 
increases in the number of the compa-
ny’s shares were entered into the Finnish 
Trade Register on February 10, 2016 and 
April 14, 2016 as an additional lot of Bit-
tium Corporation’s shares in Nasdaq Hel-
sinki Ltd. The share subscription period 
for stock options 2008C ended on March 
31, 2016. More information and terms and 
conditions of stock options 2008 are 
available in the Company’s web pages at  
www.bittium.com/investor_relations. 
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Share Price and Trading  
Volumes in 2016

The closing price of Bittium Corporation’s 
share was EUR 5.67 at the end of 2016; the 
share reached a high of EUR 7.40 and a 
low of EUR 5.15. During the year, a total of 
20.9 million shares with the value of EUR 
126.4 million changed hands on the Nasdaq 
Helsinki. This is 58.6 percent of the share 
capital. Bittium Corporation´s market cap-
italization on December 31, 2016 was EUR 
202.4 million.

Dividend and Dividend Policy

Bittium Corporation follows a dividend pol-
icy that takes into account the group´s net 
income, financial situation, need for capital 
and financing of growth. 

In 2016 Bittium Corporation paid EUR 0.05 
per share as dividend based on the adopt-
ed balance sheet for the financial period 
January 1, 2015–December 31, 2015 and 
EUR 0.25 per share as additional dividend. 
The dividend was paid to the sharehold-
ers who were registered as shareholders 
in the company´s register of shareholders 
as maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd. on 
the dividend record date, April 21, 2016. The 
dividend was paid on April 28, 2016.

The Board of Directors proposes that the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on April 
12, 2017 resolve to pay EUR 0.05 per share 
as dividend from the profit of the finan-
cial period based on the adopted balance 
sheet for the financial period of January 1, 
2016–December 31, 2016 and EUR 0.25 per 

share as additional dividend. The dividend 
will be paid to the shareholders who are reg-
istered as shareholders in the company’s 
register of shareholders as maintained by 
Euroclear Finland Ltd on the dividend re-
cord date, April 18, 2017. The Board of Di-
rectors proposes that the dividend be paid 
on April 25, 2017.

Trading Codes

Bittium Corporation has been listed on Nas-
daq Helsinki (previously Helsinki Stock Ex-
change) since 1998. Bittium Corporation´s 
company code and trading code in the Nas-
daq Helsinki INET system is BITTI and the 
trading code BITTI.

Trading codes are:
Nasdaq Helsinki	 BITTI
Reuters 	 BITTI.HE 
Bloomberg 	 BITTIFH

Shareholders

At the end of 2016 Bittium Corporation had 
21,424 shareholders. The ten largest share-
holders owned 29.2 percent of the shares. 
Private ownership was 78.4 percent. The 
percentage of foreign and nominee-regis-
tered shareholders was 3.4 percent at the 
end of 2016.

Shareholding of the Board 
of Directors and CEO

At the end of 2016, the shareholding of the 
Board of Directors, CEO and the companies 
controlled by them was 1,578,631 shares, 
corresponding to 4.4 percent of all shares.

Information to  
Shareholders 

Press releases, reports, earnings esti-
mates, share price ticker, contact details 
of analysts and other current investor ma-
terial can be found on the company´s web-
site at www.bittium.com. An email-based 
subscription service for press releases and 
publications can be found from the compa-
ny’s website as well.

Financial Reports in 2017

Bittium has reported its financial develop-
ment quarterly. On November 23, Bittium 
announced a change to its financial re-
porting practice and will publish half year 
and annual financial reports and no longer 
interim reports for the first three and nine 
months of the year. In 2017, Bittium will pub-
lish financial reports as follows:

February 20, 2017  
Financial Statement Bulletin 2016
August 9, 2017  
Half Year Financial Report, Jan.–Jun. 2017

Financial reports will be published simul-
taneously in Finnish and in English at 8.00 
a.m. (CET+1) on Bittium´s web pages at 
www.bittium.com/investors. The compa-
ny will hold press conference regarding the 
reports on dates to be specified later.
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Silent Periods in 2017

Bittium will observe a Silent Period prior to 
announcing its results. The Silent Periods 
in 2017 are as follows:
January 30–February 20, 2017
July 19–August 9, 2017

The Annual General  
Meeting 2017 of 
Bittium Corporation
The Annual General Meeting of Bittium Cor-
poration will be held on Wednesday, April 
12, 2017 at 1.00 p.m. in University of Oulu at 
the address Saalastinsali, Pentti Kaiteran 
katu 1, 90590 Oulu. 

Shareholders Registered in 
the Shareholders’ Register

Each shareholder, who is registered on Fri-
day, March 31, 2017 in the shareholders’ 
register of the company held by Euroclear 
Finland Ltd., has the right to participate in 
the General Meeting. A shareholder, whose 
shares are registered on his/her personal 
Finnish book-entry account, is registered in 
the shareholders’ register of the company.

A shareholder, who is registered in the 
shareholders’ register of the company and 
who wants to participate in the General 
Meeting, shall register for the meeting no 
later than on Friday, April 7, 2017 by 10.00 
a.m. by giving a prior notice of participation. 

The notice has to be received by the compa-
ny before the end of the registration period. 
The notice has to be received by the compa-
ny before the end of the registration period. 
Such notice can be given:

a)	 on the company’s website at 
	 www.bittium.com, as from March 2, 		
	 2017 at 10.00 a.m.
b)	 by telephone +358 40 344 3322 
	 or +358 40 344 5425 on weekdays 
	 between 9.00 a.m. and 3.00 p.m.
c)	 by telefax; +358 8 343 032; or
d)	 by regular mail to the address Bittium 
	 Corporation, General Meeting, 	
	 Tutkijantie 8, 90590 Oulu, Finland.

In connection with the registration, a share-
holder shall notify his/her name, personal 
identification number or business identity 

code, address, telephone number and the 
name of a possible assistant or proxy rep-
resentative and the personal identification 
number of a proxy representative. The per-
sonal data given to Bittium Corporation is 
used only in connection with the General 
Meeting and with the processing of relat-
ed registrations.

The shareholder, his/her authorized rep-
resentative or proxy representative shall, 
where necessary, be able to prove his/her 
identity and/or right of representation at the 
General Meeting.

Holders of Nominee  
Registered Shares

A holder of nominee registered shares has 
the right to participate in the General Meet-
ing by virtue of such shares, based on which 
he/she on Friday, March 31, 2017 would be 
entitled to be registered in the sharehold-
ers’ register of the company held by Euro-
clear Finland Ltd. The right to participate in 
the General Meeting requires, in addition, 
that the shareholder on the basis of such 
shares has been registered into the tem-
porary shareholders’ register held by Eu-
roclear Finland Ltd. at the latest on Friday, 
April 7, 2017 by 10.00 a.m. As regards nom-
inee registered shares this constitutes due 
registration for the General Meeting.

A holder of nominee registered shares is 
advised to request without delay the nec-
essary instructions regarding registration in 
the temporary shareholder’s register, the is-
suing of proxy documents and registration 
for the General Meeting from his/her custo-
dian bank. The account management orga-
nization of the custodian bank has to regis-
ter a holder of nominee registered shares, 
who wants to participate in the General 
Meeting, into the temporary shareholders’ 
register of the company at the latest by the 
time stated above.

Further information on the General Meeting 
and participation in the General Meeting is 
available on the company’s website 
 www.bittium.com.

Proxy Representative and  
Powers of Attorney

A shareholder may participate in the Gen-
eral Meeting and exercise his/her rights at 

the meeting by way of proxy representa-
tion. A proxy representative shall produce 
a dated proxy document or otherwise in a 
reliable manner demonstrate his/her right 
to represent the shareholder. If a sharehold-
er participates in the General Meeting by 
means of several proxy representatives rep-
resenting the shareholder with shares at 
different securities accounts, the shares 
by which each proxy representative rep-
resents the shareholder shall be identified 
in connection with the registration for the 
General Meeting.

Possible proxy documents should be de-
livered in originals to the address Bittium 
Corporation, General Meeting, Tutkijantie 8, 
90590 Oulu, Finland, before the end of the 
registration period.

Other Information

Pursuant to chapter 5, section 25 of the 
Companies Act, a shareholder who is pres-
ent at the General Meeting has the right to 
request information with respect to the 
matters to be considered at the meeting.
On the date of this notice to the General 
Meeting March 2, 2017, the total number of 
shares and votes in Bittium Corporation is 
35,693,166.

Documents of the  
General Meeting

The above-mentioned proposals for the de-
cisions on the matters on the agenda of the 
General Meeting as well as this notice are 
available on Bittium Corporation’s website 
at www.bittium.com. 

The annual report of Bittium Corporation, 
which includes the company’s annual ac-
counts, the report of the board of directors 
and the auditor’s report, as well as the com-
pany’s corporate governance statement, 
is available on said website no later than 
on Wednesday March 22, 2017. The pro-
posals for decisions and other documents 
mentioned above are also available at the 
General Meeting. Copies of these doc-
uments and of this notice will be sent to 
shareholders upon request. The minutes 
of the General Meeting will be available 
on the above-mentioned website as from 
Wednesday April 26, 2017, at the latest.
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Corporate Governance

The governance of Bittium Corporation 
(hereinafter ”Company”) is determined by 
the Company’s Articles of Association, the 
laws of Finland (such as the Finnish Com-
panies Act and Securities Market Act) and 
the Company’s Corporate Governance 
Code. The Company follows with some ex-
ceptions the Finnish Corporate Governance 
Code 2015 prepared by the Finnish Secu-
rities Market Association. The Governance 
Code may be viewed, inter alia, at the Finn-
ish Securities Market Association website 
at www.cgfinland.fi.

In the assembly meeting held on April 19, 
2016, the new Board of Directors elected 
on the same day considered the continu-
ation of the Audit and Financial Commit-
tee and concluded that the extent of the 
Company’s business still requires that a 
group with a more compact composition 

than the Board of Directors deals with the 
preparation of matters pertaining to finan-
cial reporting and control. The Governance 
Code recommends that a committee shall 
have at least three members. In the as-
sembly meeting held on April 19, 2016, the 
new Board of Directors resolved to re-elect 
Staffan Simberg (Chairman of the commit-
tee) and Kirsi Komi as members of the Audit 
and Financial Committee and to invite au-
thorized public accountant Seppo Laine ex-
ternal advisor of the Board of Directors. The 
composition of two members and an exter-
nal advisor was considered to be in com-
pliance with purpose of the recommenda-
tion as authorized public accountant Seppo 
Laine brings continuity and expertise need-
ed in the committee. Later in 2016, the Audit 
and Financial Committee was renamed as 
Audit Committee.

This Statement is made separately from 
the Report by the Board. The Board’s Audit 
Committee and the Company’s auditor have 
reviewed this Statement.

The statutory governing bodies of the Com-
pany are the Shareholders’ meeting, Board 
of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and the 
Auditor. The Management Group supports 
the statutory governing bodies of the Com-
pany. The Company´s domicile is Oulu.

This Statement may be viewed at the Com-
pany’s website at www.bittium.com.
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January 1–December 31, 2016 Board Audit Committee

Staffan Simberg 16/17 5/6
Erkki Veikkolainen 17/17
Kirsi Komi 16/17 6/6
Juha Putkiranta 16/17
Seppo Mäkinen 17/17

Seppo Laine (external advisor of the Board) 6/6
 

The Board of Directors

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
Company’s governance and proper organi-
zation of the operations. The Board of Direc-
tors comprises three to seven (3–7) mem-
bers and in addition it may have one to three 
(1–3) deputy members. The Annual Gener-
al Meeting shall elect the members of the 
Board of Directors for a term which expires 
at the end of the following Annual General 
Meeting. The number of terms for the mem-
bers of the Board of Directors is not limited. 
The Board of Directors selects a Chairman 
among its members.

The Board conducts an annual evalua-
tion of the independence of its members 
in accordance with recommendation 10. A 
member of the Board is required to submit 
to the Company the information necessary 
to conduct the evaluation of independence. 
A Board member is also required to notify 
the Company of any changes in information 
relating to independence.

The Annual General Meeting held on April 
19, 2016 decided that the Board of Directors 
shall comprise five (5) members. Ms. Kir-
si Komi, Mr. Seppo Mäkinen, Mr. Juha Put-
kiranta, Mr. Staffan Simberg and Mr. Erk-
ki Veikkolainen were elected members of 
the Board of Directors. The members of the 
Board of Directors were considered inde-

pendent members of the Board as regards 
both the Company and its significant share-
holders. In the assembly meeting held on 
April 19, 2016 the Board of Directors elect-
ed Erkki Veikkolainen as the Chairman of 
the Board. Further, the Board of Directors 
resolved to keep the Audit and Financial 
Committee, and elected Mr. Staffan Sim-
berg (Chairman of the committee) and Ms. 
Kirsi Komi as members of the Audit and Fi-
nancial Committee and authorized public 
accountant Seppo Laine was invited to the 
Audit and Financial Committee as external 
advisor of the Board of Directors. Later in 
2016, the Audit and Financial Committee 
was renamed as Audit Committee.

Description 
of Activities

The Board of Directors has defined a work-
ing order and evaluates its performance an-
nually. The Board of Directors shall imple-
ment the decisions of the General Meeting. 
The Board of Directors supervises the oper-
ations and management. The Board of Di-
rectors makes decisions on the Company’s 
guiding principles for operation, strategy 
and budget. The Board of Directors decides 
on mergers and acquisitions and other stra-
tegic alliances as well as significant invest-
ments and significant matters regarding 

organization and finance. The Board of Di-
rectors supervises that the group compa-
nies’ accounting and financial management 
is duly organized. The Board of Directors ap-
points the CEO and possible Deputy for him 
or her as well as approves the Company’s 
organization structure.

The CEO, CFO and Chief Legal Officer (who 
acts as secretary of the Board of Directors) 
attend the meetings of the Board of Direc-
tors. Other management attends the meet-
ings when necessary or upon invitation by 
the Board of Directors. The Chairman of the 
Board approves the agendas of the meet-
ings of the Board of Directors. The agendas 
are prepared by the CEO and the Chief Le-
gal Officer.

An annual clock, according to which the 
regular subjects to be handled are deter-
mined, is applied in the Board’s work. In 
addition to the regular subjects of the an-
nual clock, the most important subjects of 
the Board during the year were seeking for 
both organic and inorganic growth, focus-
ing R&D costs, and re-evaluation of busi-
ness portfolio.

The Annual General Meeting decides on the 
compensation of the members of the Board 
of Directors and the compensations can be 
publicly reviewed in the Company’s website 
at www.bittium.com.

In 2016, the Board convened 17 times. 
The Board members attended to the meetings as follows:
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Diversity Principles

In the Company, diversity is seen as an es-
sential part of corporate responsibility and 
as a factor in success, that enables achieve-
ment of strategic targets and continuous 
improvement of customer intimacy.

In planning the composition of the Board 
of Directors, the requirements of the Com-
pany’s business operations, the phase of 
development and the competence require-
ments of the Board committees are taken 
into account. In appointing members of the 
Board the target is to ensure that the Board 
as a whole supports the development of the 
Company’s current and future business op-
erations. Diversity plays a part in support-
ing this goal.

Diversity is considered from different per-
spectives. From the Company’s point of 

view it is important to have Board members 
with diverse backgrounds in terms of com-
petence, training, and experience of differ-
ing business operations, of varying stages 
of business development, and of leadership 
as well as diverse personal characteristics. 
Experience of international business envi-
ronments and different cultures in addition 
to consideration of age and gender will sup-
port the diversity of the Board. The objective 
is that both genders are represented in the 
Board and the Company aims to good and 
balanced distribution of genders. 

To fulfill the diversity principles, the princi-
ples are taken into account in the process 
to find and assess member candidates and 
representatives of both genders are looked 
for to the process. The status of diversity 
and progress of the goal mentioned above 
is monitored in the self-assessment discus-
sions of the Board.

A person elected as a Board member of the 
Company must have the competence re-
quired for the position and be able to devote 
a sufficient amount of time for the duties 
required. In forming the composition of the 
Board long-term needs and successor plan-
ning will be taken into account.

According to the Articles of Association, the 
Board of Directors comprises three to seven 
(3–7) members and in addition it may have 
one to three (1–3) deputy members. The 
composition of the Board and the number 
of members shall be such that they enable 
the Board to perform its duties efficiently. 
The members of the Board are appointed 
annually at the Company’s Annual Gener-
al Meeting.
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QR: Quarterly Report

DECEMBER (3 HOURS)
•	 CEO target setting for the next year
•	 Next year plan and budget approval
NOVEMBER (2 HOURS)
•	 Budget snapshot for comments
OCTOBER (1 DAY)
•	 Q3 Interim Report approval
•	 Management successor plans review
•	 Compensation policy and structure review
•	 Budget target setting

SEPTEMBER (2 HOURS)
•	 Business review
AUGUST II MEETING (1 DAY)
•	 Portfolio review
•	 New business opportunities
•	 Investor relations strategy review
•	 Next year annual calendar & clock approval
•	 Bittium values review
AUGUST I MEETING (2 HOURS)
•	 Q2 Interim Report approval

JANUARY (1 DAY)
• 	Meeting with auditors
• 	Q4 and Financial Statement review
• 	CEO’s performance review from the past year
• 	Strategy health check, vision, strategy and LRP guidance
•	 Portfolio review
• 	Corporate Governance Statement review
• 	Risk management policy review
• 	Board self-assessment reporting and action plan
•	 Proposals to General Meeting
		  FEBRUARY (2 HOURS)
		  •	 Q4 and financial statement approval
	             	 •	 Salary increase budget for information
				    MARCH I (1 DAY)
				    •	 Customer satisfaction survey
                                         		  results and actions brief
				    •	 Personnel survey results and actions brief
				    MARCH II (2 HOURS)
				    •	 Board of Directors’ assembly meeting

			    	 APRIL (1 DAY)
	  			   •	 Q1 Interim Report approval
				    •	 Business & group level support
                      		 function strategies and LRP approval
		  MAY (2 HOURS)
		  •	 Business review
JUNE (2 HOURS)
•  Business review

Annual Clock FY2016
Board of Directors’ Schedule
and Agenda Items
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Erkki Veikkolainen
b. 1952, M.Sc. (EE), eMBA
Full-time occupation: Mevita Invest Oy, CEO

Positions of trust:
•	Bittium Corporation (prev. Elektrobit 

Corporation), Member of the Board 
2008–2015, Chairman of the Board 2015–.

•	Elcoflex (Suzhou) Co. Ltd, Member of the  
Board 2007–.

•	Elcoflex Oy, Member of the Board 2015–, 
Chairman of the Board 2006–2015.

•	Maustaja Oy, Member of the Board 2006–.
•	Aplicom Oy, Member of the Board 2005–.
•	Mecanova Oy, Member of the Board 2005–.

Previous work history:
• Bittium Technologies Ltd. 
(prev. Elektrobit Technologies Ltd.), 
Member of the Board 2011–2015.
• Elektrobit Corporation, Executive Vice 
President, Contract R&D and Test 
Business Units 2002–2003.
• Elektrobit Technologies Ltd., 
Managing Director 2001–2003.
• Elektrobit Ltd., Vice President, 
Business Development 1998–2001.
• Nokia Mobile Phones, various positions 
1985–1998, latest Vice President.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 1,502,400 shares in Bittium Corporation.

Independent as regards both the Company 
and its significant shareholders.

Kirsi Komi
b. 1963, LL.M. Master of Laws
Full-time occupation: Professional Board 
Member

Positions of trust:
•		Bittium Oyj, Member of the Board, Member of 

the Audit and Financial Committee 2015–.
•	Citycon Oyj, Member of the Board, Member of 

the Audit & Governance Committee and the 
Nomination & Remuneration 
Committee 2011–.

•	Directors’ Institute of Finland, Member of 
the Board 2015–.

•	Docrates Oy, Chairman of the Board, 2011–.
•	Finnvera Oyj, Member of the Board, Chairman 

of the Audit Committee 2013–.
•	Martela Oyj, Member of the Board, Member  

of the Remuneration Committee 2013–.
•	Metsä Board Oyj, Member of the Board,  

Member of the Audit Committee 2010–.
•	Finnish Red Cross, Blood Service, 

Chairman of the Board 2011–, 
Member of the Board 2010–2011.

Previous work history:
•		Veikkaus Oy, Chairman of the Board 2016.
•	Patria Oyj, Vice Chairman of the Board, 

Chairman of the Audit Committee 2011–2016.
•	Nokia Siemens Networks, General Counsel, 

Member of the Executive Board 2007–2010.
•	Nokia Corporation, Networks Business 

Group, Vice President (legal), Member of NET 
Leadership Team and other NET/nokia senior 
management forums 1997–2007.

•	Nokia Corporation, Networks Business Group, 
Senior Legal Counsel & Head of European 
Practise Group 1998.

•	Nokia Corporation, Networks Business Group, 
Vice President, Contracts 1995–1996.

•	Nokia Corporation, Networks Business Group, 
Legal Counsel 1992–1995, 1997.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 2,118 shares in Bittium Corporation.
Independent as regards both the Company 
and its significant shareholders. 

Seppo Mäkinen
b. 1952, M.Sc. Physical Chemistry
Full-time occupation: Professional Board Member 

Positions of trust:
•		Bittium Corporation, Member of the Board 2015–
•	Evondos Oy, Member of the Board 2016–.
•	CBRA Genomics S.A., Member of the Board 

2016–.
•	Neurotar Oy, Member of the Board 2015–.
•	MedGroup Oy, Member of the Board 2013–.
•	Valirx Plc, Member of the Board 2013–.
•	Ginolis Oy, Member of the Board 2011–,  

Chairman of the Board 2011–2014.

Previous work history:
•		Taikon Advisor, Managing Partner 2010–2016.
•	Merieux Développement, Regional Partner, 

Nordics 2010–2016.
•	Ventac Partners, Partner 2012–2016.
•	Magnasense Technologies Oy, 

Member of the Board 2011–2015.
•	Arcdia International Oy, Member of 

the Board 2011–2014.
•	Balonco, Senior Advisor, owner 2012–2013.
•	Mediracer Ltd., Chairman of the Board 

2010–2013.
•	RSP Systems, Member of the Board 2010–2011.
•	Bio Fund Management Oy, Founding/ Managing 

Partner 1997–2010.
•	Sitra, Director in Life Science 1987–1997.
•	Millipore/ Waters, Sales & Marketing 1983–1987.
•	State Institute of Agricultural Chemistry, 

Chemist 1980–1983.
•	Served as a Chairman or Member of the Board 

in Egalet A/S, SpinX Inc., Chempaq, Profos AG, 
Ilochip A/S, Exiqon A/S, KSH-Productor Oy, 
Merlin Diagnostika GmbH, Primex ASA, Rumen 
Oy, Millimed Inc., BioPorto A/S, Wallac, Kone 
Instruments, Rados Technologies, MAP Medical 
Technologies, Pharming NV, Bio-Orbit, Lab- 
master Oy, Viable Bioproducts and Fluilogic Oy.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 1,371 shares in Bittium Corporation.
Independent as regards both the Company 
and its significant shareholders. 

Bittium Corporation
The Board of Directors
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Staffan Simberg
b. 1949, MBA
Full-time occupation: Professional Board 
Member, Management Consultant

Positions of trust:
•	Bittium Corporation (prev. Elektrobit Corpora-

tion), Member of the Board 2008– and Chair-
man of the Audit and Financial Committee 
2010–.

•	Oriola-KD Corporation, Member of the Board 
and Audit Committee 2015–.

•	Endomines AB (publ), Member of the Board 
and Audit Committee 2011–, Chairman of 
the Board 2012–.

•	Simberg & Partners Oy, Chairman of the 
Board 1994–.

•	NEZ-Invest AB, Chairman of the Board 1994–.

Previous work history:
•	Bittium Technologies Ltd. (prev. Elektrobit 

Technologies Ltd.), Member of the Board 
2011–2015.

•	Nordic Vehicle Conversion AB, Member of 
the Board 2011–2015.

•	Silva Group AB, Member of the Board 
2011–2015.

•	Valmet Automotive Group, Advisor of 
the Board of Directors 2014.

•	Metso Group, Industrial Advisor 2011.
•	Cargotec Oyj, Industrial Advisor 2009, 2012.
•	Metso Panelboard, Chairman 2008–2009.
•	Landis & Gyr AG, Member of the Advisory 

Board 2007–2013.
•	Enermet Group, Managing Director 

2005–2007.
•	Siar-Bossard, Associated Partner 1992–1994.
•	Leading positions at Nokia 1978–1991.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016:
Holds 1,371 shares in Bittium Corporation, 
Corporation controlled by Simberg holds 
50,000 shares in Bittium Corporation. 
Independent as regards both the Company 
and its significant shareholders. 

Juha Putkiranta
b. 1957, M.Sc. Engineering
Full-time occupation: Saafricon Oy, CEO

Positions of trust:
•	Bittium Corporation, Member of 

the Board 2015–.
•	Variantum Oy, Chairman of the Board 2016–.
•	Nordcloud Oy, Member of the Board 2015–.
•	Aspocomp Oyj, Member of the Board 2016–.

Previous work history:
•	Saafricon Oy, CEO and owner 2015–.
•	Microsoft Corporation, Corporate Vice 

President, Company Integration, 2014.
•	Nokia Oyj, Executive Vice President, 

Operations 2013–2014.
•	Nokia Oyj, Senior Vice President, 

Head of Nokia Supply Chain 2008–2012.
•	Nokia Oyj, Senior Vice President, Head of 

Multimedia Product marketing and R&D 
2006–2007.

•	Nokia Oyj, Senior Vice President, Head of 
Imaging Business Unit 2003–2005.

•	Nokia Oyj, Senior Vice President, Head of 
Cellular Telephones Unit 2000–2003.

•	Symbian Ltd, Member of the Board 1998–
2001.

•	Nokia Oyj, Vice President, Corporate Planning 
and Business Development 1997–2000.

•	Hewlett-Packard Corporation, Director of 
Marketing Europe and Africa, electronic 
measurement solutions 1992–1997.

•	Siar Oy, consultant 1986–1987.
•	Nokia Oyj, various project, sales and 

marketing management positions, 
information solutions unit 1979–1986.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 11,371 shares in Bittium Corporation.
Independent as regards both the Company 
and its significant shareholders. 

From left to right:
Staffan Simberg, 
Juha Putkiranta, 

Kirsi Komi,
Seppo Mäkinen and

Erkki Veikkolainen.
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The Board 
Committees
The proper function of the corporate gov-
ernance of a company requires that Board 
work is organized as efficiently as possible. 
For this reason, the Company established 
an Audit and Financial Committee that was 
renamed as Audit Committee later in 2016. 

The Directors on the committee can con-
centrate on the matters delegated to the 
committee more extensively than the entire 
Board of Directors. The purpose of the com-
mittee is to enhance the efficient prepara-
tion of matters within the competence of 
the Board, increase transparency and en-
sure the quality and efficiency of the deci-
sion making of the Board. 

The committee assists the Board by pre-
paring matters falling within the compe-
tence of the Board. The Board remains re-
sponsible for the duties assigned to the 
committee. The committee has no auton-
omous decisionmaking power, and thus the 
Board makes the decisions within its com-
petence collectively. 

A committee shall regularly report on its 
work to the Board. The reports shall include 
at least a summary of the matters, address-
es and measures taken by the committee. 

The central duties and operating principles 
of the Audit Committee are described be-
low. The Annual General Meeting decides 
on the compensation of the members of 
the Board committee and such compensa-
tions can be publicly viewed at the Compa-
ny’s website at www.bittium.com.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has the following  
duties:
•	to monitor the reporting process of finan-

cial statements;
•	to supervise the financial reporting pro-

cess;
•	to monitor the efficiency of the Compa-

ny’s internal control, internal audit, if ap-
plicable, and risk management systems;

•	to review the description of the main fea-
tures of the internal control and risk man-
agement systems pertaining to the finan-
cial reporting process, which is included 
in the Company’s corporate governance 
statement;

•	to monitor the statutory audit of the finan-
cial statements and consolidated finan-
cial statements;

•	to evaluate the independence of the stat-
utory auditor or audit firm and particular-
ly the provision of related services; and

•	to prepare the proposal for resolution on 
the election of the auditor.

The Chairman and the members of the Au-
dit Committee are appointed by the Board 
of Directors of the Company. At least one 
committee member must be a financial 
expert who has significant knowledge and 
experience in accounting and account-
ing principles applicable to the Company. 
The Board of Directors elected in the An-
nual General Meeting held on April 19, 2016 
decided in its assembly meeting held on 
the same day to elect Mr. Staffan Simberg 
(Chairman of the Committee) and Ms. Kirsi 
Komi as members of the Audit Committee. 
All members of the committee are indepen-
dent from immediate interest of both the 
Company and its significant shareholders 
and they have long term experience in busi-
ness management. The Board of Directors 
decided further in its same meeting to in-
vite authorized public accountant Seppo 
Laine as external advisor of the Board of 
Directors.

In addition to committee members, oth-
er regular participants to the committee 
meetings are CEO and CFO of the Compa-
ny and optionally external auditors. Further, 
the committee members may meet the ex-
ternal auditors without the operative man-
agement being present in such meetings. In 
2016, the Audit Committee convened six (6) 
times to ordinary meetings. The Committee 
has evaluated, prepared and reviewed, inter 
alia, the following subject matters during 
the financial period of January 1, 2016–De-
cember 31, 2016:
•	Financial Statements of 2015;
•	Interim Reports of 2016;
•	Annual audit plan for 2016;
•	Observations based on auditing during 

he financial period;
•	Observation by the internal control;
•	Cash flow monitoring and evaluation of 

sufficiency of financing;
•	Budget target setting and budgeting 

process;
•	Dividend payment;
•	M&A related issues and their effects on 

the result, balance sheet and financing 	
status of the Group;

•	Group legal structure related questions; 
and

•	Impairment testing of the subsidiary 
shares and goodwill.

During 2017 the Committee’s focus  
areas are:
•	Follow up of introducing IFRS 15;
•	Auditing the sales offer and agreement 

processes;
•	Practices related to the handling of 

the Company’s purchase invoices and 
to the formation of payment materials,

•	Control of foreign affiliates; and 
•	Follow up of capitalized R&D costs.
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Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO)
The CEO is in charge of the operative man-
agement of the Company in accordance 
with the Finnish Companies Act, the Arti-
cles of Association as well as the instruc-
tions and orders given by the Board of Di-
rectors. The CEO is responsible for the 
preparation of the Board meetings and 
implementation of any decisions made 
therein. Further, the CEO is responsible for 
ensuring that the Company’s accounting 
methods comply with the applicable law 
and that the financial matters are being 
handled in a reliable manner. The CEO pre-
pares strategy, long-term planning, invest-
ments, mergers and acquisitions, financing 

Hannu Huttunen
Chief Executive Officer, 2015–
b. 1966, M.Sc. (Econ.)

Previous work history:
•	Elektrobit Technologies Ltd., President, Wireless Business Segment 

2010–2015.
•	Tekniseri Oy, Member of the Board 2012–2016.
•	EXFO Inc., Vice President, Wireless Division (previously NetHawk Oyj) 2010.
•	NetHawk Oyj, CEO 2003–2010, Executive Vice President 2002–2003.
•	Nokia Mobile Phones Oy, Vice President, IP Convergence 2002, 

Vice President Special Products Business 1998–2002, 
NMT450 Business unit leader 1995–1998.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 10,000 shares in Bittium Corporation.

and makes decisions thereof to the extent 
that such decisions are not tasks of the 
Board of the Directors. The CEO is respon-
sible for financial planning, the Company’s 
communications and investor relations.

The Board of Directors defines and ap-
proves the essential terms of the service 
of the CEO, including the CEO’s remuner-
ation, in the form of a written agreement. 
The CEO’s service contract is effective un-
til further notice and can be terminated by 
the Company with twelve (12) and the CEO 
with six (6) months’ written notice. 

The CEO is entitled to a work pension under 
the Contracts of Employment Act and oth-
er legislation pertaining to pensions and he 

does not have supplementary pension. The 
Finnish employee pension system (TyEL) 
entitles to work pension that is based on 
such income during the career that enti-
tles to work pension. During 2016, the old 
age pension can be taken out at one’s own 
discretion between the ages of 63–68 (flex-
ible retirement age).

Management Group
The management group supports the CEO 
in his tasks and consists of the CEO as the 
chairman, CFO, Chief Legal Officer, Director 
Corporate Communications and Market-
ing, Directors responsible for product and 
service areas and Vice President respon-
sible for Engineering. The management 
group supports the CEO in operative man-
agement, implementation and follow-up of 
the CEO’s competence area, in particular as 
regards the operative business, the man-
agement and development of the business 
portfolio, asset management and taxation, 
internal audit, Corporate Governance of the 
Company, investor and marketing commu-
nications and risk management.

The Company told about its updated strat-
egy in the end of November 2016. Until De-
cember 1, 2016, the Company’s manage-
ment group included also Senior Vice 
President, Sales; Vice President, Defense; 
Vice President, Business Development; 
and Senior Vice President, Operations. The 
tasks belonging to Senior Vice President, 
Sales and to Vice President, Business De-
velopment belonged from December 1, 2016 
to the tasks of Vice Presidents responsible 
for product and service areas, the tasks of 
Vice President, Defense to the tasks of Se-
nior Vice President responsible for Defense 
& Security product and service area, and 
the Operations tasks to the tasks of Vice 
President, Engineering. 
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Kari Jokela
Chief Legal Officer, 2014–
b. 1969, LL.M., trained on the bench, Mag.Iur. 
(Saarbrücken)

Previous work history:
•		Elektrobit Technologies Ltd., 

Senior Legal Counsel, 2012–2014.
•		Elektrobit Corporation, 

Senior Legal Counsel, 2010–2012.
•		Elektrobit Automotive GmbH, 

Senior Legal Counsel, 2008–2010.
•		Elektrobit Corporation, 

Senior Legal Counsel, 2008.
•		Polar Electro Ltd., Group Legal Counsel, 

2000–2007.
•		Asianajotoimisto Gilbert, Segall and 

Young Oy, Attorneys at Law Helsinki, 
Attorney, 1998–2000.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 1,100 shares in Bittium Corporation.

Jari-Pekka Innanen
Vice President, Engineering, 2015– 
b. 1968, M.Sc. (ME)

Previous work history:
•	Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 

Vice President, Engineering, Wireless 
Business Segment, 2011–2015.

•		Elektrobit, Senior Manager, WS Global 
Resourcing, 2007–2010.

•		Elektrobit, Manager, Head of Global HW, 
2006–2007.

•		Elektrobit, Manager, Mobile Terminal 
Solutions, Head of HW Competence 
areas, 2006.

•		Elektrobit, Manager, Mechanical 
Competence Center, 2003–2005.

•		Elektrobit, Project Manager, BTS project, 
1999–2003.

•		Elektrobit, Mechanical Designer, 1998–1999.
•		Outokumpu Stainless Steel, Supervisor 

Cold Rolling Mills, 1994–1997.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 7,000 shares in Bittium Corporation.

Karoliina Fyrstén
Director, Corporate Communications 
and Marketing, 2015–
b. 1977, M.A. International Business  
Communications

Previous work history:	
•	Elektrobit Automotive GmbH, Corporate 

Communications Manager, 2013–2015.
•	Elektrobit Corporation, Corporate 

Communications Manager, 2009–2013.
•		Elektrobit Corporation, Internal 

Communications, 2006–2008.
•		Elektrobit Group Plc, Communications, 

2002–2006.
•		JOT Automation Group Plc, Investor 

Relations and Communications, 2001–2002.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 1,600 shares in Bittium Corporation.
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Arto Pietilä
Senior Vice President, Medical Technologies, 
2016– 
b. 1958, M.Sc. (Applied Electronics)

Previous work history:
•	Bittium Wireless Oy, Senior Vice President, 

Operations, 2015–2016.
•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd.,  

Senior Vice President, Operations, Wireless 
Business Segment, 2010–2015.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd.,  
Senior Vice President, Wireless Solutions  
Business Unit, 2008–2010.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
Executive Vice President, Mobile Terminal  
Solutions Business Unit, 2006–2008.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
Executive Vice President, Contract R&D  
Business Unit, 2004–2006.

•		Elektrobit Technologies Ltd., Managing  
Director, 2004–2006.

•		Elektrobit Ltd., Managing Director, 
2002–2004. 

•		Elektrobit Ltd., Vice President, Contract R&D, 
2001–2002.  

•		Polar Electro Oy, President & CEO, 
1999–2001.

•		Polar Electro Oy, Executive Vice President, 
1996–1999.

•		Polar Electro Oy, Technical Director,  
1992–1996.

•		Polar Electro Oy, Product Development  
Manager, 1986–1992.

•		Polar Electro Ky/Oy, SW/HW Design Engineer, 
1980–1986.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 80,000 shares in Bittium Corporation.

Pekka Kunnari
Chief Financial Officer, 2015–
b. 1967, M.Sc. (Econ.), LL.M.

Previous work history:
•	Elektrobit Technologies Ltd., 

Vice President, Finance 2011–2015.
•	Elektrobit Corporation, Director, 

Finance 2005–2011.
•		Elektrobit Inc, Group Controller 2004–2005.
•		Elektrobit Group Corporation, 

Group Controller 2003–2004.
•		Elektrobit Ltd., Business Controller  

2001–2003.
•		RPC Rapid Prototyping Center Oy, 

Finance Manager 2000–2001.
•		Tilintarkastajien Ltd. - Ernst & Young, 

Auditor 1998–2000.
•		Tuottotieto Ltd., Business Consultant  

1994–1998.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 3,000 shares in Bittium Corporation.

Klaus Mäntysaari
Senior Vice President, Connectivity 
Solutions, 2016–, Head of Technology 
Development 2016– 
b. 1966, M.Sc. 

Positions of trust: 
•	Health Innovation Academy Oy, Deputy 

Member of the Board, 2014–.

Previous work history:
•	Bittium Wireless Oy, Vice President, Telecom, 

2015–2016.
•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 

Vice President, Telecom, Wireless Business 
Segment, 2014–2015.

•		Elektrobit, Vice President, Service Business 
Area, Wireless Segment, 2011–2014.

•		Elektrobit, Director, Sales & Marketing 
Development, Wireless Solutions Business 
Unit, 2008–2011.

•		Elektrobit, Director, Sales & Account 
Management & Marketing, Mobile Terminal 
Solutions Business Unit, 2008.

•		Elektrobit, Director, Sales & Account 
Management, Mobile Terminal Solutions 
Business Unit, 2007–2008.

•		Elektrobit, Head of Customer Operations, 
Contract R&D Business Unit, 2006–2007.

•		Elektrobit, Director, Global Nokia Key Account 
Management, Contract R&D Business Unit, 
2005–2006.

•		Elektrobit, Key Account Manager, Nokia 
Terminals, Contract R&D Business Unit, 
2004–2005.

•		Nokia, Senior Manager, Vodafone Account, 
Nokia Multimedia, IP Convergence Business 
Program, 2004.

•		Nokia, Senior Marketing Manager, Nokia 
Multimedia, IP Convergence Business 
Program, 2002–2004.

•		Nokia, General Manager, Nokia Mobile 
Phones, Special Products, 2000–2002.

•		Nokia, Marketing Manager, Nokia Mobile 
Phones, Special Products, 1998–2000.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 2,000 shares in Bittium Corporation.
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Sami Kotkajuuri
Vice President, Business Development, 
2016–2017, Member of the Management 
Group until December 1, 2016. 
b. 1967, M.Sc. (Computer Technologies)

Previous work history:
•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 

Vice President, Connectivity Solutions, 
Wireless Business Segment, 2014–2016.

•	Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
Director, Product Management and R&D, 
Services and Special Terminals Product, 
2013–2014.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
R&D Director, Service Business Area, 
2010–2013.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
Director, Terminal Service Business Line, 
2006–2009.

•		Nokia Mobile Phones, Director, Operational 
Development, 2005–2006.

•		Nokia Mobile Phones, Director, Program 
Portfolio Management, 2001–2005.

•		Nokia Mobile Phones, Head of Mobile 
Messaging Technology, 2000.

•		Nokia Telecommunications, Head of Product 
Management, Mobile Switching, 1998–1999.

•		Nokia Telecommunications, Head of 
Operation & Maintenance R&D, 1997–1998.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: –

Harri Romppainen
Vice President, Defense, 2015–, Member of the 
Management Group until December 1, 2016.
b. 1972, M.Sc. (Eng.), eMBA

Positions of trust:
•	Association of Finnish Defence and 

Aerospace Industries (AFDA), Member of 
the Board, 2016–.

Previous work history:
•	Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 

Vice President, Defense, Wireless Business 
Segment, 2014–2015.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
Senior Product Manager, 2011–2014.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
Sales Manager, 2009–2010.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd., 
Product Manager, 2007–2008.

•		Elektrobit, Site Manager, 2005–2007.
•		Elektrobit, Project Manager, 2002–2005.
•		Elektrobit, R&D Engineering, 1998–2001.
•		Valmet Automation, Research Engineer, 

1997–1998.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 4,000 shares in Bittium Corporation.

Jari Sankala
Senior Vice President, 
Defense & Security, 2016– 
b. 1966, M.Sc. (Electrical Engineering, 
Digital Communications)

Previous work history:
•		Bittium Corporation, Senior Vice President, 

Sales, 2015–2016.
•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd,   

Senior Vice President, Sales & Marketing,   
Wireless Business Segment, 2014–2015.

•		Elektrobit Wireless Communications Ltd, 
Executive Vice President, Defence and        
Security, 2011–2014.

•		NetHawk Group, Executive Vice President of 
Sales & Marketing, 2005–2011.

•		NetHawk Germany, Managing Director, 
2001–2005.

•		Siemens AG, Sales Director Northern Europe, 
Mobile Networks, Germany, 1996–2001.

Holdings Dec. 31, 2016: 
Holds 27,500 shares in Bittium Corporation.
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Election and 
Remuneration  
of the Auditor
The Company shall have one (1) auditor that 
has qualified as Certified Public Accountant 
and if the auditor is not an auditing compa-
ny as defined by the law, one (1) deputy au-
ditor shall be elected. The term of office of 
the auditor expires at the end of the follow-
ing Annual General Meeting.

The General Meeting 2016 re-elected Ernst 
& Young Oy, authorized public accountant 
firm, auditor of the company. Ernst & Young 
Oy has notified that Mr. Juhani Rönkkö, CPA, 
will act as the responsible auditor. The re-
muneration to the auditor shall be paid 
against the auditor’s reasonable invoice. 

The auditor’s fees in 2016 amounted to EUR 
206,000 (EUR 438,000 in 2015. Of these, 
EUR 83,000 was attributable to continu-
ing operations and 355,000 to discontinu-
ing operations). Of the aggregate fees, EUR 
55,000 was attributable to auditing (EUR 
96,000 in 2015), EUR 40,000 to tax advice 
(EUR 73,000 in 2015) and EUR 110,000 to 
other services (EUR 268,000 in 2015).

Main Features of 
Internal Control and 
Risk Management 
Processes Related to 
Financial Reporting 
Processes

Risk Management

The purpose of risk management is to se-
cure positive development of earnings of 
the Company and the continuation of the 
business by implementing risk manage-
ment cost-effectively and systematically 
throughout the different businesses.

Risk management is part of the Compa-
ny’s strategic and operative planning, daily 
decision making process and internal con-

trol system. Business objectives, risks and 
risk management operations are combined 
through risk management as one chain of 
events.

Main Principles of  
Organizing Risk  
Management

Company adheres to the risk management 
policy approved by the Board.

Risk management contains all actions, 
which are connected to setting up targets, 
identification of risks, measurement, review, 
handling, reporting, follow-up, monitoring 
and reacting to risks.

The aim of risk management of the  
Company is to:
•	systematically and thoroughly identify 

and assess all major risks, which threat-
en the achievement of objectives, includ-
ing risks related to business operations, 
property, agreements, competence, cur-
rencies, financing and strategy;

•	optimize business opportunities and se-
cure continuation of business;

•	recognize and identify uncertainties and 
subsequently develop the prediction of 
risks and measures needed to manage 
risks;

•	take only calculated and assessed risks 
with respect to e.g. expanding the busi-
ness, increasing market share and creat-
ing new businesses;

•	avoid or minimize liability risks;
•	ensure the safety of products, solutions 

and services;
•	establish a safe working environment for 

the employees;
•	minimize possibilities for unhealthy occur-

rences, crimes or misconduct by operat-
ing procedures, control and supervision;

•	inform interest groups of risks and risk 
management; and

•	be cost-effective in risk management.

The aim of risk management is not to:
•	exclude all risks at their entirety;
•	adopt unnecessary control and manage-

ment procedures; or
•	take bureaucratic processes and proce-

dures into use.

Main Principles of 
the Risk Management Process

In connection with the strategy process and 
annual planning the CEO reviews business 
risks which could endanger the achieve-
ment of strategic or profit targets. Risk as-
sessment reports are produced to support 
the strategy process. Strategic and opera-
tive risks are monitored through monthly 
reporting by businesses in the Board of the 
Company. Businesses must produce as-
sessments of risks in their designated ar-
eas of responsibilities and provide action 
plans to manage risks as well as to report 
on measures taken including the stage and 
effectiveness of such measures.

General Description of  
Internal Control and  
Operational Procedures

Internal control is a process applied by the 
Board of Directors, management and all 
levels of personnel in the Company to en-
sure that management has reasonable as-
surance that:

1.	 operations are effective, efficient 
	 and aligned with strategy;
2.	financial reporting and management 
	 information is reliable, complete 
	 and timely made; and
3.	the Company is in compliance with 
	 applicable laws and regulations, as well 
	 as the Company’s internal policies and
	  ethical values including sustainability.

The first category addresses the basic busi-
ness objectives, including performance and 
profitability goals, strategy, implementation 
of objectives and actions and safeguarding 
resources. The second category relates to 
the preparation of reliable published finan-
cial statements, including interim reports 
(from Jan. 1, 2017 onwards half year finan-
cial reports) and condensed financial state-
ments and selected financial data derived 
from such statements, such as earnings 
releases, reported publicly. The third deals 
with complying with those laws and regu-
lations to which the Company is subject to.
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Internal Control Framework 
of the Company

Bittium’s internal control framework con-
sists of:
•	the internal control, risk management and 

corporate governance policies and prin-
ciples set by the Company’s Board of Di-
rectors;

•	management overseeing the implemen-
tation and application of the policies and 
principles;

•	finance function and business controllers 
monitoring the efficiency and effective-
ness of the operations and reliability of 
the financial and management reporting;

•	enterprise risk management process 
identifying, assessing and mitigating risks 
threatening the realization of the Compa-
ny’s objectives;

•	compliance procedures making sure that 
all applicable laws, regulations, internal 
policies and ethical values (including sus-
tainability) are adhered to;

•	effective control environment at all orga-
nizational levels including control activ-
ities tailored for defined processes and 
creating group minimum requirements 
for product and service areas as well as 
for geographical areas;

•	shared ethical values and strong internal 
control culture among all employees; and

•	internal audit assignments reviewing the 
effectiveness of the internal controls as 
needed.

Risks and Controls in 
Core Business Processes

Risk management procedures are in place 
for business processes in the form of de-
fined control points:
•	relevant process risks are identified;
•	common control points/Company’s mini-

mum requirement control points are iden-
tified;

•	common control points are implemented 
in business processes; and

•	additional control points can be deter-
mined as needed at business or func-
tional levels.
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Control activities are the policies and pro-
cedures that help ensure that management 
directives are carried out. They help ensure 
that necessary actions are taken to address 
risks to achievement of the Company’s ob-
jectives. Control activities are set through-
out the organization, at all levels and in all 
functions. They include various range of ac-
tivities including but not limited to approv-
als, authorizations, verifications, reviews of 
operating performance, security of assets 
and segregation of duties.

Internal Controls over
Financial Reporting

The Company’s external financial reporting 
process, internal control and risk manage-
ment systems are briefly described in this 
section. The main focus is on financial ac-
counting and related controls.

Financial reporting organization
The financial management of the Company 
is responsible for organizing the accounting, 
money transactions and other daily finan-
cial operations of the companies belonging 
to it as well as organizing the internal report-
ing that supports the business.

The tasks of the Company’s financial ad-
ministration consist of, inter alia, monthly 
consolidation of the Group entity, prepara-
tion of interim reports (Jan. 1, 2017 onwards 
half-year financial reports) and consolidat-
ed financial statements, management 
and investment of monetary assets of the 
Group, management of liabilities, protection 
against exchange risk, and transfer pricing. 
The finance function of the Company im-
plements operative supervision under the 
CFO who reports any supervisory findings 
to the Audit Committee. The tasks and re-
sponsibilities of the accounting function of 
the parent company and each subsidiary 
are included in the job descriptions of the 
teams and employees.

Financial reporting systems
Consolidated financial statements are pre-
pared by using the chosen consolidation 
tool. The accounting of the Group’s subsid-
iaries is done by using the local accounting 

systems from which the actual figures are 
reported either manually or by automatic 
transfer to the group consolidation system.
The accounting system in use includes gen-
eral ledger accounting, accounts payables 
and accounts receivables. Current assets 
and payroll accounting is organized through 
various programs or purchased as an out-
sourced service. Purchase invoices are cir-
culated through electronic invoice process-
ing system. 

Global forecasts and budgets are prepared 
by using the forecast and reporting pro-
gram.

Internal controls
The Company’s internal control mecha-
nisms are based on policies, instructions, 
limited process descriptions, authorization 
matrix, financial reporting review meetings, 
and segregation of key accounting duties.

Compliance procedures
Compliance procedures are in place at all 
levels of the organization to ensure that that 
all applicable laws, regulations, internal pol-
icies and ethical values including sustain-
ability are adhered to. The management and 
businesses are responsible for following up 
developments in legislation and regulations 
in their respective areas and communicat-
ing them to the organization. The members 
of the Management Group are responsible 
for setting up adequate compliance con-
trols and compliance related training in their 
units.

Roles and Responsibilities  
Regarding Risk Management 
and Internal Control

The key roles and responsibilities regard-
ing the Company’s internal control and risk 
management are defined as follows:

Board of Directors
The Board of Directors is ultimately respon-
sible for the administration and the proper 
organization of the operations of the com-
pany. According to good corporate gov-
ernance, the Board also ensures that the 
company has duly endorsed the corporate 

values applied to its operations. The Board 
approves the internal control, risk manage-
ment and corporate governance policies. 
The Board establishes the risk-taking level 
and risk bearing capacity of the Company 
and re-evaluates them on a regular basis as 
part of the strategy and goal setting of the 
Company. The Board reports to the share-
holders of the Company.

Audit Committee
Audit Committee is responsible for the fol-
lowing internal control related duties:
•	to monitor the reporting process of finan-

cial statements;
•	to supervise the financial reporting pro-

cess;
•	to monitor the efficiency of the company’s 

internal control, internal audit, if applica-
ble, and risk management systems;

•	to review the description of the main fea-
tures of the internal control and risk man-
agement systems pertaining to the finan-
cial reporting process, which is included 
in the company’s corporate governance 
statement; and

•	to monitor the statutory audit of the finan-
cial statements and consolidated finan-
cial statements.

More detailed descriptions how Audit Com-
mittee is fulfilling its monitoring role are de-
fined in Committee’s annual plan. The Audit 
Committee reports to the Board of Directors 
of the Company.
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Chief Executive Officer
CEO is in charge of the day-to-day man-
agement of the Company in accordance 
with the instructions and orders given by 
the Board. CEO sets the ground of the in-
ternal control environment by providing 
leadership and direction to senior man-
agers and reviewing the way they are con-
trolling the business. CEO is in charge of 
the risk management process of the Com-
pany and its continuous development, al-
location of resources to the work, review 
of risk management policies as well as de-
fining the principles of operation and over-
all process. CEO reports to the Board on 
risk management as part of the monthly 
reporting. The CEO and the Management 
Group, which operates under CEO, are re-
sponsible for the management of risks en-
dangering the fulfillment of objectives set 
to the Company.

Management Group
The members of the Management Group 
are responsible for internal control imple-
mentation in their responsibility areas. 
More specific internal control policies 
and procedures are established within 
the principles set by the Board and CEO. 
Additionally, the management of the sub-
group and the Group Management are re-
sponsible for implementing risk manage-
ment practices in planning cycle and daily 
operations, and ensure the adherence of 
•	laws;
•	regulations;
•	internal policies; and
•	ethical values
in their designated responsibility areas.

The CFO:
•	ensures a setup of adequate control ac-

tivities for product and service areas in 
cooperation with the business manage-
ment;

•	follows the adequacy and effectiveness 
of control activities; and

•	ensures that external reporting is cor-
rect, timely and in compliance with reg-
ulations.

Finance function does not have a sepa-
rate internal control function. CFO reports 
any supervisory findings to the Audit Com-
mittee.

Chief Legal Officer ensures that the Group’s 
corporate governance practices comply 
with the law and that legal matters of the 
Group are handled appropriately, in partic-
ular the contractual risks relating to busi-
ness operations.

Internal Audit
The Company has no specific internal au-
dit organization. This is taken into account 
in the content and scope of the annual au-
dit plan. On the one hand, external auditing 
focuses on specific areas in turn to be au-
dited, and on the other hand, on separately 
agreed priority areas.

Insider Guidelines
The Company adheres to the Insider Guide-
lines for Listed Companies prepared by Nas-
daq Helsinki Ltd (previously NASDAQ OMX 
Helsinki Ltd, OMX Nordic Exchange Helsinki 
Ltd and Helsinki Stock Exchange), the Cen-
tral Chamber of Commerce and the Confed-
eration of Finnish Industries. The Compa-
ny has complemented the Guidelines by its 
internal insider guidelines. The insider and 
trading guidelines approved by the Com-
pany include regulations on insiders, pub-
lication and postponement of publication 
of inside information, prohibited use of in-
side information, insider registers, duty of 
notification of managers´ and their closely 
associated persons’ transactions, and per-
sonnel’s own trading with specific financial 
instruments. The purpose of the guideline 
is to explain the content of the guideline 
published by Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd and oth-
er regulations and restrictions relating to 
the matter, and to unify and coordinate the 
processing of insider and trading matters 
within Bittium.

The managers of the Company must com-
ply with the EU Market Abuse Regulation’s 
prohibition on dealing in the Company’s fi-
nancial instruments (closed period). In ac-
cordance with the Company’s Board of 
Directors’ decision, the Company has in 
addition determined certain time periods 
during which persons taking part in the 
preparations of the Company’s financial re-
porting, and other persons who have access 
to information pertaining to the Company’s 
financial status, are prohibited to trade the 
Company’s financial instruments. The pur-
pose of the trade restrictions is to control 
trading of the Company’s financial instru-
ments, and thereby increase trust to the 
Company and the operation of the secu-
rities market. Trading with the Company’s 
financial instruments is completely prohib-
ited for the aforementioned persons for a 
period of 30 days before the publication of 
earnings information of the Company. The 
most common publications are the release 
of interim reports and release of the Compa-
ny’s financial statements. The restriction is 
applicable also to any possible preliminary 
information regarding the financial state-
ments and interim report.

Persons included in a project-specific in-
sider register are prohibited from all trading 
and business transactions until the project 
has expired or has been publicly announced. 
If the project falls upon another listed com-
pany or may affect the price of the finan-
cial instruments of another listed company, 
the project-specific insiders have no right 
to trade with such company’s financial in-
struments.

The Company voluntarily maintains on its 
website a list of the financial instruments 
owned by the Company’s managers or by 
the institutions operating under the author-
ity of the managers. The list is updated on 
the last day of each month.
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Report by the Board  
of Directors 2016

The Year 2016 in Brief

Net Sales in 2016 Grew by  
13% Year-on-year and 
Operating Result 
Improved Slightly

Bittium’s net sales during January-Decem-
ber 2016 increased by 13.0 percent year-on-
year to EUR 64.2 million (EUR 56.8 million 
in 1–12 2015).

The share of the product-based net sales 
was EUR 11.9 million (EUR 13.1 million in 1–12 
2015), which resulted mainly from the prod-
uct deliveries of the tactical communica-
tion system, product deliveries of Bittium 
Tough Mobile LTE smartphones and relat-
ed security software, the deliveries of oth-
er terminal products for authorities use, 
and deliveries of products for measuring 
and monitoring biosignals. The decrease in 
the product-based net sales year-on-year 
was mainly caused by the ending of prod-
uct deliveries of a special terminal project 
for a US-based customer during the corre-
sponding period.

The share of the services-based net sales 
was EUR 51.8 million (EUR 43.4 million 
in 1–12 2015). Despite the decrease in 
the demand for the services business in 
the network equipment market, the ser-
vices-based net sales increased year-on-
year due to the increased demand for the 
R&D services related to the special termi-
nal products. 

Operating result was EUR 2.5 million (EUR 
2.3 million in 1–12 2015).

Significant Events During 
the Reporting Period

A total of 55,498 new shares in Bittium Cor-
poration were subscribed for between De-

cember 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016 by vir-
tue of the option rights 2008C. The share 
subscription price, EUR 30,523.90 was re-
corded in the company’s invested non-re-
stricted equity fund. The corresponding in-
creases in the number of the company’s 
shares were entered into the Finnish Trade 
Register on February 10, 2016 and April 14, 
2016. Shareholder rights by virtue of the 
new shares commenced as of the above-
mentioned registration entry date. Trading 
with the newly registered shares started on 
February 11, 2016 and April 15, 2016 as an ad-
ditional lot of Bittium Corporation’s shares 
in Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The share subscrip-
tion period for stock options 2008C ended 
on March 31, 2016.

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpo-
ration decided on March 22, on a directed 
share issue without consideration as re-
ward payments to the key persons of the 
company. In the share issue a maximum 
of 58,000 new shares was issued without 
consideration to the key persons entitled to 
share rewards according to the terms and 
conditions relating to the share rewards. 
A total of 9 people belonging to the man-
agement and personnel of the company 
were in the target group of the payment. 
Of the maximum of 58,000 shares offered 
in the share issue, 37,500 shares were sub-
scribed. The 37,500 shares issued in the 
share issue were registered with the Trade 
Register and registered on the book-entry 
accounts of the recipients of the shares on 
March 24, 2016 and became subject to trad-
ing on the trading list of Nasdaq Helsinki on 
March 29, 2016. After the registration of the 
new shares, the number of shares in Bittium 
Corporation totaled to 35,693,166.

On April 27, Bittium appointed M.Sc. Sami 
Kotkajuuri (b. 1967) as Vice President, Busi-
ness Development as of May 1, 2016. Mr. Kot-
kajuuri has been working for Bittium since 

2009. M.Sc. Klaus Mäntysaari (b. 1966) was 
appointed as Vice President, Connectivity  
Solutions as of May 1, 2016. Mr. Mäntysaari 
has been working for Bittium since 2004. 
In the Connectivity Solutions product and 
service area Bittium offers R&D services 
and customized solutions for the wireless 
communications market as well as for other 
companies needing wireless connectivity 
in their devices.

On October 5, Bittium announced to have 
received information according to which 
significant customer cooperation with a 
global network equipment manufacturer 
will reduce during 2017. According to the in-
formation received, if the planned actions of 
the customer will materialize in full, these 
actions might have a negative effect to Bit-
tium’s net sales and operating result in 2017. 
The reduction of the cooperation did not 
have an effect on Bittium’s outlook for the 
year 2016. 

Bittium told that as part of the strategy 
work, it will evaluate the effects of the re-
duction of the cooperation on the financial 
targets given on July 1, 2015 in connection 
with company’s strategic guidelines. These 
financial targets published were as follows: 
The target during 2015–2017 is to grow the 
net sales at least 10 percent annually and 
reach EBIT level 10 percent of net sales at 
the latest in 2017. Bittium targets, by the 
year 2017, to clearly increase the share of 
net sales generated from own products and 
product platforms, from the 26.7 percent 
level of net sales in 2014.

On November 10, 2016 Bittium announced 
to expand its technology competence by 
acquiring Mega Electronics Ltd and Mega-
Koto Ltd specialized in healthcare technol-
ogy and services by purchasing 100 percent 
of the shares in Remega Ltd. Mega Elec-
tronics Ltd was a fully owned subsidiary of 
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Remega Ltd. Mega Electronics Ltd owned 
28.2 percent of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd, 
a company specialized in healthcare ser-
vices, and had signed a binding share pur-
chase agreements to acquire 100 percent 
of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd. The acqui-
sition of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd was 
completed as planned.

Mega Electronics Ltd (now Bittium Bio-
signals Ltd), founded in 1983, is a Finnish 
ISO13485 certified medical device manu-
facturing company. The company is spe-
cialized in biosignal measuring for cardiol-
ogy, neurology, rehabilitation, occupational 
health and sports medicine. MegaKoto Ltd 
(now Bittium Medanalytics Ltd) provides 
comprehensive arrhythmia monitoring 
services for its customers such as primary 
care centers, private clinics and hospitals.

The pro forma net sales of Remega group 
and MegaKoto Ltd was approximately EUR 
3.1 million in 2015 and pro forma operating 
profit was approximately EUR 0.2 million. 
The companies employ altogether 28 per-
sons and are located in Kuopio, Finland.

The debt free cash purchase price of the 
share acquisition, including the purchase 
price of MegaKoto shares, was EUR 8.0 mil-
lion, which was adjusted based on the lev-
el of cash, debt and networking capital of 
the acquired companies as of completion 
of the acquisition. In addition to the afore-
mentioned purchase price, an additional 
purchase price, capped at EUR 1.0 million, 
is payable upon the achievement of certain 
financial performance targets for the ac-
quired business between January 1, 2017 
and December 31, 2018. The potential ad-
ditional purchase price will be paid in cash 
after achieving the goals.

On November 23, Bittium announced a 
change in its financial reporting practice 
and will publish half year and annual fi-
nancial reports and will no longer publish 
interim reports for the first three and nine 
months of the year.

On November 24, Bittium updated its strat-
egy and financial targets.  The strategy was 
updated to strengthen company’s position 
in the global markets and to speed up its 
growth. The company plans to make signifi-
cant investments in the future by increasing 
significantly the R&D investments in its own 

products and solutions in the year 2017. In 
line with the nature of the defense and pub-
lic safety markets, the investments will pay 
back in a longer time period and therefore 
Bittium plans to capitalize the most of the 
R&D investments to its balance sheet. The 
company has a strong balance sheet and 
financial position.

Bittium also told to have decided to estab-
lish a new product and service area around 
healthcare technology. Combining health-
care technologies with Bittium’s long-term 
experience and knowhow in wireless and 
security technologies gives the compa-
ny good conditions to serve its customers 
in healthcare sector by offering them new 
kinds of products and services. As the first 
step to build the competencies in health-
care technology, Bittium acquired Mega 
Electronics Ltd, a company specialized in 
measuring and monitoring biosignals on 
November 10, 2016. According to the up-
dated strategy Bittium has three product 
and service areas supporting each other: 
Defense & Security, Connectivity Solutions 
and Medical Technologies. 

Bittium also told about continued search 
for inorganic growth opportunities in all its 
product and service areas and is prepared 
to invest in acquisitions that strengthen the 
company’s growth strategy.

About the financial targets Bittium an-
nounced on November 24 as follows: Bit-
tium has announced earlier that it targets 
10 percent annual growth in net sales and 
to reach EBIT level 10 percent of net sales 
in the year 2017 at the latest. The company 
believes that in the coming years it is able to 
grow its net sales even more than the ear-
lier announced target, and therefore sets 
up a target to exceed the annual 10 percent 
growth target of the net sales. 

However, Bittium does not believe, that 
during the year 2017 it is yet able reach the 
targets set for the growth in the net sales 
and EBIT level. The reason for this is that 
the termination of significant customer co-
operation with a global network equipment 
manufacturer, of which Bittium announced 
earlier, is expected to materialize faster and 
more extensively than the company esti-
mated earlier. According to the information 
received by Bittium, the net sales from this 
customer cooperation will end completely 

in the beginning of the second quarter of 
the year 2017. To this extent this kind of ex-
tensive and rapid decrease in the services 
business net sales is most likely difficult 
to be replaced in a short term. In addition, 
the operating profit level of the year 2017 is 
also affected by the planned investments 
to enable the future growth.

Bittium targets further to increase the share 
of net sales generated from own products 
and product platforms. According to the 
targets Bittium announced earlier, in the 
year 2017 the share of net sales generated 
from own products and product platforms 
is clearly higher than in the year 2014, when 
the product based net sales was 26.7 per-
cent of the net sales.

On November 24, Bittium announced 
changes in the management group and in 
its organizational structure. These chang-
es support the updated strategy that was 
announced on the same day. According to 
its strategy Bittium’s business will focus on 
three product and service areas: Defense & 
Security, Connectivity Solutions and Med-
ical Technologies. Mr. Jari Sankala (M.Sc. 
Electrical Engineering, Digital Communica-
tions) was appointed as Senior Vice Pres-
ident, Defense & Security product and 
service area. Mr. Klaus Mäntysaari (M.Sc.) 
continued as Vice President, Connectivi-
ty  Solutions product and service area. Mr. 
Arto Pietilä M.Sc. (Applied Electronics) was 
appointed as Senior Vice President, Medi-
cal Technologies product and service area. 

Mr. Sami Kotkajuuri, head of business devel-
opment, decided to move on to new chal-
lenges outside of Bittium and resigned from 
the company’s service. Mr. Kotkajuuri con-
tinued his duties until the end of the year 
2016.

As of December 1, Bittium management 
group consisted of following persons: Mr. 
Hannu Huttunen, CEO (chairman); Mr. Pek-
ka Kunnari, CFO; Mr. Kari Jokela, CLO; Ms. 
Karoliina Fyrstén, Director, Corporate Com-
munications and Marketing, and heads of 
product and service areas: Mr. Jari Sankala, 
Senior Vice President, Defense & Security; 
Mr. Klaus Mäntysaari, Vice President, Con-
nectivity Solutions; and Mr. Arto Pietilä, Se-
nior Vice President, Medical Technologies; 
and Mr. Jari-Pekka Innanen, Vice President, 
Engineering.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME, MEUR
2016

12 months
2015

12 months

   Net sales 64.2 56.8
   Operating profit/loss 2.5 2.3
   Financial income and expenses 0.6 -0.2
   Result before tax 3.1 2.1
Result for the period from continuing operations 3.5 2.3
Result for the period from discontinuing operations 539.0
Result for the period 3.5 541.3
Total comprehensive income for the period 3.5 541.5

Result for the period attributable to:
   Equity holders of the parent 3.5 541.3
Total comprehensive income for the period attributable to:
    Equity holders of the parent 3.5 541.5

Earnings per share from continuing operations, EUR 0.098 0.020
 

Financial Performance in January–December 2016

•	Cash flow from operating activities was EUR -1.7 million (EUR 2.1 million, in 1–12 2015, 
including both continuing and discontinuing operations).

•	Net cash flow was EUR -27.9 million, including the dividend payment in April, the 
investments made into the company’s new office building in Oulu, Finland, and the 
acquisition made in November (EUR 79.5 million, in 1–12 2015, including the cash flow 
resulted from the sale of the Automotive business and the cash flow of the cancelled 
demerger process and the cash flows of the voluntary public tender offer of own shares). 

•	Equity ratio was 87.0 percent (90.5 percent, December 31, 2015). 
•	Net gearing was -70.3 percent (-88.2 percent, December 31, 2015).
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GROUP’S NET SALES AND OPERATING RESULT, MEUR 4Q/16 3Q/16 2Q/16 1Q/16 4Q/15

Net sales 19.0 14.1 16.4 14.7 15.2
Operating profit (loss) 0.9 0.9 0.8 -0.1 0.8
Result before taxes 1.1 1.1 1.0 -0.1 0.9
Result for the period 1.4 1.1 1.0 -0.1 1.1

DISTRIBUTION OF NET SALES 
BY MARKET AREAS, MEUR AND % 4Q/16 3Q/16 2Q/16 1Q/16 4Q/15

Asia 0.2 0.0 0.4 0.0 0.0
1.1% 0.1% 2.7% 0.2% 0.0%

Americas 3.8 2.9 3.2 2.3 2.9
19.9% 20.7% 19.8% 15.3% 19.2%

Europe 15.0 11.2 12.7 12.5 12.3
79.0% 79.3% 77.5% 84.5% 80.7%

 

Quarterly Figures
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Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Non-current assets 30.3 14.4
Current assets 123.0 145.0
Total assets 153.3 159.4
Share capital 12.9 12.9
Other capital 117.7 124.6
Total equity 130.6 137.6
Non-current liabilities 3.1 2.0
Current liabilities 19.6 19.8
Total equity and liabilities 153.3 159.4
 

CASH FLOW OF THE REVIEW PERIOD:
Jan.–Dec.

2016
Jan.–Dec.

2015

+ Profit of the period  +/- Adjustment of accrual basis items 5.0 12.2
+/- Change in net working capital -7.6 -6.2
- Interest, taxes and dividends 0.9 -3.9
= Net cash from operating activities -1.7 2.1
- Net cash from investing activities -14.5 579.6
- Net cash from financing activities -11.6 -502.2
= Net change in cash and cash equivalents -27.9 79.5
 

Statement of Financial Position 
and Financing

The figures presented in the statement of financial position of December 31, 2016, are compared 
with the statement of the financial position of December 31, 2015 (MEUR).

Net cash from operating activities in 2015 
includes operative cash flows from both 
continuing and discontinuing operations. 

The amount of gross investments in the pe-
riod under review was EUR 18.5 million. Net 
investments for the review period totaled to 
EUR 18.4 million. The total amount of de-
preciation during the period under review 
was EUR 3.3 million. The amount of inter-
est-bearing debt, including finance lease 
liabilities, was at the end of the reporting 
period EUR 3.2 million (EUR 1.4 million on 
December 31, 2015). Bittium’s equity ratio at 
the end of the period was 87.0 percent (90.5 
percent on December 31, 2015). 

Cash and other liquid assets at the end of 
the reporting period were EUR 94.9 million 
(EUR 122.8 million on December 31, 2015). 
Bittium has a total of EUR 20.2 million credit 
facility agreements from which EUR 20 mil-
lion are valid until June 30, 2017 and EUR 
0.2 million until September 29, 2017. At the 
end of the review period, EUR 0.1 million of 
these facilities were in use.

Bittium follows a hedging strategy that has 
an objective to ensure the business mar-
gins in changing market circumstances 
by minimizing the influence of exchange 
rates. According to the hedging strategy 
principles, the net position in the curren-

cy is hedged when it exceeds the euro lim-
it defined in the hedging strategy. The net 
position is determined on the basis of ac-
counts receivable, accounts payable, order 
book and budgeted net currency cash flow. 
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R&D INVESTMENTS, MEUR
2016

12 months
2015

12 months

Total R&D investments 6.9 7.3
Capitalized R&D investments -0.9 -3.4
Depreciations and impairment of R&D investments 0.3 0.2
Cost impact on income statement 6.3 4.2
R&D investments, % of net sales 10.8% 12.9%
 

CAPITALIZED R&D INVESTMENTS IN BALANCE SHEET, MEUR
2016

12 months
2015

12 months

Balance sheet value in the beginning of the period 5.6 2.2
Additions during the period 0.9 3.4
Acquisitions of the business 0.2 0.3
Depreciations and impairment of R&D investments -0.3 -0.2
Balance sheet value at the end of the period 6.4 5.6
 

Research and Development

Bittium continued its R&D investments in products and product platforms targeted for 
the mobile security, defense and public safety markets. R&D investments mainly focused 
on developing the Bittium Tough Mobile secure LTE smartphone targeted mainly for the 
demanding mobile security and public safety use. A significant part of these capitalized 
R&D investments is related to the further development of the Bittium Tough Mobile and 
the related security software.
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Business  
Development in 2016

January–March 2016

The demand for Bittium’s R&D services de-
veloped positively during the first quarter. 
The product development project for the 
Mexican Ministry of Communication and 
Transportation, started in May 2015, has 
continued according to plans during the first 
quarter. Bittium develops Android-based 
mobile devices that use both terrestrial 
and satellite connection for their MEXSAT 
system.

Bittium continued the R&D investments 
in its own products and product plat-
forms aiming for growth especially in the 
international defense, information securi-
ty and public safety markets. In February 
the company presented its Bittium Tough 
Mobile LTE smartphone and related man-
agement and VPN encryption software at 
the Mobile World Congress 2016 exhibition 
in Barcelona. Bittium Tough Mobile and re-
lated management system and VPN en-
cryption Bittium Secure Suite generated 
lots of interest in the information security 
and public safety markets. The pilot deliv-
eries of the product were continued during 
the first quarter. Bittium has been actively 
seeking for, and found a few suitable part-
ners and resellers who took Bittium Tough 
Mobile as part of their own product portfo-
lio and/or solution for their customers. The 
sale of Bittium Tough Mobile is expected to 
develop moderately according to the pace 
of the authorities markets.

In January, Bittium exhibited its secure 
and easy-to-use Bittium SafeMove remote 
access solutions for managers working in 
the healthcare sector at Long-Term Con-
ditions Conference 2016 that was held in 
QUEII Centre, London. SafeMove VPN en-
cryption software is also been used to se-
cure connections in Bittium’s IoT (Internet 
of Things) services and solutions. Bittium 
presented its IoT solutions and services at 
Wearable Technology Show 2016 in ExCeL, 
London in March. 

The development of the tactical commu-
nication system Bittium Tactical Wireless 
IP Network (TAC WIN), used by the Finnish 
Defence Forces, continued. The product 
deliveries for the communication system 
were continued during the first quarter. Bit-
tium received a new order for a new software 
package for the system. The main objective 
for the development work of the new soft-
ware package was to continue enhancing 
the performance, data transfer capacity and 
survivability of the software and the related 
radio platform. The value of the received pur-
chase order was EUR 2.8 million (excl. VAT) 
and it did not have significant impact on Bit-
tium’s net sales, operating result or financial 
standing, or on Bittium’s financial outlook 
for the year 2016. The company continued 
its efforts to bring its defense market tar-
geted product portfolio to the internation-
al defense markets, and received the first 
small order for its TAC WIN system from a 
customer in Asia.

April–June 2016

Despite of the decrease in the demand for 
R&D services for the mobile network man-
ufacturers, the demand for Bittium’s R&D 
services developed positively during the 
second quarter of 2016. The product devel-
opment project for the Mexican Ministry of 
Communication and Transportation, start-
ed in May 2015, has continued according 
to plans. Bittium develops Android-based 
mobile devices that use both terrestrial and 
satellite connection for their MEXSAT sys-
tem.

Bittium continued the R&D investments 
in its own products and product platforms 
aiming for growth especially in the inter-
national defense, information security and 
public safety markets. The investments fo-
cused mainly in the further development of 
the Bittium Tough Mobile secure LTE smart-
phone targeted for the mobile security and 
public safety markets. The smartphone was 
presented at the Critical Communications 
World event in Amsterdam, where Bittium 
launched a new Bittium Tough Mobile B28 
frequency variant, which is targeted for pub-
lic safety networks requiring this band 28. 
In addition, Bittium and Air-Lynx demon-

strated the first public safety LTE evolved 
Multimedia Broadcast Multicast Solution 
(eMBMS) that enables efficient use of the 
whole LTE radio spectrum, delivering sig-
nificant amounts of data even in a congest-
ed network environment. This is particularly 
important in public safety, security and oth-
er mission-critical communications, which 
require fast data speeds, low latencies and 
reliable connections.

The awareness of information security risks 
grew and the interest towards secure mobile 
devices increased. Bittium continued pilot 
deliveries of Bittium Tough Mobile during the 
second quarter. However, the development 
of the public safety and information secu-
rity markets was somewhat slower than ex-
pected.

In April, Bittium participated in the Hannover 
Messe industrial fair in Germany and pre-
sented its customized, secure IoT solutions 
and engineering services. At display were 
Bittium Smart Watch and IoT gateway ref-
erence designs, which can be easily cus-
tomized according to customer needs and 
industry specific requirements.

Bittium continued R&D investments also in 
Bittium SafeMove product family and an-
nounced Bittium SafeMove Analytics soft-
ware as a standalone software product for 
enterprises for monitoring and analyzing the 
performance of wireless networks and mo-
bile devices. Organizations that use Ana-
lytics will get real-time and historical data 
on the location of mobile devices and the 
performance of wireless networks and thus 
are able to enhance the efficiency and user 
experience of mobile workers.

In May, Bittium released a new software ver-
sion of Bittium SafeMove Mobile VPN remote 
access solution. The new software version 
enhances the information security of mo-
bile workers by supporting performance-im-
proving encryption methods. Moreover, the 
new management user interface and sup-
port for mobile Android devices make the 
work of IT departments significantly easier.

In May, Bittium established a partnership 
with Getac to improve the productivity, se-
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curity and user experience for field workers 
in challenging conditions. Bittium offers its 
SafeMove Mobile VPN and Analytics soft-
ware to all Getac’s rugged tablets and note-
books as an option across Europe from May 
2016 onwards. Bittium exhibited its secure 
and easy-to-use Bittium SafeMove remote 
access solutions at Terveydenhuollon ATK-
päivät (information technology days for 
healthcare industry) in Lahti, Finland.

The development of the tactical commu-
nication system Bittium Tactical Wireless 
IP Network (TAC WIN), used by the Finnish 
Defence Forces was continued. The product 
deliveries for the communication system 
were continued during the second quarter. 

In April, Bittium expanded its product port-
folio in tactical communications by intro-
ducing Bittium Tough VoIP Service (Voice 
over Internet Protocol) software product. 
With the product both fixed data network 
users and wireless tactical data network 
users can be connected to the same voice 
service network. This significantly improves 
the capability to lead troops and maintain 
situational awareness in the quickly chang-
ing conditions of the battlefield.

In June, Bittium participated in the Eurosa-
tory exhibition in Paris targeted for defense 
markets and presented its tactical commu-
nication products and solutions. In addition, 
Bittium presented together with both Italian 
company Leonardo and French company 
Thales how the land forces of different Eu-
ropean countries will be able to communi-
cate with each other in joint operations, link-
ing up via a common waveform regardless 
of the actual radio platforms they use. This 
waveform has been developed in the Eu-
ropean ESSOR program (European Secure 
Software defined Radio), where Bittium has 
been part of since it started in 2009.

July–September 2016

Despite the decrease in the demand for R&D 
services for the mobile network manufac-
turers, the demand for Bittium’s R&D ser-
vices developed positively during the third 
quarter of 2016. The product development 
project for the Mexican Ministry of Commu-

nication and Transportation, started in May 
2015, continued according to plans. Bit-
tium develops Android-based mobile de-
vices that use both terrestrial and satellite 
connection for their MEXSAT system. Also 
the demand for R&D services in the IoT mar-
kets developed positively.

During the third quarter Bittium continued 
the R&D investments in its own products 
and product platforms aiming for growth 
especially in the international defense, mo-
bile security and public safety markets. The 
investments focused mainly in the products 
for the mobile security and public safety 
markets. The development of the Bittium 
Tough Mobile secure LTE smartphone was 
continued as well as the pilot deliveries of 
the product during the third quarter. 

Bittium continued R&D investments also in 
Bittium SafeMove product family and pre-
sented these remote access solutions at a 
healthcare HETT Show in London. 

The development of the tactical commu-
nication system Bittium Tactical Wireless 
IP Network (TAC WIN), used by the Finnish 
Defence Forces, continued and the product 
deliveries for this communication system 
were also continued during the third quarter. 
The development of the public safety and 
mobile security markets has been some-
what slower than expected.

October–December 2016

Despite the decrease in the demand for R&D 
services for the mobile network manufac-
turers, the demand for Bittium’s R&D ser-
vices developed positively during the fourth 
quarter. Also the demand for R&D services 
in the IoT markets developed positively. The 
product development project for the Mexi-
can Ministry of Communication and Trans-
portation, started in May 2015, has contin-
ued according to plans. Bittium develops 
Android-based mobile devices that use 
both terrestrial and satellite connection for 
their MEXSAT system.

During the fourth quarter Bittium continued 
the R&D investments in its own products 
and product platforms aiming for growth 

especially in the international mobile se-
curity, defense and public safety markets. 
The investments focused mainly in the 
products for the mobile security and pub-
lic safety markets. The development of the 
public safety and mobile security markets 
was somewhat slower than expected.

In October, Bittium announced to have re-
ceived information, according to which, a 
significant customer cooperation with a 
global network equipment manufacturer will 
reduce during 2017. At that time, according 
to the information received, if the planned 
actions of the customer will materialize in 
full, Bittium estimated that these actions 
might have a negative effect to Bittium’s net 
sales and operating result in 2017.

The development of the Bittium Tough Mo-
bile secure LTE smartphone was continued 
and the product deliveries were carried on 
during the fourth quarter. In October the 
company announced to have conducted 
the first ever Voice over LTE (VoLTE) call with 
Bittium Tough Mobile on the Public Safety 
Band 14 LTE Network in the United States.

The development of the tactical commu-
nication system Bittium Tactical Wireless 
IP Network (TAC WIN), used by the Finnish 
Defence Forces, continued and the prod-
uct deliveries for this communication sys-
tem were continued also during the fourth 
quarter. Bittium continued efforts to bring 
its products and services, targeted to de-
fense industry, to the international defense 
markets. In November, the company an-
nounced to have received a purchase or-
der for a tactical communications system 
and related integration work to be delivered 
to the Estonian Defence Forces.

In November, Bittium presented its tactical 
communication products and solutions at 
the Indo Defence 2016 exhibition in Jakarta, 
Indonesia. In December, the company an-
nounced to have demonstrated with Leon-
ardo, Thales and the Finnish Defence Forc-
es the capabilities and functionalities of the 
High Data Rate Waveform (HDRWF) devel-
oped in the European ESSOR programme 
(European Secure Software defined Radio) 
in battlefield conditions. The demonstration 
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showcased how the land forces of differ-
ent European countries can communicate 
seamlessly with each other in joint opera-
tions, linking up via a common waveform 
regardless of the radio platforms they use.

In November, Bittium announced to have 
acquired Mega Electronics Ltd and Mega-
Koto Ltd, companies specialized in health-
care technology and services. Mega Elec-
tronics Ltd (now Bittium Biosignals Ltd.), 
founded in 1983, is a Finnish ISO 13485 
certified medical device manufacturing 
company. The company is specialized in 
biosignal measuring for cardiology, neu-
rology, rehabilitation, occupational health 
and sports medicine. MegaKoto Ltd (now 
Bittium Medanalytics Ltd) provides compre-
hensive arrhythmia monitoring services for 
its customers such as primary care centers, 
private clinics and hospitals. 

With this acquisition Bittium got the owner-
ship of Faros product family, focused on re-
mote heart monitoring, NeurOne product fo-
cusing on measuring the electrical activity 
of brain, and BrainStatus, a disposable quick 
analysis headband used in emergency and 
intensive primary care to diagnose for ex-
ample epileptic seizures and brain stroke, 
and other healthcare technology products. 
Faros devices are EU medical device direc-
tive class CE class IIa and USA FDA 510(k) 
registered medical devices. Bittium Med-
analytics Ltd is a private provider of health-
care services approved by the Finnish Na-
tional Supervisory Authority for Welfare and 
Health having more than 70 health centers 
and private clinics using its heart monitor-
ing Kardiolog.fi service. This acquisition was 
part of Bittium’s strategy announced later 
in November. 

On November 24, Bittium announced its 
updated strategy and financial targets. Ac-
cording to the updated strategy Bittium es-
tablished a new product and service area 
around healthcare technology. By com-
bining healthcare technologies with Bit-
tium’s long-term experience and knowhow 
in wireless and security technologies give 
the company good conditions to serve its 
customers in healthcare sector by offering 
them new kinds of products and services. 
Bittium has now three product and service 
areas supporting each other: Defense & Se-
curity, Connectivity Solutions and Medical 

Technologies. In addition Bittium also an-
nounced investments to strengthen com-
pany’s position in the global markets and 
to speed up its growth.

In November, Bittium exhibited its latest in-
novative products and solutions for cardiol-
ogy and neurology at Medica 2016 exhibition 
on in Dusseldorf, Germany. The products 
and solutions exhibited were Faros ECG 
Event and Faros ECG Mobile software solu-
tions focused on remote heart monitoring, 
Faros Cardiac Rehab monitoring solution, 
BrainStatus module and the full Faros ECG 
product line.

Significant Events after 
the Reporting Period

The company has no significant events af-
ter the reporting period.

Outlook for 2017
Bittium will continue to look for inorganic 
growth opportunities in all its product and 
service areas and is prepared to invest in 
acquisitions that support its growth strat-
egy. The growing need for wireless con-
nectivity, increasingly growing amount of 
data transfer and the need for secure data 
transfer create demand for Bittium’s com-
petence, products and product platforms. 
In a long term Bittium still has good condi-
tions to grow profitably. Bittium aims further 
at growing net sales based on its products 
and product platforms. 

Bittium has announced earlier that it targets 
10 percent annual growth in net sales and 
to reach EBIT level 10 percent of net sales 
in the year 2017 at the latest. The company 
believes that in the coming years it is able to 
grow its net sales even more than the ear-
lier announced target, and therefore sets 
up a target to exceed the annual 10 percent 
growth target of the net sales. However, Bit-
tium believes, that during the year 2017 it 
is not yet able reach the targets set for the 
growth in the net sales and EBIT level. The 
reason for this is the termination of a sig-
nificant customer cooperation with a global 
network equipment manufacturer.  Accord-
ing to the information received by Bittium, 

the net sales from this customer cooper-
ation will end completely during the sec-
ond quarter of the year 2017. To this extent 
this kind of extensive and rapid decrease in 
the services business net sales is impossi-
ble to be replaced with other projects in a 
short term, which effects directly the devel-
opment of net sales and operating result in 
2017. In addition, the operating profit level of 
the year 2017 is also affected by the planned 
investments to enable the future growth.

Bittium expects that the net sales in 2017 
will be at the same level than in previous 
year (EUR 64.2 million, in 2016). The operat-
ing result is expected to be negative (EUR 
2.5 million, in 2016). 

More information about Bittium’s market 
outlook is presented in the section “Market 
outlook” in this report.

More information about other uncertainties 
regarding the outlook is presented in this re-
port in the section ”Risks and uncertainties” 
and on the company’s internet pages at 
www.bittium.com.  

Market Outlook
Bittium’s customers operate in various in-
dustries, each of them having their own in-
dustry specific factors driving the demand. 
A common factor creating demand among 
the whole customer base is the growing 
need for higher quality and secure data 
transfer. Due to the technology and mea-
suring competences accrued over time and 
long history in developing mobile commu-
nication solutions, Bittium is in a good po-
sition to offer customized solutions for its 
customers.

The following factors are expected to create 
demand for Bittium’s products and services 
in 2017 and beyond:

•	In the mobile telecommunications, the 
4G technology development work has de-
creased significantly affecting declining 
to the mobile network markets in the near 
future. The development of 5G technology 
has started very well creating demand for 
Bittium’s R&D services increasing. How-
ever, the development of 5G technology 
has just begun, and it will not replace the 
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amount of the 4G development work with-
in the next few years. Therefore in the fu-
ture the demand for R&D service for the 
network equipment manufacturers is ex-
pected to be significantly lower than in the 
previous years.

•	As the digitalization evolves, the secure 
IoT (Internet of Things) has become a sig-
nificant development area in many indus-
tries. The increasing need of companies 
to digitalize their operations, collect data 
wirelessly and transfer it to the internet 
and cloud services generate need for Bit-
tium’s services and customized solutions. 
For this there is a need for connected de-
vices for consumers and demanding in-
dustrial usage that collect information 
through their sensors and connect the de-
vices securely to the internet and cloud 
services.  Also the integration of different 
systems and technologies play an import-
ant role in enabling the complete digitali-
zation service. To ease and speed up the 
processing of large data amounts there 
are different kinds of learning systems and 
devices under development that use dif-
ferent artificial intelligence (AI) technol-
ogies.

•	The use of LTE technology, smartphones 
and applications is expected to increase 
in special verticals such as public safety 
creating demand for Bittium Tough Mobile 
secure LTE smartphone and other cus-
tomized special terminals based on Bit-
tium’s own product platform. The aware-
ness of mobile security risks is growing 
and the interest towards secure mobile 
devices is increasing. Also the interest to-
wards LTE-SAT-hybrid devices with terres-
trial and satellite connections has grown 
to further improve the functionality of au-
thorities’ critical connections. The sale of 
the secure terminal products is expected 
to develop moderately according to the 
nature of public safety markets.

•	Using public network connections in por-
table devices is increasing also in de-
manding professional use, such as in the 
public sector. This creates requirements 
for network connections to be easy to use 
and secure. The products in the Bittium 
SafeMove product family enable the ease 
of use of the devices and security in de-
manding use.

•	In the defense sector’s tactical communi-
cation market the governments’ defense 
forces and other authorities need net-

works that troops, who are increasingly 
constantly on the move, can use for trans-
ferring growing amounts of data securely. 
This creates demand for Bittium Tactical 
Wireless IP Network (TAC WIN) broadband 
network and for other Bittium’s IP-based 
(Internet Protocol) tactical communica-
tions solutions. Bittium continues its ef-
forts to bring its defense market targeted 
products and services also to the inter-
national defense markets and aims to get 
new international customers for its tacti-
cal communication system in 2017. Due to 
the long sales cycles driven by purchas-
ing programs of national governments, 
it takes years to receive significant pur-
chase orders.

•	Heart problems and brain strokes are 
among the most frequent causes of 
death. Recognizing the symptoms ear-
ly on, based on information gathered by 
measuring, enable starting of effective 
treatment fast. Also the prevention of dis-
eases and health problems are being in-
creasingly invested in. In the healthcare 
technology market there is ongoing a sig-
nificant change in the patient care both in-
side the hospitals as well as in homecare. 
The repatriation of patients is being pur-
sued earlier than before which may enable 
significant cost savings in the healthcare. 
One of the growing application areas in the 
IoT segment is healthcare technology that 
enables implementing these changes for 
its part. A prerequisite for early repatria-
tion is the enabling of accurate and pre-
cise follow-up and measurement in home 
conditions through remote monitoring. For 
this purpose Bittium offers its Faros prod-
uct family for remote heart monitoring and 
NeurOne product family for measuring the 
electrical activity of brain.

Risks and 
Uncertainties

Bittium has identified a number of busi-
ness, market and finance related risk fac-
tors and uncertainties that can affect the 
level of sales and profits.
 
Market Risks
In the ongoing financial period, global eco-
nomic uncertainty may affect the demand 
for Bittium´s services, solutions and prod-
ucts and provide pressure on e.g. pricing. In 

the short term such uncertainty may affect, 
in particular, the utilization and chargeabil-
ity levels and average hourly prices of R&D 
services. Growing political uncertainty may 
also affect the demand for Bittium’s ser-
vices, solutions and products and the price 
competitiveness in the different geograph-
ical areas.

Bittium’s customer base includes, among 
others, companies operating in the field of 
telecommunication, defense and other au-
thorities, as well as companies delivering 
products to them, the company is exposed 
to market changes in these industries. 

In October 2016, Bittium received informa-
tion according to which a significant cus-
tomer cooperation with a global mobile net-
work equipment manufacturer will reduce 
during the year 2017. A significant part of 
Bittium´s net sales has accumulated from 
selling R&D services to this mobile com-
munications equipment manufacturer. The 
reduction of the cooperation did not have 
an effect on Bittium’s outlook for the year 
2016, but if the planned actions of the cus-
tomer will materialize in full, these actions 
might have a negative effect on Bittium’s 
net sales and operating result in 2017. A sig-
nificant part of Bittium´s net sales still ac-
cumulates from selling products and R&D 
services to defense and other authorities, 
as well as companies delivering products 
to them. Deviation in anticipated business 
development with such customer concen-
trations may translate as a significant devi-
ation in the Bittium’s outlook, both in terms 
of net sales and operating result, during the 
ongoing financial period and thereafter. 

Bittium seeks to expand its customer base 
on a longer term and reduce dependence 
on individual companies and hence the 
company would thereby be mainly affect-
ed by the general business climate in the 
industries of the companies belonging to 
Bittium’s customer base instead of the de-
velopment of individual customer relation-
ships. The more specific market outlook has 
been presented in this report in the ”Market 
outlook” section.
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Business related risks
Bittium’s operative business risks are main-
ly related to following items: uncertainties 
and short visibility on customers’ product 
program decisions, their make or buy deci-
sions and on the other hand, their decisions 
to continue, downsize or terminate current 
product programs, execution and manage-
ment of large customer projects, ramping 
up and down project resources, availability 
of personnel in labor markets, accessibili-
ty on commercially acceptable terms and 
on the other hand successful utilization of 
the most important technologies and com-
ponents, competitive situation and poten-
tial delays in the markets, timely closing of 
customer and supplier contracts with rea-
sonable commercial terms, delays in R&D 
projects, realization of expected return on 
capitalized R&D investments, obsoles-
cence of inventories and technology risks in 
product development causing higher than 
planned R&D costs, and risks related to the 
ramp-up of product manufacturing. Reve-
nues expected to come from either exist-
ing or new products and customers include 
normal timing risks. Bittium has certain sig-
nificant customer projects and deviation 
in their expected continuation could result 
also significant deviations in the company’s 
outlook. The information received by Bittium 
about the reduction of significant custom-
er cooperation with a global mobile network 
equipment manufacturer during 2017 may 
have a negative effect on Bittium’s net sales 
and operating result in 2017, but it did not 
have an effect on Bittium’s outlook for the 
year 2016. In addition, there are typical in-
dustry warranty and liability risks involved 
in selling Bittium´s services, solutions and 
products.

Bittium’s product delivery business mod-
el faces such risks as high dependency 
on actual product volumes, timing risks 
and potential delays in the markets. The 
above-mentioned risks may manifest them-
selves as lower amounts of products deliv-
ered or higher costs of production, and ul-
timately, as lower profit. Bringing Bittium´s 
products to international defense and other 
authorities markets may take longer than 
anticipated because the projects are typ-
ically long and the purchasing programs 
are prepared in the lead of national govern-

ments and within the available financing. 
Once a supplier has been selected, prod-
uct deliveries are typically executed over 
several years.

Some of Bittium’s businesses operate in in-
dustries that are heavily reliant on patent 
protection and therefore face risks related to 
management of intellectual property rights, 
on the one hand related to accessibility on 
commercially acceptable terms of certain 
technologies in the Bittium´s products and 
services, and on the other hand related to 
the ability to protect technologies that Bit-
tium develops or licenses from others from 
claims that third parties’ intellectual prop-
erty rights are infringed. Additionally, parties 
outside of the industries operate actively 
in order to protect and commercialize their 
patents and therefore in their part increase 
the risks related to the management of in-
tellectual property rights. At worst, claims 
that third parties’ intellectual property rights 
are infringed, could lead to substantial lia-
bilities for damages. In addition, the prog-
ress of the customer projects and delivery 
capability may be also affected by poten-
tial challenges in global accessibility of key 
technologies and components on commer-
cially acceptable terms, as well as by the ac-
ceptance of the necessary export licenses. 
The company changed its name to Bittium 
Corporation as of July 1, 2015 and started 
using the new trademark. The registration 
and the use of the new trademark can in-
clude customary risks involved in taking in 
use a new trademark.

Financing risks
Global economic uncertainty may lead to 
payment delays, increase the risk for credit 
losses and weaken the availability and terms 
of financing. To fund its operations, Bittium 
relies mainly on income from its operative 
business and may from time to time seek 
additional financing from selected financial 
institutions. Currently Bittium has a com-
mitted overdraft credit facility agreement of 
EUR 10.2 million with Nordea Bank Finland 
Plc and a committed overdraft credit facility 
agreement of EUR 10.0 million with Pohjola 
Bank Plc. From these agreements intend-
ed for general financing purposes, EUR 20.0 
million are valid until June 30, 2017 and EUR 
0.2 million until September 29, 2017. These 

agreements include customary covenants 
related to, among other things, equity ratio, 
transferring property and pledging. There 
is no assurance that additional financing 
will not be needed in case of clearly weak-
er than expected development of Bittium’s 
businesses. Customer dependency in some 
parts of Bittium’s business may translate as 
an accumulation of risk with respect to out-
standing receivables and ultimately with re-
spect to credit losses.

Environmental Factors
Bittium’s business operations focus most-
ly on the design, assembly provided by the 
manufacturing partners and marketing of 
products. This represents only a minor part 
of the environmental impacts over the entire 
life cycle of the products. Products manu-
factured by the Company have only minor 
general environmental impacts.

Bittium Corporation renewed its global en-
vironmental management system certifica-
tion according to ISO 14001.2015 standard in 
June 2016.  Company is monitoring globally 
the environmental requirements for prod-
ucts and derived national regulations to the 
extent that they are related to the company 
operations. Bittium has also observed and 
applied the requirements of the ROHS (use 
of hazardous substances) and WEEE (recy-
cling of electrical and electronic equipment) 
directives in design since 2002. 

The applied environmental standards and 
regulations in company operations have 
been consolidated as uniform Bittium sub-
stance list, applicable also to Bittium´s sig-
nificant suppliers. The biannually updated 
substance list includes, in addition to the 
compliance of ROHS and REACH directives, 
the substance requirements applicable in 
different market areas against which identi-
fication of materials is made if needed. Fur-
ther, materials declaration list observes cer-
tain customer specific requirements. 

Company has further updated the require-
ments on a biannual basis and applied the 
proper environmental requirements to the 
products or solutions, in which Bittium has 
partial or total responsibility depending 
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on the application scope during 2016. The 
imposed requirements will be observed in 
business operations on a country-specif-
ic basis.
 
Bittium has continuously further developed 
company environmental reporting, based 
on which the 2016 environmental objectives 
have been followed. Company finalized its 
Energy Efficiency System implementation 
according to EES+ (ETJ+) standard to com-
plement certified ISO 14001 system. Bittium 
received certification for Energy Efficiency 
System (EES+) in June 2016. During 2017, 
Bittium will develop further environmental 
reporting related to sustainability reporting 
requirements. In addition, company is seek-
ing for opportunities to improve energy effi-
ciency of the new Oulu site, which is under 
construction.

Personnel
The Bittium group employed an average of 
569 people in between January and Decem-
ber 2016. At the end of December, the com-
pany had 623 employees (517 employees at 
the end of 2015). A significant part of Bit-
tium’s personnel are R&D engineers.  

Changes in the  
Company’s  
Management

Appointments in the  
Company’s Management

On April 27, 2016 Bittium announced follow-
ing appointments in the company’s man-
agement group:

M.Sc. Sami Kotkajuuri (b. 1967) was appoint-
ed as Vice President, Business Develop-
ment as of May 1, 2016. Kotkajuuri had been 
working at Bittium since 2009. As his latest 
task, he was responsible for the IoT (Inter-
net of Things) Solutions product and service 
area, where Bittium offers R&D services and 
customized solutions for companies need-
ing wireless connectivity for their devices. 
Kotkajuuri continued as a member of the 

company’s management group reporting 
to Hannu Huttunen, CEO.

M.Sc. Klaus Mäntysaari (b. 1966) was ap-
pointed as Vice President, Connectivity 
Solutions as of May 1, 2016. Mäntysaari has 
been working at Bittium since 2004. Previ-
ously he was responsible for Telecom prod-
uct and service area, where Bittium offers 
R&D services for wireless telecommuni-
cation market. Mäntysaari continued as a 
member of the company’s management 
group reporting to Hannu Huttunen, CEO.

Changes in Bittium  
Corporation’s Organizational 
Structure and  
Management Group

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpora-
tion decided on changes in the company’s 
organizational structure and management 
group to support the company’s updated 
strategy that was announced on November 
24, 2016. According to its strategy, Bittium’s 
business focuses on three product and ser-
vice areas: Defense & Security, Connectivity 
Solutions and Medical Technologies.

Mr. Jari Sankala (M.Sc. Electrical Engineer-
ing, Digital Communications) was appoint-
ed as Senior Vice President, Defense & Se-
curity product and service area. Mr. Sankala 
has been working at Bittium since 2011 and 
transfers to his new position from the head 
of sales. In Bittium’s new organizational 
structure, the sales operations are managed 
by the product and service areas. Mr. Klaus 
Mäntysaari (M.Sc.) continued as Vice Pres-
ident, Connectivity Solutions product and 
service area. He has been working at Bittium 
since 2004. Mr. Arto Pietilä M.Sc. (Applied 
Electronics) was appointed as Senior Vice 
President, Medical Technologies product 
and service area. Mr. Pietilä has been work-
ing at Bittium since 2001, among others as 
head of operations, head of Contract R&D 
business and as head of Wireless Solutions 
business. Prior to Bittium, Mr. Pietilä acted 
as the Managing Director of Polar Electro Oy.
Mr. Sami Kotkajuuri, head of business devel-
opment, decided to move on to new chal-
lenges outside of Bittium and resigned from 
the company’s service. Mr. Kotkajuuri contin-
ued his duties until the end of the year 2016.

As of December 1, 2016 Bittium manage-
ment group consisted of following persons: 
Mr. Hannu Huttunen, CEO (chairman); Mr. 
Pekka Kunnari, CFO; Mr. Kari Jokela, CLO; 
Ms. Karoliina Fyrstén, Director, Corporate 
Communications and Marketing; heads of 
product and service areas: Mr. Jari Sanka-
la, Mr. Klaus Mäntysaari, and Mr. Arto Pietilä; 
and Mr. Jari-Pekka Innanen, Vice President, 
Engineering.

Incentive Systems

Stock Option Program
2008A-C
The Annual General Meeting decided on 
March 14, 2008 that there is a weighty finan-
cial reason for the company to issue stock 
options since the stock options are intended 
for use as part of the incentive and commit-
ment program for key personnel.

The maximum total number of stock options 
was 4,200,000, of which 1,400,000 were 
marked with the symbol 2008A, 1,400,000 
with the symbol 2008B, and 1,400,000 with 
the symbol 2008C. The stock options enti-
tled to subscription of a maximum total of 
4,200,000 new shares of the company or 
treasury shares.

The subscription price for the shares to be 
subscribed based on the stock options was 
based on the prevailing market value of the 
Bittium Corporation share at Nasdaq Hel-
sinki in January 2009, January 2010 and 
January 2011. 

At the end of the year 2015, 1,292,322 stock 
options with symbol 2008A, 1,089,000 stock 
options with symbol 2008B, and 1,385,000 
stock options with symbol 2008C were dis-
tributed to the key employees of Bittium 
Corporation.

A total of 55,498 new shares in Bittium Cor-
poration were subscribed for between De-
cember 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016 by vir-
tue of the option rights 2008C. The share 
subscription period for stock options 2008C 
ended on March 31, 2016.
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Variable Pay System

A limited amount of Bittium’s employees are 
participating into Variable Pay (VP) program. 
The criteria for the short-term merit pay are 
the financial strategic targets of the com-
pany. In addition, part of the targets may 
be other company’s objectives or personal 
targets. Personal targets vary between du-
ties. In 2016, the operating profit formed the 
financial targets. 

In 2016, the earning period for the Variable 
Pay was the calendar year. The targets are 
determined separately for each earnings 
period. The setting of targets and the re-
view of their achievement is decided on 
one-over-one basis.

Directed Share Issue  
without Consideration 

Based on the authorization granted by Bit-
tium Corporation´s Annual General Meet-
ing of Shareholders held on April 15, 2015, 
the Board of Directors of Bittium Corpora-
tion decided on March 22, 2016 on a direct-
ed share issue without consideration as re-
ward payments to the key persons of the 
company and its subsidiaries. In the share 
issue, 37,500 new shares were issued with-
out consideration to the key persons enti-
tled to the share bonus. The share bonus 
was issued to 8 key persons of the compa-
ny defined by the Board of Directors, with 
the condition that they must be employed 
by Bittium Corporation or its subsidiaries at 
the time of payment of the share bonus. The 
shares issued in the directed share issue 
without consideration are subject to restric-
tions on the right of disposal until Decem-
ber 31, 2018. However, the Board of Directors 
may grant permission to dispose or use the 
shares prior to the given date. The shares 
were registered to the trade register and on 
the book-entry accounts of the recipients 
on March 24, 2016, and became subjects to 
trading on the trading list of Nasdaq Helsinki 
on March 29, 2016. The CEO received 10,000 
shares of Bittium Corporation, and the rest 
of the members of the Management Group 
received in total 27,500 shares of Bittium 
Corporation.

Option Rights
The Annual General Meeting of March 14, 
2008, decided to issue stock options to 
Bittium group’s (former Elektrobit group) 
key personnel. The maximum number of 
stock options was 4,200,000, of which 
1,400,000 were marked with the symbol 
2008A, 1,400,000 shall be marked with the 
symbol 2008B and 1,400,000 were marked 
with the symbol 2008C. The stock options 
entitled to subscription of a maximum to-
tal of 4,200,000 new shares of the compa-
ny or treasury shares. The proportion of the 
shares that were to be subscribed using the 
stock options to be issued was a maximum 
total of 3.1 percent of the company’s shares 
and associated voting rights after a possible 
share subscription, were new shares to be 
issued in the subscription. The subscription 
price for the shares to be subscribed based 
on the stock options was based on the pre-
vailing market value of the Bittium Corpo-
ration share at Nasdaq Helsinki in January 
2009, January 2010 and January 2011. The 
subscription price was to be recorded in the 
fund for invested unrestricted equity. The 
share subscription period for stock options 
2008A is 1 April 2012–31 March 2014, for 
stock options 2008B 1 April 2013–31 March 
2015, and for stock options 2008C 1 April 
2014–31 March 2016.

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpora-
tion decided on June 5, 2013 on the trans-
fer of stock options 2008A and 2008B to 
the Finnish book-entry system and to apply 
for listing of 1,400,000 stock options 2008A 
and of 1,400,000 stock options 2008B on 
the official list of Nasdaq Helsinki. The trad-
ing with the stock options started on June 
17, 2013. The share subscription period for 
stock options 2008A ended on March 31, 
2014 and the share subscription period for 
stock options 2008B ended on March 31, 
2015.

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpora-
tion decided on the transfer of series 2008C 
stock options to the Finnish book-entry sys-
tem on December 20, 2013 and applied for 
listing of 1,400,000 stock options 2008C 
on the official list of Nasdaq Helsinki. Ap-
plication was made for the listing to com-

mence on April 1, 2014. The share subscrip-
tion period for series 2008C stock options 
commenced on April 1, 2014 and ended on 
March 31, 2016.

A total of 55,498 new shares in Bittium Cor-
poration were subscribed for between De-
cember 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016 by vir-
tue of the option rights 2008C. The share 
subscription price, EUR 30,523.90 was re-
corded in the company’s invested non-re-
stricted equity fund. The corresponding in-
creases in the number of the company’s 
shares were entered into the Finnish Trade 
Register on February 10, 2016 and April 14, 
2016. Shareholder rights by virtue of the new 
shares commenced as of the abovemen-
tioned registration entry date. Trading with 
the newly registered shares started on Feb-
ruary 11, 2016 and April 15, 2016 as an addi-
tional lot of Bittium Corporation’s shares in 
Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. More information and 
terms and conditions of stock options 2008 
are available in the Company’s web pages at  
www.bittium.com/investor_relations.

Authorizations of the 
Board of Directors at 
the End of the  
Reporting Period

Authorizing the Board of Directors to  
Decide on the Repurchase of the  
Company’s Own Shares
The Annual General Meeting held on April 
19, 2016 authorized the Board of Directors 
to decide on the repurchase of the compa-
ny’s own shares as follows.

The amount of own shares to be repur-
chased shall not exceed 3,500,000 shares, 
which corresponds to approximately 9.83 
percent of all of the shares in the company. 

Only the unrestricted equity of the company 
can be used to repurchase own shares on 
the basis of the authorization. Own shares 
can be repurchased at a price formed in 
public trading on the date of the repurchase 
or otherwise at a price formed on the mar-
ket. The Board of Directors decides how own 
shares will be repurchased. Own shares can 
be repurchased using, inter alia, derivatives. 
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Own shares can be repurchased otherwise 
than in proportion to the shareholdings of 
the shareholders (directed repurchase).

The authorization cancelled the authoriza-
tion given by the General Meeting on April 
15, 2015 to decide on the repurchase of the 
company’s own shares. The authorization 
is effective until June 30, 2017.

Authorizing the Board of Directors to  
Decide on the Issuance of Shares as well 
as the Issuance of Special Rights Enti-
tling to Shares
The Annual General Meeting held on April 
19, 2016 authorized the Board of Directors to 
decide on the issuance of shares and spe-
cial rights entitling to shares referred to in 
chapter 10 section 1 of the Companies Act 
as follows.

The amount of shares to be issued shall 
not exceed 7,000,000 shares, which corre-
sponds to approximately 19.66 percent of 
all of the shares in the company. The Board 
of Directors decides on all the conditions of 
the issuance of shares and of special rights 
entitling to shares. The authorization con-
cerns both the issuance of new shares as 
well as the transfer of treasury shares. The 
issuance of shares and of special rights en-
titling to shares may be carried out in devi-
ation from the shareholders’ pre-emptive 
rights (directed issue). 

The authorization cancelled the authoriza-
tion given by the General Meeting on April 15, 
2015 to decide on the issuance of shares as 
well as the issuance of special rights enti-
tling to shares referred to in Chapter 10 Sec-
tion 1 of the Companies Act. The authoriza-
tion is effective until June 30, 2017.

Shares and  
Shareholders

The shares of Bittium Corporation are quot-
ed on Nasdaq Helsinki. The company has 
one series of shares. All shares entitle their 
holders to dividends of equal value. Each 
share has one vote. The share does not have 
a nominal value. The company’s shares 

have been entered into the Euroclear Fin-
land Ltd.’s book-entry securities system.

At the end of the financial period, the fully 
paid share capital of the company entered 
into the Finnish Trade Register was EUR 
12,941,269.00 and the total number of the 
shares was 35,693,166. The accounting par 
value of the company’s share is EUR 0.10. 
The company does not have its own shares 
in its possession.

Shareholding and control related informa-
tion is presented in section 34 of the notes 
to the Financial Statement.

Flagging Notifications

There were no changes in the ownership 
during the period under review that would 
have caused flagging notifications which 
are obligations for disclosure in accordance 
with Chapter 2, section 9 of the Securities 
Market Act. 

Notifications of  
Managers’  
Transactions

August 11, 2016: Name of the person sub-
ject to the notification requirement: Sep-
po Laine, other senior manager. Notification 
type: Initial notification. Nature of transac-
tion: Disposal. Executed under portfolio or 
asset management. Transaction date: Au-
gust 8, 2016. Aggregated transactions: vol-
ume 20,000 shares, volume weighted aver-
age price: EUR 5.90100.

August 22, 2016: Name of the person sub-
ject to the notification requirement: Jari 
Sankala, other senior manager. Notification 
type: Initial notification. Nature of transac-
tion: Acquisition. Executed under portfolio 
or asset management. Transaction date: 
August 17, 2016. Aggregated transactions: 
volume 2,408 shares, volume weighted av-
erage price: EUR 5.90000. 

August 22, 2016: Name of the person sub-
ject to the notification requirement: Jari 
Sankala, other senior manager. Notification 
type: Initial notification. Nature of transac-
tion: Acquisition. Executed under portfolio 
or asset management. Transaction date: 
August 19, 2016. Aggregated transactions: 
volume 15,092 shares, volume weighted av-
erage price: EUR 6.020000.

September 22, 2016: Name of the person 
subject to the notification requirement: Erk-
ki Veikkolainen, member of the Board of Di-
rectors. Notification type: Initial notification. 
Nature of transaction: Receipt of a Share-
Based Incentive. Transaction date: Sep-
tember 19, 2016. Aggregated transactions: 
volume 2,400 shares, volume weighted av-
erage price: EUR 6.79253.

September 22, 2016: Name of the person 
subject to the notification requirement: 
Staffan Simberg, member of the Board of 
Directors. Notification type: Initial notifi-
cation. Nature of transaction: Receipt of a 
Share-Based Incentive. Transaction date: 
September 19, 2016. Aggregated transac-
tions: volume 1 ,71 shares, volume weighted 
average price: EUR 6.79248.

September 22, 2016: Name of the person 
subject to the notification requirement: 
Seppo Mäkinen, member of the Board of 
Directors. Notification type: Initial notifi-
cation. Nature of transaction: Receipt of a 
Share-Based Incentive. Transaction date: 
September 19, 2016. Aggregated transac-
tions: volume 1,371 shares, volume weight-
ed average price: EUR 6.79247.

September 22, 2016: Name of the person 
subject to the notification requirement: 
Juha Putkiranta, member of the Board of 
Directors. Notification type: Initial notifi-
cation. Nature of transaction: Receipt of a 
Share-Based Incentive. Transaction date: 
September 19, 2016. Aggregated transac-
tions: volume 1,371 shares, volume weight-
ed average price: EUR 6.79243.

September 22, 2016: Name of the person 
subject to the notification requirement: Kir-
si Komi, member of the Board of Directors. 
Notification type: Initial notification. Nature 
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of transaction: Receipt of a Share-Based 
Incentive. Transaction date: September  
19, 2016. Aggregated transactions: volume  
1,371 shares, volume weighted average 
price: EUR 6.79238.

Board of Directors, 
Board Committees  
and Auditor
The Annual General Meeting held on April 
19, 2016 decided that the Board of Directors 
shall comprise five (5) members. Ms. Kirsi 
Komi, Mr. Seppo Mäkinen, Mr. Juha Putkiran-
ta, Mr. Staffan Simberg and Mr. Erkki Veikko-

lainen were elected members of the Board 
of Directors for a term of office expiring at 
the end of the next Annual General Meeting.

In the assembly meeting held on April 19, 
2016 the Board of Directors elected Erkki 
Veikkolainen as the Chairman of the Board. 
Further, the Board resolved to keep the Au-
dit and Financial Committee. Staffan Sim-
berg (Chairman of the committee) and Kirsi 
Komi were elected as members of the Audit 
and Financial Committee and Seppo Laine, 
Authorized Public Accountant was invited to 
the Audit and Financial Committee as exter-
nal advisor of the Board of Directors. Later 
in 2016 the Audit and Financial Committee 
was renamed as Audit Committee.

The Annual General Meeting held on April 
19, 2016 re-elected Ernst & Young Oy, autho-
rized public accountants, as the auditor of 
the company for a term of office ending at 
the end of the next Annual General Meeting. 
Ernst & Young Oy notified that Mr. Juhani 
Rönkkö, authorized public accountant, will 
act as responsible auditor. 

Corporate Governance 
Statement

The Board of Directors has issued the corpo-
rate governance statement separate from 
this report.
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Dividend from 2015
The Annual General Meeting held on April 
19, 2016 decided in accordance with the 
proposal of the Board of Directors to pay 
EUR 0.05 per share as dividend based on 
the adopted balance sheet for the financial 
period January 1, 2015–December 31, 2015 
and EUR 0.25 per share as additional divi-
dend. The dividend was paid to the share-
holders who are registered as shareholders 
in the company’s register of shareholders 
as maintained by Euroclear Finland Ltd on 
the dividend record date Thursday, April 21, 
2016. The dividend was paid on Thursday, 
April 28, 2016.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

CONTINUING OPERATIONS, 1000 EUR Notes
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2016
Jan. 1–

Dec. 31, 2015

NET SALES 1, 3 64 192 56 813
Other operating income 4 1 891 1 394
Change in work in progress and finished goods
Work performed by the undertaking for its own purpose and capitalized 381 166
Raw materials −5 057 −5 504
Personnel expenses 7 −35 492 −30 265
Depreciation 6 −3 263 −2 512
Other operating expenses 5 −20 110 −17 784

OPERATING PROFIT 2 541 2 308

Financial income and expenses 9 604 −196

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 3 146 2 112
Income tax 10 359 229

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 3 505 2 341
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 2 538 983

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 3 505 541 323

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to the statement of income
   Exchange differences on translating foreign operations −34 144

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 3 471 541 467

Profit for the year attributable to
   Equity holders of the parent 3 505 541 323
Total 3 505 541 323

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to
   Equity holders of the parent 3 471 541 467
Total 3 471 541 467

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the shareholders of the parent company: 11
   Earnings per share from continuing operations, EUR
     Basic earnings per share 0.098 0.020
     Diluted earnings per share 0.098 0.020
  Earnings per share from discontinued operations, EUR
     Basic earnings per share 4.687
     Diluted earnings per share 4.685
  Earnings per share from continuing and discontinued operations, EUR
     Basic earnings per share 0.098 4.708
     Diluted earnings per share 0.098 4.706

Average number of shares, 1000 pcs 35 670 114 983
Average number of shares, diluted, 1000 pcs 35 670 115 037
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

 1000 EUR Notes Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 12 12 591 4 111
Goodwill 13 6 737 1 440
Intangible asssets 13 9 278 7 553
Other financial assets 15 132 122
Deferred tax assets 16 1 516 1 156
Total 30 254 14 382

Current assets
Inventories 17 4 097 2 190
Trade and other receivables 18 24 018 19 956
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 66 935 66 100
Cash and short-term deposits 20 27 987 56 751
Total 123 038 144 996

Total assets 153 292 159 378

Equity and liabilities
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 21
Share capital 12 941 12 941
Translation differences 1 158 1 192
Invested non-restricted equity fund 25 953 25 923
Retained earnings 90 562 97 526
Total 130 615 137 582

Non-controlling interests
Total equity 130 615 137 582

Non-current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities 16 461 90
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (non-current) 24 1 956 745
Other non-current liabilities, non-interest bearing 25 602
Provisions 23 48 1 146
Total 3 067 1 982

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 25 16 176 17 948
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 25 6 0
Provisions 23 2 230 1 207
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (current) 24 1 198 658
Total 19 610 19 814

Total liabilities 22 677 21 796

Total equity and liabilities 153 292 159 378
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

 
1000 EUR Notes

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2016

Jan. 1–
Dec. 31, 2015

Cash flow from operating activities
Profit for the year from continuing operations 3 505 2 341
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 538 983
Adjustments
   Effects of non-cash business activities 27 2 434 6 419
   Conveyance profits of shares in subsidiaries 27 −538 144
   Finance costs 9 300 1 265
   Finance income 9 −904 −673
  Income tax 10 −359 2 034
Change in net working capital
   Change in short-term receivables 18 −3 276 −5 895
   Change in inventories 17 −827 −284
   Change in interest-free short-term liabilities 25 −3 515 −32
Interest paid on operating activities −370 −1 588
Interest and dividend received from operating activities 903 918
Income taxes paid 411 −3 237

Net cash from operating activities −1 698 2 107

Cash flow from investing activities
Disposal of business unit, net of cash acquired 2 588 226
Acquisition of business unit, net cash acquired 14 −6 354 −1 801
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 12 −7 032 −2 505
Purchase of intangible assets 13 −1 169 −4 349
Sale of property, plant and equipment 12 31 1
Sale of intangible assets 13 59
Proceeds from sale of other investments

Net cash from investing activities −14 524 579 631

Cash flows from financing activities
Share option plans exercised 22 30 820
Proceeds from borrowing 24 14 592
Repayment of borrowing 24 −86 −17 544
Payment of finance lease liabilities 24 −874 −1 281
Dividend paid and capital repayment −10 708 −5 290
Purchase of own shares −493 527

Net cash from financing activities −11 638 −502 231

Net change in cash and cash equivalents 20 −27 861 79 508
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 122 783 43 275
Change in fair value of investments
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 94 922 122 783
 
Cash and cash equivalents include liquid and low risk financing securities.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

1000 EUR
Share

capital

Invested
non-

restricted 
equity fund

Translation
difference

Retained 
earnings

Non-
controlling

interests Total

Shareholders equity 1.1.2016 12 941 25 923 1 192 97 526 0 137 582
Comprehensive income for the period
   Profit for the period 3 505 3 505
   Exchange differences on translating 
   foreign operations −34 −34
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 −34 3 505 0 3 471
Transactions between the shareholders
   Share issue 31 31
   Share-related compensation 246 246
   Dividend distribution −10 708 −10 708
Other changes −6 −6
Shareholders equity 31.12.2016 12 941 25 953 1 158 90 562 0 130 615

Shareholders equity 1.1.2015 12 941 25 103 1 513 53 850 0 93 407
Comprehensive income for the period
   Profit for the period 541 323 541 323
   Exchange differences on translating 
   foreign operations 144 144
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 0 144 541 323 0 541 467
Transactions between the shareholders
  Share issue 820 820
  Share-related compensation 63 63
  Dividend distribution −5 290 −5 290
  Purchase of own shares incl. 
  transaction costs −493 527 −493 527
Other changes −465 1 107 642
Shareholders equity 31.12.2015 12 941 25 923 1 192 97 526 0 137 582

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent



60

Bittium Annual Report 2016

Report by the Board of Directors and Financial Statements

Corporate Information
The company’s field of activities is the de-
velopment, production and selling of soft-
ware, equipment and other products for the 
automotive and electronics industry, the 
production of R&D services and other ser-
vices as well as other industrial operations. 
The company may administer product and 
other rights and conduct research and de-
velopment operations, hold and trade se-
curities and real estate and conduct other 
investment activities.

The parent company of the Group is Bittium 
Corporation, which is a Finnish public com-
pany. The parent company is domiciled in 
Oulu and its registered address is Tutkijan-
tie 8, 90590 Oulu.

Accounting Principles 
for the Consolidated 
Accounts
Basis of Preparation

The consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in accordance with Interna-
tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 
as well as the SIC and IFRIC interpretations 
in force at December 31, 2016. The financial 
statements are presented in thousands of 
euro. The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared on a historical cost ba-
sis unless otherwise indicated.  

Consolidation 
Principles

The consolidated financial statements of 
Bittium include the financial statements of 
the parent company Bittium Corporation 
and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements in-
clude Bittium Corporation and its subsid-
iaries financial statements. Subsidiaries are 
companies in which the Bittium Corporation 
has a controlling interest. A controlling inter-
est arises when the Group holds more than 
half of the voting rights or it otherwise has 
the power to govern the financial and oper-
ating policies of the entity. The existence of 
potential voting rights is taken into account 
in assessing the conditions under which 
control arises whenever instruments con-
ferring potential voting rights can be exer-
cised at the review date.

Joint Arrangements

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of 
which two or more parties, bound by a con-
tractual agreement, have joint control. Joint 
arrangements are classified, as either joint 
operations or joint ventures, dependent on 
the controlling parties’ rights and obliga-
tions. Bittium does not have joint arrange-
ments at the end of the period.

Elimination of 
Intra-group Transactions

Intra-group share ownership has been elim-
inated by means of the purchase method. 
Acquired subsidiaries are included in the 
consolidated financial statements from the 
time when the Group has obtained control, 
and divested subsidiaries up to the time 
when control ceases. The excess of the ac-
quisition cost of the subsidiary shares over 
fair value of the net assets acquired is allo-
cated partly to the identifiable assets and li-
abilities. Any excess is recorded as goodwill. 
Business combinations that occurred be-
fore the implementation of IFRS, in 2004, the 
carrying amount of the goodwill has been 
treated according to the Finnish GAAP in ac-

cordance with the exemption under IFRS 1. 
According to IFRS goodwill is not amortized 
but tested annually for impairment.

Intra-group transactions, receivables, liabil-
ities and margins are eliminated in prepa-
ration of the consolidated financial state-
ments. 

Foreign Currency Transactions

Figures relating to the financial statements 
of Group entities are measured in the cur-
rency that is the currency of each entity’s 
main operating environment (“function-
al currency”). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in euros, which 
is the functional currency of the Group’s par-
ent company.

Transactions denominated in foreign cur-
rency are recorded in euros using the ex-
change rate on the date of the transaction. 
Monetary items denominated in foreign cur-
rency are translated to euros using the Eu-
ropean Central Bank exchange rates at the 
balance sheet date. Gains and losses arising 
from transactions denominated in foreign 
currency and the translation of monetary 
items are recorded in the income statement.

Income statements and cash flows of sub-
sidiaries, whose functional and reporting 
currency is not the euro, are translated into 
euros at the average exchange rates during 
the financial period. Their balance sheets 
are translated at the exchange rates pre-
vailing at the balance sheet date. Translat-
ing the profit for the period using different 
rates in the income statement and the bal-
ance sheet leads to a translation difference 
that is recorded in equity. The translation 
differences arising from the elimination of 
the cost of foreign subsidiaries are record-
ed in equity. When a subsidiary is sold, the 
cumulative translation differences are en-

Notes to the Consolidated 
Financial Statements
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tered in the income statement as part of the 
capital gain or loss. 

Cumulative exchange differences arising 
from the translation of internal long term 
loans, which are in actual terms net invest-
ments in foreign operations, are taken di-
rectly to a separate component of equity.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of 
foreign operations as well as fair value ad-
justments made to the carrying amounts 
of the assets and liabilities of said foreign 
operations in connection with an acquisi-
tion are treated as the assets and liabilities 
of said foreign operations and translated to 
euros using the exchange rates at the bal-
ance sheet date. 

Property, Plant 
and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are mea-
sured at historical cost less depreciation 
and impairment losses. Assets of acquired 
companies are stated at their fair values at 
the date of acquisition.

Assets are depreciated using the straight-
line or reducing balance method over their 
useful life.

The residual value of assets and their useful 
life are reviewed periodically in connection 
with each set of financial statements and 
the interim report and, if necessary, they are 
adjusted to reflect changes that have oc-
curred in the expectations for the asset’s 
useful life. Ordinary repair and maintenance 
costs are charged to the income statement 
during the financial year in which they in-
curred. Gains and losses on sales and dis-
posals are determined by comparing the re-
ceived proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are included in operating profit.

Intangible Assets
Goodwill

After January 1, 2004 the cost of goodwill is 
the excess of the cost of the business com-
bination over the acquirer’s interest in the 
net fair value of the identifiable assets. The 
goodwill arising from the business combi-
nations prior to this represents the amount 
recorded under previous GAAP, which has 
been used as the deemed cost. The classi-
fication and accounting treatment of these 
business combinations has not been ad-
justed when the Group’s opening IFRS bal-
ance sheet has been prepared.

Goodwill is tested annually or, if necessary, 
more frequently to determine any impair-
ment. For this purpose, goodwill has been 
allocated to cash-generating units. The re-
coverable amount of a cash generating unit 
is compared to its carrying amount and an 
impairment loss is recognized if the carrying 
amount of the assets exceeds the recover-
able amount. An impairment loss is recog-
nized in the income statement.

Research and 
Development Expenditure

Research expenditures are recorded as an 
expense as they are incurred. Expenditure 
on development activities is capitalized if 
they meet the criteria defined in IAS 38 In-
tangible Asset. Capitalized development ex-
penses include mainly materials, supplies 
and direct labor costs. They are amortized 
on a systematic basis over their expected 
useful lives.

Capitalized development expenses are re-
viewed for potential impairment regularly 
by comparing the carrying amount to their 
recoverable amount. Significant changes 
in the technological environment are taken 

into account. If the carrying amount of the 
development expenses is greater than the 
recoverable amount, an impairment loss is 
recognized immediately.

Other Intangible Assets

Patents, trademarks, licenses and other 
intangible assets having a finite useful life 
are entered in the balance sheet and the 
amortized expense is recorded in the in-
come statement over their useful life. If in-
dications on possible impairment exist, the 
recoverable amount is determined and an 
impairment loss is recognized if necessary. 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life are not amortized but tested annually or, 
if necessary, more frequently to determine 
any impairment. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of ini-
tial cost or net realizable value. Net realiz-
able value is the estimated selling price in 
the normal course of business less the esti-
mated costs of sale. The value of raw mate-
rial inventory is determined using a weighted 
average cost formula. The initial cost of fin-
ished and semi-finished products compris-
es of raw material, direct labor and other di-
rect expenses as well an appropriate share 
of fixed and variable production overheads, 
based on the normal capacity of the produc-
tion facilities.

Borrowing Costs

Borrowing costs are recognized in the in-
come statement as they accrue.

Government Grants

Government grants are recognized when 
there is reasonable assurance that Group 
will comply with the conditions attaching to 
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them and the grant will be received. Govern-
ment grants received from public corpora-
tions are presented as other income in the 
income statement.

Leases

When the Group is a lessee, all lease con-
tracts of property, plant and equipment, in 
which the Group has substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership, are clas-
sified as finance leases. A finance lease 
agreement is recognized in the balance 
sheet at an amount equal at the inception 
of the lease to the fair value of the leased 
property or, if lower, at the present value of 
the minimum lease payments. An asset ob-
tained on a finance lease is depreciated over 
the useful life of the asset or, if shorter, the 
lease term. Lease obligations are included 
in interest-bearing liabilities.

Lease agreements in which the risks and 
benefits attached to ownership remain with 
the lessor are classified as operating leases. 
Lease payments under an operating lease 
are recognized as an expense in the income 
statement on a straight line basis over the 
lease term.

Impairment of Assets

At each balance sheet date (including in-
terim reports) the Group estimates whether 
there is any indication that an asset may be 
impaired. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimat-
ed. The recoverable amount is estimated 
annually regardless of any indication of im-
pairment to the following assets: goodwill, 
intangible assets with an indefinite useful 
life and for intangible assets which are not 
yet ready for use. The recoverable amount 
is based on the future discounted net cash 
flows, which are equivalent with the expect-
ed cash flows generated by the asset. 

An impairment loss is recognized whenever 
the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable value. The loss is booked to the 
income statement. A previously recognized 
impairment loss is reversed only if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to de-
termine the recoverable amount. However, 
the reversal must not cause that the adjust-
ed value is higher than the carrying amount 
that would have been determined if no im-
pairment loss had been recognized in pri-
or years. Impairment losses recognized for 
goodwill will under no circumstances be re-
versed.

Employee Benefits
Pension Liabilities

Group companies in different countries 
have pension plans in accordance with lo-
cal conditions and practices. The plans are 
classified as either defined contribution 
plans or defined benefit plans. 

In Finland, the Group has organized pension 
coverage for its staff through independent 
pension insurance companies. 

The Finnish system under the Employees’ 
Pensions Act and the disability portion are 
treated as a defined contribution plan. The 
contributions to defined contribution plans 
are charged to the income statement in 
the year to which they relate. After this, the 
Group has no other obligations for addition-
al payment. Also the pension arrangements 
of the foreign subsidiaries are classified as 
defined contribution plans.

Share-Based Payment

The Group has applied IFRS 2 Share-Based 
Payment standard. The Group has incen-
tive plans which include equity-settled or 

cash-settled share-based payment trans-
actions. The fair value of equity-settled 
share-based payments granted is recog-
nized as an employee expense with a cor-
responding increase in equity. The fair val-
ue of cash-settled share-based payments 
is valued at each reporting period closing 
date and the changes in fair value of liability 
are recognized as expense when incurred. 
The fair value is measured at grant date and 
spread over the vesting period during which 
the employees become unconditionally en-
titled to the awards.

Option rights and shares granted are mea-
sured at fair value at the time they are grant-
ed and entered as an expense in the income 
statement in even installments during the 
vesting period. The expense determined is 
based on the defined fair value of the stock 
options and shares as well as on manage-
ment’s estimate of the amount of options or 
shares to which the employee will be enti-
tled at the end of the vesting period. The fair 
value of the options is determined on the ba-
sis of the Black-Scholes pricing model. The 
Group updates the assumption concern-
ing the final amount of stock options and 
shares at each balance sheet date. Chang-
es in the estimates are recorded in the in-
come statement. When options are exer-
cised, the cash payments received on the 
basis of share subscriptions (adjusted for 
any transaction expenses) are entered in 
the share capital (at nominal value) and in 
the share premium reserve.

Share-based incentives are measured at 
fair value at the time they are granted and 
entered as an expense in the income state-
ment when right is granted.

Provisions

A provision is recognized when the Group 
has a legal or constructive obligation as a 
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result of a past event, it is probable that a 
payment obligation will be realized or cause 
a financial loss and the amount of the obli-
gation can be estimated reliably. Provisions 
can arise from restructuring plans, onerous 
contracts, warranty repairs and allowanc-
es and from environmental, litigation or tax 
risks.

The amount recognized as a provision is the 
best estimate of the expenditure required to 
settle the present obligation at the balance 
sheet date. If the time value of money is ma-
terial, provisions will be discounted.

If a reimbursement can be obtained from a 
third party for part of the obligation, the re-
imbursement is treated as a separate as-
set when it is virtually certain that the re-
imbursement will be received.

Taxes

Tax expense in the Group’s income state-
ment comprises the current tax and change 
in deferred taxes of each group company. 
Current tax is calculated based on the tax-
able income using the tax rate that is en-
acted in each country at the balance sheet 
date.

Deferred tax liability is calculated on the 
temporary differences between the car-
rying amounts and the amounts used for 
taxation purposes. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for deductible temporary differ-
ences and tax losses to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profit will be avail-
able against which tax credits and deduct-
ible temporary differences can be utilized. 
In calculating deferred tax liabilities and as-
sets, the tax base which is in force at the 
time of preparing the financial statements 
or which has been enacted by the balance 
sheet date for the following period, has been 
applied.

Revenue Recognition

Sales of goods are recognized after the sig-
nificant risks and rewards that are connect-
ed with ownership have been transferred to 
the buyer. Neither the Group retains a con-
tinuing managerial involvement to the de-
gree usually associated with ownership, nor 
effective control of those goods. Revenues 
from services are recorded when the service 
has been performed. Sales are presented 
net of indirect sales taxes and discounts.

Revenue from long-term construction con-
tracts is recognized based on the stage of 
completion when the outcome of the proj-
ect can be reliably measured. The stage of 
completion is measured by using the cost-
to-cost method under which the percentage 
of completion is defined as the ratio of costs 
incurred to total estimated costs. 

Assets Held for Sale 
and Discontinued Operations

The Group classifies a non-current as-
set or disposal as held for sale if its car-
rying amount will be recovered principal-
ly through a sale transaction rather than 
through continuing use. Non-current as-
sets and asset items related to discontin-
ued operations, which are classified as held 
for sale, are measured at the lower of their 
carrying amount and fair value less costs to 
sell. Depreciation and amortization on these 
asset items is discontinued at the time of 
classification. Profit after tax and gain on 
sale of discontinued operation is presented 
as a separate line item in the consolidated 
income statement.

Profit for the year from discontinued opera-
tions is presented separately in Consolidat-
ed Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Discontinued operations are disclosed in 
note 2.  

Financial Assets, 
Financial Liabilities and 
Derivative Contracts

Financial Assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified 
in accordance with IAS 39 Financial Instru-
ments: Recognition and Measurement in 
the following categories: financial assets at 
fair value through profit or loss, held-to-ma-
turity investments, loans and receivables 
and financial assets held for sale. The clas-
sification is based on the purpose for which 
the assets have been acquired and they are 
classified upon acquisition.
 
A financial asset is classified at fair value 
through profit or loss, when it has been ac-
quired for trading purposes. The category 
comprises the Group’s investment portfo-
lio and all derivative contracts. The consol-
idated balance sheet does not contain as-
sets that would be classified in this category 
upon initial recognition as allowed under the 
fair value option of IAS 39. Realized and un-
realized gains and losses from changes in 
fair values are recognized in profit or loss 
in the financial year they are incurred. The 
assets are in accordance with their nature 
included in the non-current and current as-
sets of the balance sheet.  

Loans and receivables are assets other than 
derivative contracts with related payments 
that are fixed or determinable. They are not 
quoted on efficient markets and they are 
not held by the Group for trading purposes. 
They are valued at amortized cost. They are 
in accordance with their nature included in 
the current or long-term assets of the bal-
ance sheet: long-term if they fall due after 
more than 12 months.
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The Group has not had held-to-maturity in-
vestments during the financial or the prior 
financial year. In case of occurrence they 
are valued at amortized cost.

Financial assets held for sale are assets oth-
er than derivative contracts that have par-
ticularly been classified into this category 
or have not been classified into any other 
category. They are included in the balance 
sheet on the basis of their estimated date 
of sale. Assets to be sold within 12 months 
are included in current assets. Such finan-
cial assets are disclosed separately in the 
consolidated balance sheet if their carrying 
amount is significant. The change in fair val-
ue of the financial assets held for sale is rec-
ognised net of tax in the revaluation fund in 
equity. The cumulative change in fair value 
recognized in equity is recognized in profit 
or loss when the asset is sold or the asset 
has been impaired and an impairment loss 
has to be recognized. Investments, whose 
fair value may not be reliably established, 
are valued at cost or cost adjusted for a per-
manent impairment loss. 

Cash comprises cash on hand, bank depos-
its and other highly liquid investments. As-
sets classified as financial assets have a 
maximum maturity of three months from 
the date of acquisition. 

Transaction costs are included in the cost 
of financial assets that are not valued at fair 
value through profit or loss. The purchases 
and sales of financial assets are recognised 
at the trade date. 

Financial Liabilities

Financial liabilities are initially recognized at 
fair value. Transaction costs are included in 
the initial carrying amount of financial liabil-
ities. All financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Financial lia-
bilities are included in current and non-cur-

rent liabilities and may be interest-bearing 
or interest-free.

The bases for determining the fair value of 
all financial assets and liabilities have been 
disclosed in notes 19, 24 and 26.

The Impairment
of Financial Assets

The Group assesses whether objective in-
dications of the impairment of any financial 
assets exist at each balance sheet date. A 
loss is recognized in profit or loss as a rec-
ognized or probable credit loss, when there 
are indications that trade or loan receiv-
ables may not be collected in full. Impair-
ment losses on trade receivables are includ-
ed in other operating expenses and on loan 
receivables in financial expenses.

Impairment losses on financial assets rec-
ognized in the financial year are disclosed 
in notes 19 and 20. 

Derivative Contracts 
and Hedge Accounting

Derivative contracts are recognized at their 
fair value. Hedge accounting in accordance 
with IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recog-
nition and measurement is not applied. The 
change in fair value of hedging instruments 
is recognized in finance items in profit or 
loss.

The fair values of derivative contracts and 
the valuation methods used are disclosed 
in note 26.

Significant Accounting 
Estimates and Judgments

The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions about the future that af-
fects the reported amounts. Used estimates 

and assumptions are based on prior expe-
rience and presumptions, which reflect the 
circumstances and expectations prevailing 
at the time of the preparation of the financial 
statements. Materiality and judgment in as-
sessing the effect of uncertainties and the 
application of accounting principles have 
been observed in the preparation of the fi-
nancial statements. 

The management has exercised judgment 
during the financial year in applying e.g. in 
assessing the future cost forecasts in the 
percentage of completion projects, as-
sessing the value of intangible assets in 
business acquisitions and when assess-
ing the future prospects of Group compa-
nies in conjunction with standards IAS 12 
Income Taxes and IAS 36 Impairment of As-
sets. Based on the management judgment, 
the majority of the capitalized R& D invest-
ments are depreciated based on the pro-
duction amounts of the goods. 

Financial statements may include non-re-
curring income or expenses that are not re-
lated to normal operative business or that 
occur only infrequently. Such items are 
among other sales profits or losses, sub-
stantial changes in asset values, like impair-
ment or reversal of impairment, substan-
tial restructuring costs or other substantial 
items that are considered as non-recurring 
by the management. Substantiality of the 
item is based on the item’s euro amount and 
the relative share of total value of the asset. 

The Application of New 
and Revised IFRS regulations

The consolidated financial statements are 
prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) effec-
tive at the end of the period. The new, re-
vised or amended IFRS regulations did not 
have significant impact on the consolidat-
ed financial statements during the period. 
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The forthcoming revisions or amendments 
of the standards are not expected to have 
significant impact on the consolidated fi-
nancial statements in the future.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Cus-
tomers, coming in force on 1st of January 
2018, will provide the frame for revenue rec-
ognition. IFRS 15 will cover IAS 18 Revenue 
and IAS 11 Construction contracts stan-
dards. Bittium Group has started work to es-
timate impacts of the new standard during 
the financial year 2015. The new standard  
provides more focus especially on those 
contracts which include the various ele-
ments of revenue. The revenue of the differ-
ent elements is recognized over a long-term 

period and possibly by element basis. The 
Bittium Group has already noticed  multi-el-
ement principles of the new standard. Ac-
cording to the preliminary understanding, 
the new standard does not make any sub-
stantial impact to the timing principles of 
the revenue recognition at Bittium. During 
the financial year 2017, the Bittium Group 
will specify more closely impacts to the rev-
enue recognition, the revenue recognition 
process and estimate impact to the notes 
of the financial statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. OPERATING SEGMENTS

Bittium has one reporting business seg-
ment, the Wireless business, that includes 
three product and service areas supporting 
each other. As of December 1, 2016 these ar-
eas are as follows: Defence & Security, Con-
nectivity Solutions and Medical Techno- 
logies. (Between January 1 and November 
30, 2016 these product and service areas 
were as follows: Defense, Special Devices, 
IoT Solutions and Telecom.)

Wireless business is focused on creating 
reliable and secure communication and 
connectivity solutions, as well as on devel-
oping healthcare technology solutions for 
biosignal measuring. For its customers Bit-
tium offers innovative products and solu-
tions based on its product platforms, and 
R&D services. Bittium also offers high qual-
ity information security solutions for mo-
bile devices and portable computers. For 
customers in in biosignal measuring in the 
areas of cardiology, neurology, rehabilita-
tion, occupational health and sports med-

icine Bittium offers healthcare technology 
products and services.

The highest operative decision-making 
body of the company is the Board of Direc-
tors of Bittium which is responsible for al-
locating resources to and evaluating the 
results of Bittium’s operating segment. In-
come statement and balance sheet infor-
mation of the Wireless business are equiv-
alent to corresponding information of the 
Bittium group.
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Wireless

Geographical areas
Bittium operates in three geographical areas which are Europe, Americas and Asia. In presenting the geographical information, 
the revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. Geographical assets are based on the geographical location of 
the assets.

Geographical areas
Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2016

1000 EUR Finland
Other

Europe

 

Americas Asia Eliminations
Group

 total

Net sales
Sales to external customers 47 923 3 392 12 177 700 64 192

Non-current assets 28 515 223 28 738
Total non-current assets *) 28 738

*) does not include deferred tax assets

Capital expenditure, continuing operations
  Tangible assets 8 480 8 480
  Intangible assets 1 725 1 725
  Goodwill 5 290 7 5 297

Geographical areas
Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2015

1000 EUR Finland
Other

Europe

 

Americas Asia Eliminations
Group

 total

Net sales
Sales to external customers 43 924 4 387 8 319 183 56 813

Non-current assets 13 005 221 13 226
Total non-current assets *) 13 226

*) does not include deferred tax assets

Capital expenditure, continuing operations
   Tangible assets 2 341 2 341
   Intangible assets 3 850 3 850
   Goodwill 1 224 1 224

Capital expenditure, discontinued operations
   Tangible assets 122 1 132 126 30 1 411
   Intangible assets 7 624 27 658

Information of primary customers

Group’s revenues from the 10 largest customers in period Jan. 1–Dec. 31, 2016 were EUR 56.2 million (EUR 50.9 million in 2015) 
representing 87.6 percent of the net sales (89.4 percent in 2015).
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2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

 1000 EUR 2016 2015

Automotive business
Net sales 102 030
Expenses −95 966
Profit before tax 6 064
Income tax −2 262
Profit after tax 3 802
Profit for the sale of Automotive business 534 844
Income tax
Profit for the sale of Automotive business after tax 534 844
Profit for the year from discontinued operations (ASW) 0 538 647

Impact of the sale Automotive business

Property, plant and equipment 7 131
Goodwill 19 149
Other intangible asssets 12 697
Receivables 58 045
Inventories 269
Cash and short-term deposits 19 969
Trade and other payables −55 403
Assets and liabilities total 0 61 856

Cash received 600 000
Cash of Automotive business −11 774
Expenses related to transaction −3 066
Cash flow impact 0 585 160

 1000 EUR 2016 2015

Test Tools product business
Expenses 336
Profit before tax 336
Profit after tax 336
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 0 336
 

The profit for the year in Test Tools product business did not have effect on cash flow. The profit consists of reversal of provision.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. NET SALES

 1000 EUR 2016 2015

Income recognized from construction contracts 23 190 13 857
Net sales other 41 003 42 956
Total 64 192 56 813

Construction contracts

The contract revenue is recognized in the income statement in proportion to the stage of completion of 
the contract. The stage of completion is defined as the ratio of costs incurred to total estimated costs. 

Income recognized as sales based on the stage of completion of long-term construction contracts 23 190 13 857
Revenue recognized from long-term construction contracts in progress amounted to 21 146 11 784
Advances received from long-term construction contracts recognized in the balance sheet amounted to 895 6 530
Receivables recognized from long-term construction contracts amounted to 2 803 1 708

4. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Government grants 1 766 1 150
Other income 125 244
Total 1 891 1 394

5. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

External services 6 002 6 216
Voluntary staff expenses 880 844
Premises expenses 2 701 2 633
Travel expenses 1 796 1 371
IT expenses 2 434 2 306
Other expenses 6 297 4 414
Total 20 110 17 784

The grouping principles of comparative period numbers have changed.

Auditors' charges

Ernst & Young 
Auditing 34 31
Tax advice 31 13
Other services 109 6
Total 174 50

Others
Auditing 21 21
Tax advice 9 9
Other services 1 3
Total 31 33
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 1000 EUR 2016 2015

6. DEPRECIATIONS AND IMPAIRMENTS

Depreciations
Intangible assets
  Capitalized development expenditure 283 235
  Intangible rights 744 424
  Other intangible assets 73 66
Tangible assets
  Machinery and equipment 2 163 1 787
Total 3 263 2 512

7. EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES AND NUMBER OF PERSONNEL

Number of personnel 
Average number of personnel during the fiscal period
Continuing operations 569 511

Personnel expenses 1000 EUR

Personnel expenses
Managing directors salaries 280 552

Board of directors 162 164
Expense of share-based payments 25
Other salaries and wages 28 137 23 470
Total 28 578 24 211

Pension expenses, defined contribution plans 5 201 4 721
Other personnel expenses 1 713 1 332
Total 35 492 30 265*
 

* The personnel expenses are adjusted by the amount that has been activated as R&D investments into the balance sheet. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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 1000 EUR 2016 2015

8. RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT EXPENSES

The research and development expenses total 6 912 7 330
Capitalized to the balance sheet −932 −3 371
Recognition as an asset 283 235
The expensed research and development expenses recognized in the income statement amounted to 6 263 4 195

9. FINANCIAL EXPENSES (NET)

Interest expenses −89 −93
Interest income 1 90
Dividend income 0 1
Exchange gains and losses −63 −769
Change of financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 829 657
Other financial expenses −75 −187
Other financial income 1 104
Total 604 −196

10. INCOME TAXES

Income taxes, current year −28
Other taxes −78 −8
Income taxes, previous years −2 −5
Deferred taxes 467 242
Total 359 229

A reconciliation between the effective tax rate and domestic tax rate (20.0%) of the Group:

Profit before taxes 3 146 2 112

Tax at the domestic tax rate −629 −422
Effect of tax rates of foreign subsidiaries 2 −9
Taxes for prior years −2 −5
Tax free income 220 979
Non-deductible expenses −1 403 −627
Utilization of deferred tax assets from previous years 2 043 772
Reassessment of deferred tax assets 467 242
The deferred tax assets from tax losses −265 −658
Others −73 −43
Income taxes in the consolidated income statement 359 229
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2016 2015

11. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable 
to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the year.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent, continuing operations (1000 €) 3 505 2 341
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent, discontinued operations (1000 €) 538 983
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent, continuing and discontinued operations (1000 €) 3 505 541 323

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the financial year (1000 PCS) 35 670 114 983

Basic earnings per share, continuing operations, € 0.098 0.020
Basic earnings per share, discontinued operations, € 0.000 4.687
Basic earnings per share, continuing and discontinued operations, € 0.098 4.708

Diluted 
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders 
of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on the conversion of all the dilutive 
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares. In 2016, the Group has no share-based payment schemes 
which would have a diluting effect, when the exercise price is lower than the closing share price. In 2015 
the Group had the share-option plan 2008C ongoing.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent, continuing operations (1000 €) 3 505 2 341
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent, discontinued operations (1000 €) 0 538 983
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the parent, continuing and discontinued operations (1000 €) 3 505 541 323

Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the financial year (1000 PCS) 35 670 114 983
Effect of dilution (1000 PCS) 54
Weighted average number of ordinary shares during the financial year (1000 PCS) 35 670 115 037

Diluted earnings per share, continuing operations, EUR 0.098 0.020
Diluted earnings per share, discontinued operations, EUR 0.000 4.685
Diluted earnings per share, continuing and discontinued operations, EUR 0.098 4.706
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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 1000 EUR Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Land and water
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 0 0
Additions during the period 1 091
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 1 091 0

Carrying amount at the end of the period 1 091 0

Buildings and constructures
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 2 804 2 911

Translation differences −18
Additions during the period 5 948 186
Acquisition of business unit 1 394
Sale of the Automotive business −457
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 10 145 2 623
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −2 267 −1 985
Translation differences 23
Depreciation for the period −284 −282
Depreciation for the period Automotive business −57
Sale of the Automotive business 215
Carrying amount at the end of the period 7 595 537
No revaluations or capitalizations of interest costs have been done.

Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 42 720 59 461
Translation differences −9 −77
Additions during the period 2 010 3 446
Acquisition of business unit 211 7
Disposals during the period −18 −1
Sale of the Automotive business −20 114
Transfer to assets 7 −2
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 44 921 42 720
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −39 234 −49 759
Translation differences 9 120
Depreciation for the period −1 867 −1 505
Depreciation for the period Automotive business −1 445
Sale of the Automotive business 13 355
Depreciations on disposals −13 −1
Carrying amount at the end of the period 3 817 3 486

Advance payments
Acquisition cost Jan. 1
Additions during the period 129
Disposals during the period
Sale of the Automotive business −129
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 0 0
 

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

The Group has not revalued property, plant and equipment, hence the Group has not recognized any impairment losses directly to 
equity or recorded any reversals of those.
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 1000 EUR Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Other tangible assets
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 88 88
Additions during the period
Disposals during the period
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 88 88
Translation differences 0 0
Carrying amount at the end of the period 88 88

Property, plant and equipment total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 45 432 62 460
Translation differences −9 −95
Additions during the period 9 049 3 762
Acquisition of business unit 1 605 7
Disposals during the period −18 −1
Sale of the Automotive business 0 −20 700
Transfer to assets 7 −2
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 56 066 45 432
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −41 321 −51 744
Translation differences 9 143
Depreciation for the period −2 150 −1 787
Depreciation for the period Automotive business 0 −1 502
Sale of the Automotive business 0 13 570
Depreciations on disposals −13 −1
Carrying amount at the end of the period 12 591 4 111

Finance leases
The Group had the following amounts of property, plant and equipment acquired by finance leases:

Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost 5 793 4 860
Accumulated depreciations −4 373 −3 495
Carrying amount at the end of the period 1 420 1 365
 

Additions of property, plant and equipment include assets acquired by finance leases of EUR 0.9 million in 1.1.–31.12.2016 
(EU 1.1 million in 2015).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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 1000 EUR Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Capitalized development expenses
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 9 763 17 657
Additions during the period 932 3 371
Acquisition of business unit 161 275
Sale of the Automotive business −11 539
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 10 855 9 763
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −4 129 −5 417
Depreciation for the period −283 −235
Depreciation for the period Automotive business −759
Sale of the Automotive business 2 281
Carrying amount at the end of the period 6 443 5 634

Intangible rights
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 3 769 3 679
Additions during the period 47 374
Disposals during the period −56
Acquisition of business unit 73
Sale of the Automotive business −779
Transfer to assets 550
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 3 889 3 769
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −2 319 −1 790
Depreciation for the period −334 −359
Depreciation for the period Automotive business −243
Carrying amount at the end of the period 1 237 1 377

Customer relations and technology
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 524
Acquisition of business unit 1 164 524
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 1 688 524
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −73
Depreciation for the period −101 −73
Carrying amount at the end of the period 1 515 451
 

13. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
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 1000 EUR Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Other intangible assets
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 3 336 7 908
Translation differences 3 −47
Additions during the period 66 513
Disposals during the period −3
Sale of the Automotive business −4 482
Transfer to assets −554
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 3 406 3 336
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −3 246 −5 106
Translation differences −3 43
Depreciation for the period −73 −66
Depreciation for the period Automotive business −671
Sale of the Automotive business 2 553
Carrying amount at the end of the period 84 91

Advanced payments
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 69
Disposals during the period −69
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 0 0

Intangible assets total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 17 392 29 313
Translation differences 3 −47
Additions during the period 1 045 4 258
Acquisition of business unit 1 398 799
Disposals during the period 0 −128
Sale of the Automotive business 0 −16 800
Transfer to assets 0 −3
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 19 838 17 392
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −9 766 −12 312
Translation differences −3 43
Depreciation for the period −791 −732
Depreciation for the period Automotive business 0 −1 672
Sale of the Automotive business 0 4 834
Carrying amount at the end of the period 9 278 7 553

Goodwill
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 1 440 19 343
Translation differences 7 22
Sale of the Automotive business −19 149
Additions during the period 5 290 1 224
Carrying amount at the end of the period 6 737 1 440
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Impairment test
The cash flow forecasts employed in im-
pairment test calculations are based on the 
budgets for 2017 and the Long Range Plans 
(LRP) for 2018–2020 approved by manage-
ment for the strategical period and man-
agement estimations for 2021. Cash flows 
beyond five-year period are calculated by 
using the terminal value method. Future 
cash flows are exposed to the risks that are 
discussed in section ”Risks and uncertain-
ties” in the Report by the Board of Directors.

The used discount rate in impairment 
testing is Weighted Average Cost of Cap-
ital (WACC) before tax defined for Bittium. 
WACC defines average costs of equity and 
debt by noticing the risks belonging to 
the each component. The components of 
WACC are risk-free interest rate, market risk 
premium, beta, cost of debt, corporate in-
come tax rate and target capital structure. 
WACC calculated according to these pa-
rameters ended up to 9.8% (11.8% in 2015).

In 2016 Wireless business did not reach the 
cash flow forecasted in the impairment test 
calculation in 2015. This was mainly be-
cause of increased net working capital, in-
vestments to the business acquisition and 
especially investments to the construction 
of the new headquarter building. There were 
no fundamental changes in the business 
environment that would make an impact 
to the cash flow expectations compared 
to the previous financial year.

The impairment test is done when needed, 
but at least once a year. Impairment tests 
made in December 2016 did not indicate 
need for impairment bookings. Recoverable 
amounts exceed significantly the book val-
ue of goodwill and other assets. The termi-
nal value represents 95% of business value. 
Investments to the development of a new 
products and the construction to the new 
headquarter building move focus of  fore-
casted net present value based cash flows 
from the near future to further in the future.

Sensitivity analysis was also carried out 
during the impairment test. Cash flow fore-
cast was either decreased by 20% or the 
discount factor was increased by 5%. It was 
noticed that cash flows are relatively sensi-
tive to increase in discount factor. However, 
there are no expectations for impairment 
losses in the future.
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November 10, 2016 Bittium Technologies 
Ltd, a subsidiary of Bittium Corporation ac-
quired the ownership in Mega Electronics 
Ltd, specialized in healthcare technology, 
by purchasing 100 percent of the shares 
in Remega Ltd. Mega Electronics Ltd is 
a fully owned subsidiary of Remega Ltd. 
Mega Electronics Ltd owned 28.2 percent 
of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd, a compa-
ny specialized in healthcare services, and 
was signed binding share purchase agree-
ments to acquire 100 percent of the shares 
in MegaKoto Ltd. The acquisition of the rest 
of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd was complet-
ed as planned. 

Their consolidated proforma net sales was 
approximately EUR 3.1 million in 2015 and 
pro forma operating profit was approxi-
mately EUR 0.2 million. The companies em-
ploy altogether 28 persons and are located 
in Kuopio, Finland.

The debt free cash purchase price of the 
share acquisition, including the purchase 
price of MegaKoto shares, was EUR 8.0 mil-
lion, which was adjusted based on the lev-
el of cash, debt and networking capital of 
the acquired companies as of completion 
of the acquisition. In addition to the afore-
mentioned purchase price, an additional 

purchase price, capped at EUR 1.0 million, 
is payable upon the achievement of certain 
financial performance targets for the ac-
quired business between January 1, 2017 
and December 31, 2018. The potential ad-
ditional purchase price will be paid in cash 
after achieving the goals.

14. ACQUISITIONS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The net assets of the company on the acquisition date were:

The net assets of the company on the acquisition date were:

 1000 EUR 2016

Assets
Intangible assets 1 398
Tangible assets 1 605
Investments  10
Inventories 1 379
Receivables 649
Cash 106
Assets total 5 148

Provisions
Non-current loan 1 575
Other liabilites 1 396
Liabilities total 2 972

Net assets 2 176
Goodwill 5 290
Purchase price 7 466
 

 1000 EUR 2015

Assets
Intangible assets 799
Tangible assets 7
Receivables 466
Cash 19
Assets total 1 291

Provisions 27
Non-current loan 76
Other liabilites 591
Liabilities total 695

Net assets 596
Goodwill 1 224
Purchase price 1 820
 

On January 2, 2015 Bittium Technologies 
Ltd, a subsidiary of Bittium Corporation ac-
quired 100 percent of the shares of Birdstep 
Technology Oy, which was a fully owned 
Finnish subsidiary of Birdstep Technology 
ASA, based in Norway. The acquired com-

pany’s SafeMove business provides its cus-
tomers high quality information security 
solutions for mobile devices and portable 
computers. The acquisition strengthened 
the competitiveness of Bittium as a provid-
er of secure communication solutions for 

defence, safety and other authorities mar-
kets. The company employs 19 persons lo-
cated in Espoo, Finland. The debt free cash 
purchase price was EUR 1.8 million.
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 1000 EUR Jan. 1, 2016

Recognized
in the income

statement
Recognized

in equity
Translation

difference

Acquisitions
and disposals

of subsidiaries
Dec. 31, 

2016

Deferred tax assets

Unutilized losses in taxation 0 360 360
Other items 1 156 1 156
Total 1 156 360 0 0 0 1 516
 

 1000 EUR Jan. 1, 2016

Recognized
in the income

statement
Recognized

in equity
Translation

difference

Acquisitions
and disposals

of subsidiaries
Dec. 31, 

2016

Deferred tax liabilities

Customer and technology assets 90 −83 454 461
Total 90 −83 0 0 454 461
 

 1000 EUR 2016 2015

At 1 January 122 123
Additions 10
Disposals related to discontinued operations −2
At the closing date 132 122
 

15. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

16. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES AND ASSETS

On December 31, 2016 the Group had 79.5 million euros tax losses and non-depreciated depreciations of from which it had not booked 
deferred tax receivables due to the uncertainty of the future profits, their timing, taxation or location. The amount of these non booked 
deferred tax receivables is approximately 16.4 million euros. The aging of these tax losses begins from year 2017.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1000 EUR Jan. 1, 2015

Recognized
in the income

statement
Recognized

in equity
Translation

difference

Acquisitions
and disposals

of subsidiaries
Dec. 31, 

2015

Deferred tax assets

Unutilized losses in taxation 322 −322 0
Other items 1 343 227 −414 1 156
Total 1 665 227 0 0 −735 1 156
 

 1000 EUR Jan. 1, 2015

Recognized
in the income

statement
Recognized

in equity
Translation

difference

Acquisitions
and disposals

of subsidiaries
Dec. 31, 

2015

Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities, 
temporary differences 549 −549 0
Customer and technology assets −15  105 90
Total 549 −15 0 0 −444 90
 

On December 31, 2015 the Group had 78.9 million euros tax losses and non-depreciated depreciations of from which it had not booked 
deferred tax receivables due to the uncertainty of the future profits, their timing, taxation or location. The amount of these non booked 
deferred tax receivables is approximately 16.2 million euros. The aging of these tax losses begins from year 2017.
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 1000 EUR Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Raw materials and supplies 2 179 1 137
Work in progress 790 190
Finished products 1 089 862
Other inventories 39
Total 4 097 2 190
 

 1000 EUR Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Trade receivables 18 285 16 590
Receivables from construction contracts 2 803 1 708
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 2 327 1 520
Other receivables 603 137
Total 24 018 19 956

Receivables are valued at nominal value or probable current value, whichever is lower.

Age distribution of accounts receivable
Current 14 572 11 295
Aged Overdue Amounts
  0–3 months 3 703 5 283
  4–6 months 0
  7–12 months 10 13
  > 12 months
Total 18 285 16 590

17. INVENTORIES

18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CURRENT)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

During the financial year group has booked impairment losses from accounts receivable EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.1 million 2015).
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 1000 EUR Dec. 31, 2016 Dec. 31, 2015

Currency derivatives
Balance sheet value on Jan. 1 67 0
Additions 67
Changes in fair-value −67
Balance sheet value at the end of the period 0 67

Interest rate funds
Balance sheet value on Jan. 1 66 032 20 991
Additions 50 000
Disposals −5 300
Changes in fair-value 903 342
Balance sheet value at the end of the period 66 935 66 032

Financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss total
Balance sheet value on Jan. 1 66 100 20 991
Additions 0 50 067
Disposals 0 −5 300
Changes in fair-value 836 342
Balance sheet value at the end of the period 66 935 66 100

20. CASH AND SHORT-TERM DEPOSITS

Cash and short-term deposits 27 987 56 751
Total 27 987 56 751

Cash and cash equivalents at consolidated cash flow statement consist of:

Interest rate funds 66 935 66 032
Cash and short-term deposits 27 987 56 751
Total 94 922 122 783

Fair value of cash and cash equivalents does not significantly differ from the carrying amount.
 

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
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Shares
1000 PCS

Share
premium

1000 EUR

Premium
fund

1000 EUR

Invested
non-restricted

equity fund
1000 EUR

Total
1000 EUR

On December 31, 2015 35 600 12 941 0 25 923 38 864

Share subscriptions pursuant 55 31 31
Directed share issue without consideration 38

On December 31, 2016 35 693 12 941 0 25 953 38 894
 

21. ISSUED CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Shares and the Share Capital
The shares of Bittium Corporation are listed 
on the Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The Corpora-
tion has one series of shares. All the shares 
entitle their holders to dividends of equal 
value. Each share has one vote. The share 
does not have a nominal value. The com-
pany’s shares have been entered into the 
Finnish Central Securities Depository Ltd’s 
book-entry securities system. 

At the end of the financial period, the ful-
ly paid share capital of the company en-
tered into the Finnish Trade Register was 
EUR 12,941,269.00 and the total number of 
the shares was 35 693 166. The accounting 
per value of the company’s share is EUR 
0.10. The company is not in the possession 
of its own shares.   

Translation differences
The translation reserve comprises all for-
eign exhange differences arising from the 
transition of the financial statements of for-
eign subsidiaries.

Dividends
The Board of Directors proposes that the 
Annual General Meeting resolve to pay EUR 
0.05 per share as dividend and EUR 0.25 of 
additional dividend per share based on the 
adopted balance sheet for the financial pe-
riod of January 1, 2016–December 31, 2016.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT PLANS

Stock Options
The Annual General Meeting of March 14, 
2008, decided to issue stock options to 
Bittium (former Elektrobit) key personnel. 
The maximum number of stock options 
was 4,200,000, of which 1,400,000 was 
marked with the symbol 2008A, 1,400,000 
was marked with the symbol 2008B and 
1,400,000 was marked with the symbol 
2008C. The stock options entitled to sub-
scription of a maximum total of 4,200,000 
new shares of the company or treasury 

shares. The proportion of the shares that 
could be subscribed using the stock op-
tions to be issued was a maximum total of 
3.1 percent of the company’s shares and 
associated voting rights after a possible 
share subscription, were new shares to be 
issued in the subscription. The subscription 
price for the shares to be subscribed based 
on the stock options was based on the pre-
vailing market value of the Bittium Corpo-
ration share at Nasdaq Helsinki. in Janu-

ary 2009, January 2010 and January 2011. 
The subscription price was recorded in the 
fund for invested unrestricted equity. The 
share subscription period for stock options 
2008A ended in 2014. The share subscrip-
tion period for stock options 2008B 1 April 
2013–31 March 2015, and for stock options 
2008C 1 April 2014–31 March 2016 ended 
during the financial years 2015 and 2016.

Share-option plan 2008B Share-based options, granted for key personnel

Nature of arrangement Granted share-options
Grant date May 31, 2010
Number of instruments granted 1000 PCS 1134
Exercise price, EUR 0.73
Share price at the grant date, EUR 1.05
Contractual life of the options (years) 4.9

Vesting conditions
Settlement method Shares
Expected volatility (%) 44%
Expected contractual life of the options (years) 4.9
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.65%
Dividend yield (%) 0
Expected early exercise (at grant date) 0
Market conditions (at grant date)
Fair-value of the options at the grant date
Option pricing model Black-Scholes

Number of options
1000 pcs Dec. 31, 2015
Outstanding at the beginning of the period 518
Granted during the period
Forfeited during the period
Exercised during the period −411
Expired during the period −107
Outstanding at the end of the period 0
Exercisable at the end of the period 0
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1000 pcs

Number of 
options

Dec. 31, 2016

Number of 
options

Dec. 31, 2015

Outstanding at the beginning of the period 61 868
Granted during the period 300
Forfeited during the period
Exercised during the period −55 −941
Expired/void during the period −5 −167
Outstanding at the end of the period 0 61
Exercisable at the end of the period 0 61
 

Share-option plan 2008C Share-based options, granted for key personnel

Nature of arrangement Granted share-options
Grant date Aug. 19, 2011
Number of instruments granted 1000 PCS 740
Exercise price, EUR 0.61
Share price at the grant date, EUR 0.56
Contractual life of the options (years) 4.7

Vesting conditions
Settlement method Shares
Expected volatility (%) 45%
Expected contractual life of the options (years) 4.7
Risk-free interest rate (%) 2.07%
Dividend yield (%) 0
Expected early exercise (at grant date) 0
Market conditions (at grant date)
Fair-value of the options at the grant date
Option pricing model Black-Scholes

 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Share-based incentive of the key employees

Form of the reward Shares
Grant date March 22, 2016
Total amount of the executed shares 37 500
Share price at the grant date, EUR 6.45
Total expenses of the reward, EUR million 0.3
Vesting conditions Ownership of the shares was transferred to the recipients 

at once but the recipients have agreed the lock-up 
undertaking until the end of 2018

Execution In shares
 

Share-based remunaration of the board of directors

Form of the reward Shares
Grant date Sept. 21, 2016
Total amount of the executed shares 7 884
Share price at the grant date, EUR 6.79
Total expenses of the reward, EUR million 0.1
Vesting conditions Ownership of the shares was transferred to the recipients 

at once but the recipients have agreed the lock-up undertaking 
until the membership in the board have ceased.

Execution In shares
 

Shares
During the financial year Bittium group had a share-based incentive arrangement which was targeted to the key employees of the 
group. According to the rules of the incentive program the parent company has given the new shares by the directed share issue 
without consideration. The main terms of the incentive arrangment are presented in the table below.

During the financial year the group paid 40% of total remunaration of the Board of Directors of Bittium Corporation by the shares 
of Bittium Corporation. The shares were acquired from the stock exchange. The main terms of the remunaration arrangment are 
presented in the table below.

23. PROVISIONS

1000 EUR
Guarantee
provisions

Unprofitable
rental

agreements Others Total

December 31, 2015 760 257 1 337 2 354
Increase in provisions 286 144 431
Utilized provisions −13 −4 −236 −253
Reversal of ununtilized provisions −253 −253
Dec. 31, 2016 1 033 0 1 245 2 278

Non-current provisions 39 39
Current provisions 1 033 1 206 2 239
Total 1 033 0 1 245 2 278
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1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

Non-current loans
Bank loans 1 325
Finance lease liabilities 631 745
Total 1 956 745

Current loans
Bank loans
Finance lease liabilities 825 658
Repayments of non-current bank loans 372
Total 1 198 658

Repayment schedule of long-term loans:
  

2017 500
2018 743 167
2019 411 59
2020 327
Later 475 19
Total 1 956 745
 

 
1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

EUR 1 956 745
Total 1 956 745
 

 
1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

EUR 1 198 658
Total 1 198 658
 

24. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

The interest on loans fall due every quarter. 
Their impact on the cash flow of the Group is not material.

The interest-bearing non-current loans are distributed by currency as follows:

The interest-bearing current loans are distributed by currency as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

Finance lease liabilities - minimum lease payments 1 501 1 460

Within one year 857 694
After one year but no more than five years 645 766
After five years 0 0

Finance lease liabilities - Present value of minimum lease payments 1 456 1 403

Within one year 825 658
After one year but no more than five years 631 745
After five years 0 0

Future finance charges 46 57

Total amount of finance lease liabilities 1 501 1 460
 

 
1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

Non-current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities, non-interest bearing

Non-current advances received 102
Other non-current liabilities, non-interest bearing 500
Total 602 0

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables

Trade liabilities 3 711 3 714
Accrued liabilities, deferred income 6 643 5 417
Other liabilities 5 822 8 818
Total 16 176 17 948

Material of accrued expenses and deferred income consist of personnel expenses and other accruals.

Fair value of the other liabilities than derivatives doesn’t significantly differ from the initial carrying 
value, because the impact on discounting is not significant when taking into account the maturities 
of the loans.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Liabilities based on derivates
Balance sheet value on Jan. 1 0 248
Changes in fair-value 6 −248
Balance sheet value at the end of the period 6 0
 

25. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Maturities of the finance lease liabilities:
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26. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Under its normal business activities, Bit-
tium Corporation is exposed to several fi-
nancial risks. The primary financial risks 
are foreign exchange rate risk, interest rate 
risk, investment risk and default risk. The 
goal of the Group’s financial risk manage-
ment function is to reduce adverse effects 
of price fluctuations and other uncertain-
ties on earnings, balance sheet and cash 
flows as well as to ensure sufficient liquid-
ity. In its risk management, the Group uses 
financial instruments such as forward ex-
change agreements, currency options and 
interest rate swaps. External professional 
portfolio managers are employed for invest-
ing activities.

The Group’s general risk management 
principles are approved by the Board of Di-
rectors. The responsibility for their imple-
mentation lies with the parent company to-
gether with operational units. The parent 
company identifies and assesses risks and 
obtains relevant financial instruments for 
hedging them in close cooperation with the 
operative units. Management evaluates risk 
concentrations from the viewpoint of busi-
ness activities, taking into consideration 
shared factors between underlying vari-
ables such as those arising from changes 
in economic conditions or other variables. 
Operations and funding programs executed 
in the financial markets are mainly concen-
trated into the parent company. Subsidiar-
ies are mainly funded through intra-com-
pany loans and group account overdraft 
credit limits.

The Group’s financial risks are divided into 
market, default and liquidity risk.

Market risks
Market risks are caused by changes in for-
eign exchange rates, interest rates and the 
price of securities. Fluctuations in these 
may have an impact on the Group’s income 
statement, cash flow or balance sheet.

Foreign exchange rate risk
The Group operates globally and is ex-
posed to transaction risk from foreign ex-
change positions as well as to risks due to 
the translation of investments in different 
currencies to the functional currency of the 
parent company. The most relevant curren-
cies for the Group are the Euro and the US 
dollar. Foreign exchange rate risk is caused 
by commercial activities, monetary items 
on the balance sheet and net investments 
in foreign subsidiaries. A business unit’s 
functional currency or generally used cur-
rencies (EUR, USD) are used as invoicing 
currency. Additional information on func-
tional currency and foreign currency con-
version is available in the accounting prin-
ciples section of the consolidated financial 
statements.

The Group follows a currency strategy that 
aims at securing the margin of business 
activities in changing market conditions 
by minimizing the effect of fluctuations in 
foreign exchange rates. According to the 
principles of the currency strategy, sure-
ly considered and the most probable net 
cash flow in particular currency is hedged. 
The cash flow is defined based on the net 
position of the trade receivables, trade pay-
ables, order intake and forecasted net cur-
rency cash flow. The Group does not apply 
hedge accounting as defined in the IAS 39 
standard. According to the currency strat-
egy the degree of hedging can vary from 

approximately 25% to 125% of the forecast-
ed net position. At the end of the financial 
period, the counter value of the hedged net 
position was EUR 5.0 million. During the fi-
nancial year the amount of the hedged po-
sition has been changing between EUR 0.0–
5.0 million.

The Group has hedged the transaction risk 
related to its income statement and as a 
principal rule has not hedged the translation 
risk related to equity on the balance sheet. 
Foreign currencies denominated equities of 
foreign subsidiaries on December 31, 2016 
was EUR 3.2 million (EUR 3.2 million in 2015) 
from which dollar denominated equities of 
foreign subsidiaries was EUR 1.8 million 
(EUR 1.8 million in 2015). 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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1000 EUR 2016 2015

Forward contracts
  Market value -6 67
  Nominal value 5 000 2 500
 

 1000 EUR 2016 2015

Long-term assets 1 5
Long-term liabilities 759 735

Current assets 2 676 2 964
Current liabilities 111 392
 

Changes in income statement
before tax

Changes in equity 
before tax

 1000 EUR 2016 2015 2016 2015

EUR appreciates  -200  -200  -200  -200
EUR depreciates 200 200 200 200
 

On the closing date, the Group had the following foreign exchange derivative con-
tract nominal amounts outstanding (the nominal amounts do not represent the 
amounts exchanged by the parties):

Dollar denominated assets and liabilities translated to euros using the closing date’s value:

The table below describes the 10% appreciation or depreciation of the Euro against the 
US dollar, other variables remaining constant. The sensitivity analysis is based on foreign 
currency denominated assets and liabilities as of the closing date. The change in dollar 
denominated trade receivables and debt would primarily have been due to fluctuations in 
the foreign exchange rate.
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1000 EUR 2016 2015

Fixed interest rate debts 2 063 1 403
 

2016 2015

Stock shares 0.0% 0.0%
Bonds 65.2% 68.3%
Money market investments 34.8% 31.7%
Total 100.0% 100.0%
 

Interest rate risk
Part of the Group’s debt is tied to fixed interest rates. At the closing date, the Group had the following fixed interest rate debts out-
standing:

The table below describes the interest rate risk of debts if there has been ±1 % change in interest rates of short term reference interest 
rate debts, other variables remaining constant. The figures presented indicate the change in yearly interest expense calculated using 
the average amount of debt during the financial period.

Changes in income statement
before tax

Changes in equity 
before tax

 1000 EUR 2016 2015 2016 2015

Loan stock January, 1 1 400 8 300
Loan stock December, 31 3 200 1 400 
Average loan stock 2 300 4 900
Change in interest +/- 0 +/- 0 +/- 0 +/- 0
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Market risk of investment activities
The Group’s interest investments result in 
interest rate exposure, but their effect is not 
considered significant. The Group’s revenue 
and operative cash flows are mainly inde-
pendent of market rate fluctuations.

The Group invests in low-risk interest rate 
funds and therefore it has not been exposed 
to security price risk of fluctuations in the 
stock markets. According to the Group’s 
principles, investments related to cash 
management are made in liquid and low-

risk money market or bond instruments 
and thus have not been hedged using de-
rivatives.

The table below describes the distribution 
of investments in securities on the closing 
date.
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The combined value of the above instru-
ments during the financial period has 
ranged from approximately EUR 66.0 to 
EUR 66.9 million. On closing date their val-
ue was approximately EUR 66.9 million. This 
risk concentration has been managed by 
investing in well spread and low-risk mon-
ey market funds. 

The table below describes the price risk of 
the investments if they had exhibited a ±1% 
change in a market rate of interest, other 
variables remaining constant. Financial as-
sets that are recognized at market value in 
the income statement affect net income. 
Changes in the value of for-sale financial 
assets affect equity. In the calculations it 

is presumed that the Group’s investments 
change with the interest rate level in ques-
tion. The sensitivity analysis describes the 
total market risk of investment activity be-
cause all investments are in the interest 
rate instruments.

Default risk
Group’s credit risks are mainly related to 
accounts receivable, cash, financial invest-
ments and derivatives used in hedging. In 
it’s deposit, financial investment and hedg-
ing activities Bittium operates only with 
well-known partners who have good cred-
it rating. 

About 87% of the Group’s trade receiv-
ables are from ten customers. The other 
trade receivables are distributed among 
a wide customer base and across several 
geographical areas. Credit risk is mitigat-
ed for example by documentary credits or 
bank guarantees when needed. Default risk 
concentration is mainly assessed as a sin-
gle customer’s share of total trade receiv-
ables but also according to the receivables’ 
date of maturity.

Group’s significant default risk concentra-
tion is EUR 0.0 million which represents ap-
proximately 0.0% of the total accounts re-
ceivable. 

During the past financial year, the amount 
of recognized credit losses was approxi-
mately EUR 0.0 million (EUR 0.1 million in 
2015). Group did not have capital loans 
granted to outside Group at the end of 2016 
(EUR 0.0 million in 2015). 

Changes in income statement
before tax

Changes in equity 
before tax

 1000 EUR 2016 2015 2016 2015

Interest investments +/- 400 +/- 400 +/- 400 +/- 400
 

The amount of the Group’s counterparty de-
fault risk is consistent with the book value of 
financial assets at the closing date. For the 
maturity distribution of trade receivables, 
see note 18.

Liquidity risk
The Group and business segments strive 
to continuously evaluate and monitor the 
amount of liquid funds needed for busi-
ness operations and loan repayments. The 
Group strives to guarantee the availabili-
ty and flexibility of financing by its strong 
financial position and liquid investments. 
The Group has also EUR 10.2 million credit 
facility agreement with Nordea Bank Fin-
land Plc and EUR 10.0 million credit facili-
ty agreement with Pohjola Bank Plc. From 
these agreements, intended for general fi-
nancing purposes, EUR 20.0 million are val-
id until June 30, 2017 and EUR 0.2 million 
until September 29, 2017. The agreements 
include conventional covenants that are, 
among others, related to equity ratio, trans-
fer and pledge of the assets. These credit 
facilities were in use EUR 0.1 million at the 
end of the reporting period. For the maturity 
distribution of the Group’s debt, see note 24.

Capital structure management
The Group strives to optimize its capital 
structure and thus support business ac-
tivities by ensuring normal operating con-
ditions under all circumstances. An optimal 
capital structure also ensures that the cost 
of capital is minimized.

The capital structure is affected by dividend 
policy and share issuance. The Group can 
alter and adjust dividends paid to share-
holders as well as share repurchases. The 
Group can also alter and adjust the amount 
of shares issued, or make decisions on the 
sale of assets.

The management has continuously mon-
itored the development of the Group’s net 
gearing and solvency ratio. The Group’s in-
terest bearing net debt at the end of 2016 
was EUR -91.8 million (EUR -121.4 million in 
2015) and net gearing was -70.3% (-88.2% 
in 2015). The Group’s solvency ratio at the 
end of 2016 was 87.0% (90.5% in 2015).
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Fair values of financial assets and liabilities

This section presents the Group’s fair valuing principles for all financial instruments. The table below presents book values for each item 
in detail. Their fair values are not considered to materially differ from the book values presented in the consolidated balance sheets.

 1000 EUR Note
Book value 

2016
Fair value

2016
Book value 

2015
Fair value

2015

Financial assets
  Other financial assets 15 132 132 122 122
  Trade receivables and other receivables 18 24 018 24 018 19 956 19 956
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 19 66 935 66 935 66 032 66 032
  Cash and cash equivalents 20 27 987 27 987 56 751 56 751
  Currency forwards and options 19 67 67

Financial liabilities
  Bank loans 24 1 698 1 698
  Finance lease liabilities 24 1 456 1 456 1 403 1 403
  Trade payables and other debts 16, 23, 25 19 518 19 518 20 392 20 392
  Currency forwards and options 26 6 6
 

Investments in shares and funds and  
other investments
For-sale financial assets consist mainly of 
money market investments that fair values 
are based on the quotes of the closing day 
(IFRS 7 fair value hierarchy level 1; quoted 
prices (unadjusted) in active markets for 
identical assets or liabilities). 

Derivatives
The fair values of forward exchange and op-
tion contracts are defined based on pub-
licly quoted currency and interest rate in-
formation and using commonly accepted 
valuation methods (IFRS 7 fair value hier-
archy level 2; instruments whose fair value 
is observable either directly (i.e. as prices) 
or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices)). These 
calculations have been carried out by an 
outside professional party.

Bank loans
Book values are considered to closely ap-
proximate fair values.

Finance lease liabilities
Book values are considered to closely ap-
proximate fair values.

Trade receivables and other receivables
The original book value of receivables is 
considered to equal their fair values, since 
the effect of discounting is non-signifi-
cant considering the maturities of the re-
ceivables.

Trade payables and other debts
The original book value of payables and 
other debts is considered to equal their fair 
values, since the effect of discounting is 
non-significant considering the maturities 
of the receivables.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements



95

Bittium Annual Report 2016

Report by the Board of Directors and Financial Statements

27. ADJUSTMENTS TO NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

28. OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENTS

 
1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

Business transactions without payments
Depreciations 3 263 5 686
Employee benefits 246 63
Shares in subsidiaries −538 144
Other adjustments −1 076 670
Total 2 434 −531 725
 

 
1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

Not later than one year 2 169 2 267
Later than one year and not later than five years 222 2 303
  

The Group as lessee
The total of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases for each of the following periods:

The Group has rented nearly all of its facilities. In average the maturities of the lease agreements are from 1 month to 3 years and 
normally they include an option to extend the rental period from originally agreed end date.

The Group as lessor
The Group has leased the excess office and production facilities with lease agreements valid until further notice.
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29. SECURITIES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 

30. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

The Group has the following structure:

 
1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

Against own liabilities
      Floating charges 3 607 1 500
      Guarantees 2 281 5 649
   Rental liabilities
      Falling due in the next year 2 169 2 267
      Falling due after one year 222 2 303
   Other contractual liabilities
      Falling due in the next year 2 078 2 157
      Falling due after one year 33 409

Mortgages are pledged for liabilities totaled
     Loans from financial institutions 3 216 2 009

Material purchase commitments 3 603 1 443
 

Country of 
incorporation

Owned by
Parent %

Owned by
Group %

Parent 
Bittium Corporation Finland

Subsidiaries

Bittium Technologies Ltd. Finland 100.00 100.00
Bittium Wireless Ltd. Finland 0.00 100.00
Bittium Safemove Ltd. Finland 0.00 100.00
Bittium Remega Ltd. Finland 0.00 100.00
Bittium Biosignals Ltd. Finland 0.00 100.00
Bittium Medanalytics Ltd. Finland 0.00 100.00
Kiinteistöosakeyhtiö Oulun Ritaharjuntie 1 Finland 0.00 100.00
Bittium Mexico S.A. de C.V. Mexico 0.00 100.00
Bittium USA, Inc. USA 0.00 100.00
Bittium Technology (Beijing) Co. Ltd. China 0.00 100.00
Bittium Singapore Pte. Ltd. Singapore 0.00 100.00
 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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 1000 EUR 2016 2015

Employee benefits for key management
Salaries and remuneration
Managing director of the parent
Hannu Huttunen 7.8.–31.12.2015,  1.1.–31.12.2016 214 82
Jukka Harju 1.1.–6.8.2015 470
Total 214 552

Remuneration of the members of the board of the parent, the financial
committee and the managing directors of the business segments

Jorma Halonen 1.1.–4.11.2015 20
Matti Lainema 1.1.–4.11.2015 5
Juha Hulkko 1.1.–4.11.2015 20
Seppo Laine 1.1.–4.11.2015 37
Staffan Simberg 1.1.–31.12.2015, 1.1.–31.12.2016 21 34
Erkki Veikkolainen 1.1.–31.12.2015, 1.1.–31.12.2016 31 36
Kirsi Komi 5.11.–31.12.2015, 1.1.–31.12.2016 20 4
Juha Putkiranta 5.11.–31.12.2015,  1.1.–31.12.2016 18 4
Seppo Mäkinen 5.11.–31.12.2015,  1.1.–31.12.2016 18 4
Total 107 164

Share-based incentives 300
Total 300

The share-base incentives include the total amount of share-based incentive payments 
for the managing director, members of the board and members of the group executive board.

There have not been any business transactions or open balances between the related parties.

Members of the group executive board 929 852

Loans and guarantees to related party
There are no loans or guarantees granted between the related parties

Stock option expenses 17
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A total of 55,498 new shares in Bittium Cor-
poration were subscribed for between De-
cember 1, 2015 and March 31, 2016 by vir-
tue of the option rights 2008C. The share 
subscription price, EUR 30,523.90 was re-
corded in the company’s invested non-re-
stricted equity fund. The corresponding in-
creases in the number of the company’s 
shares were entered into the Finnish Trade 
Register on February 10, 2016 and April 14, 
2016. Shareholder rights by virtue of the 
new shares commenced as of the above-
mentioned registration entry date. Trading 
with the newly registered shares started on 
February 11, 2016 and April 15, 2016 as an ad-
ditional lot of Bittium Corporation’s shares 
in Nasdaq Helsinki Ltd. The share subscrip-
tion period for stock options 2008C ended 
on March 31, 2016.

The Board of Directors of Bittium Corpo-
ration decided on March 22, 2016 on a di-
rected share issue without consideration as 
reward payments to the key persons of the 
company. In the share issue a maximum 
of 58,000 new shares was issued without 
consideration to the key persons entitled to 
share rewards according to the terms and 
conditions relating to the share rewards. 
A total of 9 people belonging to the man-
agement and personnel of the company 
were in the target group of the payment. 
Of the maximum of 58,000 shares offered 
in the share issue, 37,500 shares were sub-
scribed. The 37,500 shares issued in the 
share issue were registered with the Trade 
Register and registered on the book-entry 
accounts of the recipients of the shares on 
March 24, 2016 and became subject to trad-
ing on the trading list of Nasdaq Helsinki on 
March 29, 2016. After the registration of the 
new shares, the number of shares in Bittium 
Corporation’s totaled to 35,693,166.

On April 27, 2016 Bittium appointed M.Sc. 
Sami Kotkajuuri (b. 1967) as Vice President, 
Business Development as of May 1, 2016. 
Mr. Kotkajuuri has been working for Bittium 

31. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING THE REPORTING PERIOD

since 2009. M.Sc. Klaus Mäntysaari (b. 1966) 
was appointed as Vice President, Connec-
tivity Solutions as of May 1, 2016. Mr. Män-
tysaari has been working for Bittium since 
2004. In the Connectivity Solutions product 
and service area Bittium offers R&D servic-
es and customized solutions for the wire-
less communications market as well as for 
other companies needing wireless connec-
tivity in their devices.

On October 5, Bittium announced to have 
received information, according to which, 
a significant customer cooperation with a 
global network equipment manufacturer 
will reduce during 2017. According to the in-
formation received, if the planned actions of 
the customer will materialize in full, these 
actions might have a negative effect on 
Bittium’s net sales and operating result in 
2017. The reduction of the cooperation did 
not have an effect on Bittium’s outlook for 
the year 2016. 

Bittium told that as part of the strategy 
work, it will evaluate the effects of the re-
duction of the cooperation on the financial 
targets given on July 1, 2015 in connection 
with company’s strategic guidelines. These 
financial targets published were as follows: 
The target during 2015–2017 is to grow the 
net sales at least 10 percent annually and 
reach EBIT level 10 percent of net sales at 
the latest in 2017. Bittium targets, by the 
year 2017, to clearly increase the share of 
net sales generated from own products and 
product platforms, from the 26.7 percent 
level of net sales in 2014.

On November 10, 2016 Bittium announced 
to expand its technology competence by 
acquiring Mega Electronics Ltd and Mega-
Koto Ltd specialized in healthcare technol-
ogy and services by purchasing 100 percent 
of the shares in Remega Ltd. Mega Elec-
tronics Ltd was a fully owned subsidiary of 
Remega Ltd. Mega Electronics Ltd owned 
28.2 percent of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd, 

a company specialized in healthcare ser-
vices, and had signed a binding share pur-
chase agreements to acquire 100 percent of 
the shares in MegaKoto Ltd. The acquisition 
of the shares in MegaKoto Ltd was complet-
ed as planned.

Mega Electronics Ltd (now Bittium Bio-
signals Ltd), founded in 1983, is a Finnish 
ISO13485 certified medical device manu-
facturing company. The company is spe-
cialized in biosignal measuring for cardiol-
ogy, neurology, rehabilitation, occupational 
health and sports medicine. MegaKoto Ltd 
(now Bittium Medanalytics Ltd) provides 
comprehensive arrhythmia monitoring ser-
vices for its customers such as primary care 
centers, private clinics and hospitals.

The pro forma net sales of Remega group 
and MegaKoto Ltd was approximately EUR 
3.1 million in 2015 and pro forma operating 
profit was approximately EUR 0.2 million. 
The companies employ altogether 28 per-
sons and are located in Kuopio, Finland.

The debt free cash purchase price of the 
share acquisition, including the purchase 
price of MegaKoto shares, was EUR 8.0 mil-
lion, which was adjusted based on the lev-
el of cash, debt and networking capital of 
the acquired companies as of completion 
of the acquisition. In addition to the afore-
mentioned purchase price, an additional 
purchase price, capped at EUR 1.0 million, 
is payable upon the achievement of certain 
financial performance targets for the ac-
quired business between January 1, 2017 
and December 31, 2018. The potential ad-
ditional purchase price will be paid in cash 
after achieving the goals.

On November 23, Bittium announced to a 
change to its financial reporting practice 
and will publish half year and annual fi-
nancial reports and will no longer publish 
interim reports for the first three and nine 
months of the year.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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On November 24, Bittium updated its strat-
egy and financial targets. The strategy was 
updated to strengthen company’s position 
in the global markets and to speed up its 
growth. The company plans to make signifi-
cant investments in the future by increasing 
the R&D investments in its own products 
and solutions significantly in the year 2017. 
In line with the nature of the defense and 
public safety markets, the investments will 
pay back in a longer time period and there-
fore Bittium plans to capitalize the most of 
the R&D investments to its balance sheet. 
The company has a strong balance sheet 
and financial position.

Bittium also told to have decided to estab-
lish a new product and service area around 
healthcare technology. Combining health-
care technologies with Bittium’s long-term 
experience and knowhow in wireless and 
security technologies give the company 
good conditions to serve its customers in 
healthcare sector by offering them new 
kinds of products and services. As the first 
step to build the competencies in health-
care technology on November 10, 2016 
Bittium acquired Mega Electronics Ltd, a 
company specialized in measuring and 
monitoring biosignals. According to the 
updated strategy Bittium has three prod-
uct and service areas supporting each oth-
er: Defense & Security, Connectivity Solu-
tions and Medical Technologies. Bittium 
also told to continue to search for inorgan-
ic growth opportunities in all its product and 
service areas and is prepared to invest in 
acquisitions that strengthen the compa-
ny’s growth strategy.

About the financial targets Bittium an-
nounced on November 24 as follows: Bit-
tium has announced earlier that it targets 
10 percent annual growth in net sales and 
to reach EBIT level 10 percent of net sales 
in the year 2017 at the latest. The compa-
ny believes that in the coming years it is 

able to grow its net sales even more than 
the earlier announced target, and therefore 
sets up a target to exceed the annual 10 per-
cent growth target of the net sales. How-
ever, Bittium believed, that during the year 
2017 it is not yet able to reach the targets 
set for the growth in the net sales and EBIT 
level. The reason for this is the termination 
of a significant customer cooperation with 
a global network equipment manufactur-
er, of which Bittium announced earlier, that 
is expected to materialize faster and more 
extensively than the company estimated 
earlier. According to the information re-
ceived by Bittium, the net sales from this 
customer cooperation will end completely 
in the beginning of the second quarter of 
the year 2017. To this extent this kind of ex-
tensive and rapid decrease in the services 
business net sales is most likely difficult 
to be replaced in a short term. In addition, 
the operating profit level of the year 2017 is 
also affected by the planned investments 
to enable the future growth.

Bittium targets further to increase the share 
of net sales generated from own products 
and product platforms. According to the 
targets Bittium announced earlier, in the 
year 2017 the share of net sales generated 
from own products and product platforms 
is clearly higher than in the year 2014, when 
the product based net sales was 26.7 per-
cent of the net sales.

On November 24, Bittium announced 
changes in the management group and in 
its organizational structure. These chang-
es support the updated strategy that was 
announced on the same day. According to 
its strategy, Bittium’s business will focus on 
three product and service areas: Defense & 
Security, Connectivity Solutions and Med-
ical Technologies. Mr. Jari Sankala (M.Sc. 
Electrical Engineering, Digital Communica-
tions) was appointed as Senior Vice Pres-
ident, Defense & Security product and 

service area. Mr. Klaus Mäntysaari (M.Sc.) 
continued as Vice President, Connectivi-
ty Solutions product and service area. Mr. 
Arto Pietilä M.Sc.(Applied Electronics) was 
appointed as Senior Vice President, Medi-
cal Technologies product and service area.

Mr. Sami Kotkajuuri, head of business devel-
opment, decided to move on to new chal-
lenges outside of Bittium and resigned from 
the company’s service. Mr. Kotkajuuri con-
tinued in his duties until the end of the year 
2016.

As of December 1, 2016 Bittium manage-
ment group consists of following persons: 
Mr. Hannu Huttunen, CEO (chairman); Mr. 
Pekka Kunnari, CFO; Mr. Kari Jokela, CLO; 
Ms. Karoliina Fyrstén, Director, Corporate 
Communications and Marketing; heads of 
product and service areas: Mr. Jari Sanka-
la, Senior Vice President, Defense & Secu-
rity; Mr. Klaus Mäntysaari, Vice President, 
Connectivity Solutions; and Mr. Arto Pietilä, 
Senior Vice President, Medical Technolo-
gies; and Mr. Jari-Pekka Innanen, Vice Pres-
ident, Engineering.
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32.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

The Group management is not aware of any significant events after balance sheet date, that would have had impact on 
the consolidated financial statements.

IFRS
2016

Continuing
operations

IFRS
2015

Continuing
operations

IFRS
2014

Continuing
operations

IFRS
2013

 
 

IFRS
2012

 
 

INCOME STATEMENT, MEUR

Net sales, MEUR *) 64.2 56.8 52.7 199.3 173.9 
   Net sales change, % 13.0 7.8 14.6 17.5 
Operating profit/loss, MEUR *) 2.5 2.3 0.8 8.1 1.1 
   % of net sales 4.0 4.1 1.5 4.1 0.6 
Profit/loss for continuing operations before taxes, MEUR 3.1 2.1 0.6 7.2 1.1 
   % of net sales 4.9 3.7 1.2 3.6 0.6 
Profit for the year from continuing operations, MEUR 3.5 2.3 1.3 6.7 1.1 
   % of net sales 5.5 4.1 2.4 3.3 0.6 
Profit after tax for the year 
from discontinued operations, MEUR 0.0 539.0 11.2 24.3 1.2 
  % of net sales 0.0 948.7 21.3 12.2 0.7 
Profit for the year attributable to 
equity holders of the parent, MEUR 3.5 541.3 12.5 30.9 2.3 
  % of net sales 5.5 952.8 23.7 15.5 1.3 

BALANCE SHEET, MEUR
Non-current assets 30.3 14.4 48.8 46.1 46.8 
Inventories 4.1 2.2 2.2 0.8 0.4 
Current assets 118.9 142.8 115.8 97.4 77.3 
Assets classified as held for sale 7.7 
Shareholders' equity 130.6 137.6 93.4 81.7 66.0 
Non-current liabilities 3.1 2.0 7.6 6.1 8.5 
Current liabilities 19.6 19.8 65.8 56.5 53.2 
Liabilities classified as held for sale 4.5 
Balance sheet total 153.3 159.4 166.8 144.4 132.2 

PROFITABILITY AND OTHER KEY FIGURES
Return on equity % (ROE)  *) 2.6 2.0 9.0 1.6 
Return on investment % (ROI)  *) 2.6 2.5 9.2 1.7 
Interest-bearing net liabilities, (MEUR) -91.8 -121.4 -35.0 -37.7 4.0 
Net gearing, % -70.3 -88.2 -37.4 -46.1 6.1 
Equity ratio, % 87.0 90.5 62.3 65.1 54.5 
Gross investments, (MEUR)  *) 18.5 7.4 4.5 7.9 11.4 
   Gross investments, % of net sales 28.8 13.1 8.5 4.0 6.5 
R&D costs, (MEUR)  *) 6.9 7.3 6.9 18.5 22.0 
   R&D costs, % of net sales 10.8 12.9 13.0 9.3 12.6 
Average personnel during the period, 
parent and subsidiaries  *) 569 511 486 1 627 1 528 
Average personnel during the period, jointly owned company 300 132 
 

33. KEY RATIOS

*) Continuing operations. Excluding Automotive business income statements from periods Jan. 1–July 1, 2015 and 2014.
**) Comparable key figures for 2014 N/A.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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IFRS
2016

IFRS
2015

IFRS
2014

IFRS
2013

IFRS
2012

STOCK-RELATED FINANCIAL RATIOS

Earnings per share from continuing operations, EUR
   Basic earnings per share 0.098 0.020 0.010 0.051 0.008 
   Diluted earnings per share 0.098 0.020 0.010 0.051 0.008 
Earnings per share from discontinued operations, EUR
   Basic earnings per share 0.000 4.687 0.086 0.188 0.009 
   Diluted earnings per share 0.000 4.685 0.085 0.187 0.009 
Earnings per share from continuing and 
discontinued operations, EUR
   Basic earnings per share 0.098 4.708 0.096 0.239 0.018 
   Diluted earnings per share 0.098 4.706 0.095 0.238 0.017 
Equity per share, EUR 3.66 3.86 0.71 0.63 0.51
Dividend per share EUR *) 0.3 0.3 0.04 0.02 0.01
Dividend per earnings, % 305.3 6.4 42.7 38.9 119.7 
P/E ratio 57.7 344.3 35.9 51.8 77.8 
Effective dividend yield, % 5.3 4.3 1.2 0.8 1.5 
Market values of shares (EUR)
   Highest 7.40 7.80 3.83 2.90 0.79 
   Lowest 5.15 3.27 2.30 0.64 0.38 
   Average 6.05 4.92 2.85 1.55 0.64 
   At the end of period 5.67 7.01 3.36 2.66 0.65 
Market value of the stock, (MEUR) 202.4 249.6 441.8 346.1 84.1 
Trading value of shares
   MEUR 126.4 837.1 188.0 72.0 6.9 
   1000 PCS 20 888 169 993 66 019 46 483 10 750
   Related to average number of shares % 58.6 147.8 50.4 35.9 8.3 
Adjusted number of the shares 
at the end of the period (1000 PCS) 35 693 35 600 131 493 130 101 129 413
Adjusted number of the shares 
average for the period (1000 PCS) 35 670 114 983 130 975 129 528 129 413
Adjusted number of the shares 
average for the period diluted with stock options (1000 PCS) 35 670 115 037 131 663 130 092 130 238

*) Proposal of the BoD for 2016.
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Profit for the year x 100
Total equity (average for the accounting period)

Profit before tax + interest and other financial expenses x 100  
Balance sheet total - interest-free liabilities (average for the accounting period)

Interest-bearing liabilities - cash and deposits and short-term investments x 100
Total equity

Total equity x 100
Balance sheet total - advances received

Profit attributable to equity holders of the parent

Share issue adjusted number of the shares average for the period

Dividend per share x 100
Earnings per share

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent
Share issue adjusted number of the shares at the end of the period

Dividend for the period (Board’s proposal) per share

Adjustment coefficient of post-fiscal share issues

Share issue adjusted share price at the end of the period
Earnings per share

Dividend per share x 100
Share issue adjusted share price at the end of the period

Return on equity % (ROE)

Return on investment % (ROI)

Net gearing, %

Equity ratio, %

Earnings per share

Equity per share

Dividend per share

Dividend per earnings, %

P/E ratio

Effective dividend yield, %

=

=

=

=

=

=

=

=

=

=

CALCULATION OF KEY RATIOS

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Number of shares
Number 

of shareholders
Percentage 

of shareholders
Number 

of shares
Percentage of 

shares and votes

1 - 100 8 844 41.3% 426 870 1.2%
101 - 500 6 844 31.9% 1 840 696 5.2%
501 - 1000 2 412 11.3% 1 913 082 5.4%
1001 - 5000 2 539 11.9% 5 795 887 16.2%
5001 - 10000 422 2.0% 3 068 513 8.6%
10001 - 50000 303 1.4% 6 040 736 16.9%
50001 - 100000 30 0.1% 2 083 973 5.8%
100001 - 500000 21 0.1% 4 594 923 12.9%
500001 - 999999999999 9 0.0% 9 928 486 27.8%
Total 21 424 100.0% 35 693 166 100.0%
nominee-registered 10 2 543 953 7.1%
 

Shareholders by shareholder type
Number 

of shareholders
Percentage 

of shareholders
Number 

of shares
Percentage of 

shares and votes

Corporations 552 2.6% 1 581 333 4.4%
Financial sector 15 0.1% 1 441 723 4.0%
Public sector 5 0.0% 3 292 237 9.2%
Non-profit organizations 32 0.1% 166 221 0.5%
Households 20 728 96.8% 27 985 660 78.4%
Foreign owners 83 0.4% 194 618 0.5%
Nominee-registered shares 9 0.0% 1 031 374 2.9%
Total 21 424 100.0% 35 693 166 100.0%
 

34. SHAREHOLDINGS AND SHARES

Breakdown of Shares by Shareholding, December 31, 2016

Breakdown of Shareholders by Shareholder Type, December 31, 2016
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Number 
of shares

Percentage of
shares and votes

Number of shares total 35 693 166 100%
1. Harju Jukka 1 695 429 4.8%
2. Hulkko Juha 1 506 955 4.2%
3. Veikkolainen Erkki, Chairman of the Board 1 502 400 4.2%
4. Varma Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1 365 934 3.8%
5. Ilmarinen Mutual Pension Insurance Company 1 296 529 3.6%
6. Nordea Bank AB (PUBL), Finnish Branch 820 283 2.3%
7. Hilden Kai 658 000 1.8%
8. Fondita Nordic Micro Cap Placeringsfund 567 000 1.6%
9. EVLI Finnish Small Cap (fund) 515 956 1.4%
10. ELO Mutual Pension Insurance Company 500 000 1.4%
Total 10 428 486 29.2%
Others (including nominee-registered) 25 264 680 70.8%

The Board and CEO
Veikkolainen Erkki, Chairman of the Board 1 502 400 4.2%
Komi Kirsi, Member of the Board 2 118 0.0%
Putkiranta Juha, Member of the Board 11 371 0.0%
Mäkinen Seppo, Member of the Board 1 371 0.0%
Simberg Staffan, Member of the Board* 51 371 0.1%
Huttunen Hannu, CEO 10 000 0.0%
Total 1 578 631 4.4%

* Including the shareholdings of a company controlled by Staffan Simberg.

 

Largest Shareholders, December 31, 2016

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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 1000 EUR Notes 2016 2015

NET SALES 1, 2  974 892

Other operating income 3  1 547 911
Personnel expenses 4 −1 193 −1 310
Depreciation and reduction in value 5  −3  −15
Other operating expenses 6 −1 222 −1 461

OPERATING PROFIT −1443 546 018

Financial income and expenses 7  904 −414

PROFIT (LOSS) BEFORE APPROPRIATIONS AND TAXES −539 545 604

Appropriations 8 4 000  0

NET PROFIT FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR 3 461 545 604
 

Income statement, Parent
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1000 EUR Notes

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

ASSETS

Non-current assets
   Intangible assets 9 48 0
   Tangible assets 10 73 73
   Investments 11 39 750 39 750
Non-current assets total 39 870 39 823

Current assets
   Receivables
       Current receivables 12 19 042 526
   Receivables total 19 042 526
   Financing securities 13 66 935 66 032
   Cash and bank deposits 20 834 53 515
Current assets total 106 811 120 074

TOTAL ASSETS 146 681 159 896

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Shareholder's equity 14
     Share capital 12 941 12 941
     Invested non-restricted equity fund 25 953 25 923
     Retained earnings * 101 484 −433 412
     Net profit/loss for the year 3 461 545 604
Shareholders' equity total 143 840 151 056

Provisions 15
     Provisions, non-current 0 1 000
     Provisions, current 1 056 288

Liabilities 16
     Non-current liabilities
     Current liabilities 1 786 7 552
Liabilities total 1 786 7 552

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES TOTAL 146 681 159 896
 

Balance Sheet, Parent

*) 2015 Retaided earnings includes the purchase of own shares, which was executed after the interim financial statements for the 
period of Jan. 1–July 1, 2015.
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 1000 EUR 2016 2015

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit before taxes 3 461 −2 305
Adjustments:
    Depreciation according to plan 3 15
    Effects of non-cash business activities −4 232 302
    Financial income and expenses −904 414
Cash flow before change in net working capital −1 672 −1 575

Change in net working capital
   Change in interest-free short-term receivables −85 159
   Change in interest-free short-term payables −81 −644
Cash flow before financing activities −1 838 −2 060

Interest paid −278 −2 088
Dividends received 0 1
Interest received 1 250 1 606
Income taxes paid 0 0
Net cash from operating activities −867 −2 541

CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of tangible and intangible assets −51 −1
Sale of property, plant and equipment and sale of intangible assets
Purchase of investments 
Proceeds from repayments of loans 
Proceeds from sale of other investments
Proceeds from sale of subsidiaries 595 764
Net cash used in investing activities −51 595 763

CASH FLOW FROM FINANCIAL ACTIVITIES
Share option plans excercised 31 820
Repayment of borrowing 0 −3 000
Change in interest-free short-term receivables in Group −14 102 1 862
Change in interest-free short-term payables in Group −6 080 2 814
Purhacses of own shares −492 810
Dividend paid and capital repayment −10 708 −5 290
Net cash used in financial activities −30 860 −495 605

NET CHANGE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS −31 778 97 617

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 119 547 21 930
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 87 769 119 547
Change in cash and cash equivalents in balance sheet −31 778 97 617
 

Cash Flow, Parent

Cash and cash equivalents include liquid and low risk financing securities.
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Accounting Principles for the Preparation  
of Financial Statements

The financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with the Finnish Ac-
counting Act.

Valuation Principles

Valuation of Non-current Assets
Non-current assets are capitalized in the 
balance sheet at the original acquisition 
cost deducted by accumulated deprecia-
tion. Depreciations according to the plan 
is calculated either using the straight-line 
method or the reducing balance method, 
taking into consideration of the useful life 
of assets. 

The depreciation periods are:
Intangible assets		  3–10 years
Tangible assets		  3–5 years

 

Valuation of Financial Securities
Financial securities are valued at fair val-
ue. The fair value of forward exchange are 
defined based on forward exchange prices 
on balance sheet date and option contracts 
are defined based on market prices on bal-
ance sheet date.

Pensions
The Company has organized pension cover-
age for its personnel through independent 
pension insurance companies. The pension 
insurance expenditures are included into 
personnel expenses.

Leasing Agreements
Leasing agreements and fixed-term rental 
agreements are reported as contingent li-
abilities off the balance sheet.

Income Tax
Taxes of the financial year have been re-
ported in the income statement as income 
taxes. Deferred tax or liabilities or receiv-
ables has not been recorded on the finan-
cial statement.

Foreign Currency Items
The transactions in the income statement 
have been converted into euro using the ex-
change rate of the transaction date. Receiv-
ables and payables denominated in foreign 
currency have been converted into euro by 
using the exchange rate of the European 
Central Bank at the balance sheet date.

Net Sales
Sales of goods is recorded when goods 
have been handed over to the customer or 
the services have been rendered. Sales are 
shown net of indirect sales taxes and dis-
counts.
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 1000 EUR 2016 2015

1. NET SALES BY SEGMENTS

Support functions 974 892
Total 974 892

2. NET SALES BY MARKET AREAS

Europe 965 851
America 9 35
Asia 0 6
Total 974 892

3. OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Profit of sales of subsidiaries 547 909
Other operating income 1 3
Total 1 547 911

The other operating income includes the profit of the sale of the Automotive-segment in 2015. 

4. NUMBER OF PERSONNEL AND PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Average number of personnel during the fiscal period
Common functions 8 7 
Total 8 7 

Number of personnel at year end 8 6 

Personnel expenses *
   Management salaries 214 552
   Board of Directors 107 76
   Other salaries and wages 720 530
Total 1 041 1 158
Pension expenses 133 133
Other social expenses 19 19
Total 1 193 1 310

* The amount does not include the calculatory costs of share-based compensation. 
This cost is shown in the consolidated financial staments according to IFRS.

5. DEPRECIATION AND REDUCTION IN VALUE   

Intangible rights 2 15

Other capitalized long-term expenditures 1
Machinery and equipment 1 0
Total 3 15
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
of the Parent Company
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
of the Parent Company

 1000 EUR 2016 2015

6. OTHER OPERATING CHARGES

IT equipment and SW expenses −76 −68
Premises expenses −42 −58
Administrative services −683 −448
Travel expenses −84 −89
Voluntary staff expenses −39 −21
Other business expenses −297 −778
Total −1 222 −1 461

Auditors charges
   Auditing 13 17
   Tax advice 31 13
   Other services 108 6
Total 151 36

7. FINANCIAL INCOME AND EXPENSES

Income from investments
   From Group companies
   From others 903 507
Total 903 507

Other interest and financial income
   From Group companies 75 117
   From others 212 1 298
Total 286 1 415

Other interest and financial expenses
   To Group companies 0 0
   To others −285 −2 336
Total −285 −2 336

Reduction in value of investment 0 0

Net financial income and expenses 904 −414

Net financial income and expenses includes exchange gains and losses −8 −930

8. APPROPRIATIONS

Received group contributions 4 000
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1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Intangible rights
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 203 289
Investments during the period 44
Disposals during the period −87
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 246 203
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −203 −188
Depreciation for the period −2 −14
Book value at the end of the period 42 0

Other capitalized long-term expenditures
Acquisition cost Jan. 1
Investments during the period 6
Disposals during the period
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 6
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1
Depreciation for the period −1
Book value at the end of the period 6

Intangible assets total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 203 289
Investments during the period 50
Disposals during the period −87
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 253 203
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −203 −188
Depreciation for the period −2 −14
Book value at the end of the period 48 0
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1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

10. TANGIBLE ASSETS

Machinery and equipment
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 3 2
Investments during the period 1 1
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 4 3
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −2 −1
Depreciation for the period −1 0
Book value at the end of the period 2 2

Other tangible assets
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 71 71
Acquisition cost Dec. 31 71 71
Book value at the end of the period 71 71

Tangible assets total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 74 73
Investments during the period 1 1
Acquisition cost at the end of the period 75 74
Accumulated depreciations Jan. 1 −2 −1
Depreciation for the period −1 0
Book value at the end of the period 73 73

11. INVESTMENTS

Investments in subsidiaries
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 39 749 86 470
Disposals during the period −46 721
Book value at the end of the period 39 749 39 749

Investments in other shares
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 1 1
Book value at the end of the period 1 1

Investments total
Acquisition cost Jan. 1 39 750 86 471
Disposals during the period −46 721
Book value at the end of the period 39 750 39 750
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
of the Parent Company
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1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

12. CURRENT RECEIVABLES

Accounts receivable
   From Group companies 89 375
Total 89 375

Other receivables
   From Group companies 18 783 0
   From others 162 76
Total 18 946 76

Prepaid expenses and accrued income
   From Group companies 0
   From others 7 76
Total 7 76

Current receivables total 19 042 526

13. FINANCING SECURITIES

Cash and cash equivalents include liquid and low risk financing securities.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 66 935 66 032

  
14. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Share capital at the beginning of the period 12 941 12 941
Share capital at the end of the period 12 941 12 941

Invested unrestricted equity fund at the beginning of the period 25 923 25 103
Share issue 31 820
Invested unrestricted equity fund at the end of the period 25 953 25 923

Retained earnings at the beginning of period 112 192 64 688
Dividend distribution −10 708 −5 290
Purchase of own shares −492 810
Net profit for the period 3 461 545 604
Retained earnings at the end of period 104 945 112 192

Distributable earnings at the end of the period 130 898 138 114
Shareholders’ equity total 143 840 151 056
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1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

15. PROVISIONS

Provisions
   Provisions, non-current 1 000
   Provisions, current 1 056 288
Total 1 056 1 288

16. LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Accounts payable
   To Group companies 61 50
   To others 35 190
Total 96 240

Other short-term liabilities
   To Group companies 1 357 7 043
   To others 34 52

Total 1 391 7 095

Accrued expenses and deferred income
   To others 299 218
Total 299 218

Current liabilities total 1 786 7 552
 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
of the Parent Company
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1000 EUR

Dec. 31,
2016

Dec. 31,
2015

17. SECURITIES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

On behalf of Group companies
      Guarantees 1 726 3 453
   Leasing liabilities
       Falling due in the next year 1 230 1 064
       Falling due after one year 1 141 1 396
   Rental liabilities
       Falling due in the next year 13 24
   Contractual liablities
       Falling due in the next year 78 140

18. NOMINAL VALUE OF CURRENCY DERIVATES

Foreign exchange forwards
   Market value −6 67
   Nominal value 5 000 2 500
 

 
Owned by
Parent %

Owned by
Group %

Book value
1000 EUR

19. SHARES AND HOLDINGS

Subsidiaries
Bittium Technologies Oy 100.00% 100.00% 39 749

Other holdings by Parent
Partnera Oy 1
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Auditor’s Note

Our Auditor’s Report has been issued today.

In Oulu, February 19, 2017

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant firm

Juhani Rönkkö, Authorized Public Accountant

Proposal by the Board of Directors on the Use of 
the Profit Shown on the Balance Sheet and 
the Payment of the Dividend

According to the parent company’s balance 
sheet at December 31, 2016, the distribut-
able assets of the parent company are EUR 
130,898,268.85 of which the profit of the fi-
nancial year is EUR 3,461,321.81.

The Board of Directors proposes that the 
Annual General Meeting to be held on April 
12, 2017 resolve to pay EUR 0.05 per share 
as dividend from the profit of the finan-
cial period based on the adopted balance 

sheet for the financial period of January 1, 
2016–December 31, 2016 and EUR 0.25 per 
share as additional dividend. The dividend 
will be paid to the shareholders who are reg-
istered as shareholders in the company’s 
register of shareholders as maintained by 
Euroclear Finland Ltd on the dividend re-
cord date, April 18, 2017. The Board of Di-
rectors proposes that the dividend be paid 
on April 25, 2017.

There have not been any substantial chang-
es in the company’s financial position af-
ter the financial year. Company has good 
liquidity and according to the Board of Di-
rectors, the proposed distribution of prof-
its does not danger company’s solvency.

In Oulu, Finland, 19th of February 2017 
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Auditor’s Report 
(Translation of the Finnish original)

Report on the Audit of 
Financial Statements	

Opinion  

We have audited the financial statements of 
Bittium Oyj (business identity code 1004129-
5) for the year ended 31 December, 2016. The 
financial statements comprise the consol-
idated balance sheet, income statement, 
statement of comprehensive income, state-
ment of changes in equity, statement of 
cash flows and notes, including a summa-
ry of significant accounting policies, as well 
as the parent company’s balance sheet, in-
come statement, statement of cash flows 
and notes. 

In our opinion
•	the consolidated financial statements 

give a true and fair view of the group’s fi-
nancial  position  as well as its financial  
performance and its cash flows in accor-
dance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU.

•	the financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the parent company’s finan-
cial performance and financial position 
in accordance with the laws and regula-
tions governing the preparation of finan-
cial statements in Finland and comply 
with statutory requirements.

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with 
good auditing practice in Finland. Our re-
sponsibilities under good auditing prac-
tice are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of Financial 
Statements section of our report.

We are independent of the parent compa-
ny and of the group companies in accor-
dance with the ethical requirements that 
are applicable in Finland and are relevant 

To the Annual General Meeting of Bittium Oyj

to our audit, and we have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, 
in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the financial 
statements of the current period. These 
matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities de-
scribed in the Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the financial statements section 
of our report, including in relation to these 
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the 
performance of procedures designed to re-
spond to our assessment of the risks of ma-
terial misstatement of the financial state-
ments. The results of our audit procedures, 
including the procedures performed to ad-
dress the matters below, provide the basis 
for our audit opinion on the accompanying 
financial statements.
	
We have also addressed the risk of man-
agement override of internal controls. This 
includes consideration of whether there was 
evidence of management bias that repre-
sented a risk of material misstatement due 
to fraud.

Revenue recognition of  
construction contracts
Reference: Accounting principles and note 3

Fixed price contracts in long-term construc-
tion contracts are part of the Group’s busi-

ness practice. These projects constitute a 
significant portion of the consolidated net 
sales. In the financial statements for 2016 
the revenue recognized from these projects 
was 23.2 million euro, which is 36 percent-
age of the total net sales. 

The group applies the percentage of com-
pletion method for recognizing revenue 
from long-term construction contracts, 
which involves the use of significant man-
agement estimates. E.g. the following es-
timates include significant management 
judgement for each project: stage of com-
pletion, total contract costs and the project 
margin. The financial outcome of a project is 
based on the estimates made by the man-
agement and will come more accurate when 
the project advances.

We tested the revenue recognition of long-
term contracts on a transaction level. The 
testing included the examination of the fi-
nancial contract terms and the calculations 
and estimates used in the revenue recogni-
tion. We also discussed with the representa-
tives of the company to get an understand-
ing of the financial contents of the projects. 
Further, we compared the information in the 
notes with the calculations prepared by the 
management and with the IFRS standards 
applied by the group.

Development expenses
Reference: Accounting principles 
and notes 6, 8 and 13 

Development projects with significant size 
are constantly ongoing in the group.  As part 
of the accounting process for the R&D ex-
penses the management makes assump-
tions and estimates that has an effect on 
the carrying values and depreciation meth-
ods of R&D expenses. As of 31.12.2016 the 
carrying value of the development expens-
es was 6.4 million euro, which is 4 percent-
age of the total assets and 5 percentage 
of the equity.
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Our audit procedures included the testing 
of costs capitalized and assessing the as-
set lives in calculation of depreciation. We 
also discussed with representatives of the 
company, those responsible for the devel-
opment projects, to get information of the 
product’s stage of completion and its con-
tents and ability to generate financial bene-
fits to the group and of the internal process 
used by the group to monitor development 
projects and their accounting. We paid at-
tention e.g. to those development projects in 
which the depreciation method is based on 
the estimated quantities in the production 
phase of the project. We also examined the 
minutes of the board of directors including 
further information of the management’s 
financial expectation on these R&D invest-
ments. We assessed the notes related to 
development expenses.

Business acquisitions
Reference: Accounting principles 
and note 14

In November 2016 Bittium Group acquired 
the shares of Remega Oy. The acquisition 
price involved the cash consideration and 
the management’s estimate for the ad-
ditional purchase price that shall be paid 
upon achievement of certain financial per-
formance targets in 2017-2018. Determina-
tion of additional purchase price and the 
allocation of total acquisition price to ac-
quired net assets are a key audit matter be-
cause the accounting process was complex 
and because the calculations included as-
sumptions on sales revenue, margins and 
asset lives of the acquired intangible assets. 
Due to the acquisition the group’s goodwill 
increased by 5.3 million euro.

Our audit procedures in respect to the ac-
quisition included the examination of the 
interim financial balance sheets of the tar-
get entities and share purchase agreement 

as well as the calculations and estimations 
prepared in the company and the decisions 
made by the board of directors on the ac-
quisition. Further, we discussed with the 
management of the parent company how 
the purchase price was determined and the 
reasons for the acquisition to understand 
the background of the assumptions used 
in the calculations. We assessed the allo-
cation calculations included in the finan-
cial statements and compared them to the 
calculations which were made by an exter-
nal investment bank to support the decision 
making process of the Board of Directors. In 
addition, we assessed the notes related to 
business acquisition.

Responsibilities 
of the Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director for 
the Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and the Managing Di-
rector are responsible for the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with In-
ternational Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) as adopted by the EU, and of financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the laws and regulations 
governing the preparation of financial state-
ments in Finland and comply with statutory 
requirements. The Board of Directors and 
the Managing Director are also responsible 
for such internal control as they determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of fi-
nancial statements that are free from ma-
terial misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the 
Board of Directors and the Managing Direc-
tor are responsible for assessing the parent 
company’s and the group’s ability to contin-
ue as going concern, disclosing, as applica-
ble, matters relating to going concern and 

using the going concern basis of account-
ing. The financial statements are prepared 
using the going concern basis of account-
ing unless there is an intention to liquidate 
the parent company or the group or cease 
operations, or there is no realistic alterna-
tive but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities  
for the Audit of Financial  
Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable 
assurance on whether the financial state-
ments as a whole are free from materi-
al misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assur-
ance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in ac-
cordance with good auditing practice will al-
ways detect a material misstatement when 
it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, indi-
vidually or in aggregate, they could reason-
ably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the 
financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with good 
auditing practice, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skep-
ticism throughout the audit. We also: 

•	Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to 
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not de-
tecting a material misstatement result-
ing from fraud is higher than for one re-
sulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of in-
ternal control.
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•	Obtain an understanding of internal con-
trol relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the pur-
pose of expressing an opinion on the ef-
fectiveness of the parent company’s or the 
group’s internal control. 

•	Evaluate the appropriateness of account-
ing policies used and the reasonableness 
of accounting estimates and related dis-
closures made by management.

•	Conclude on the appropriateness of the 
Board of Directors’ and the Managing Di-
rector’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and based on the audit evi-
dence obtained, whether a material un-
certainty exists related to events or con-
ditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the parent company’s or the group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty 
exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related dis-
closures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to mod-
ify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, fu-
ture events or conditions may cause the 
company to cease to continue as a go-
ing concern. 

•	Evaluate the overall presentation, struc-
ture and content of the financial state-
ments, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements rep-
resent the underlying transactions and 
events so that the financial statements 
give a true and fair view.

•	Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evi-
dence regarding the financial informa-
tion of the entities or business activities 
within the group to express an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervi-
sion and performance of the group audit. 
We remain solely responsible for our au-
dit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with 
governance regarding, among other mat-
ters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, includ-
ing any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with gover-
nance with a statement that we have com-
plied with relevant ethical requirements re-
garding independence, and communicate 
with them all relationships and other mat-
ters that may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where applicable, 
related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with 
those charged with governance, we de-
termine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and are 
therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclo-
sure about the matter or when, in extreme-
ly rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of 
such communication.

Other Reporting  
Requirements 

Other information

The Board of Directors and the Managing Di-
rector are responsible for the other informa-
tion. The other information comprises infor-
mation included in the report of the Board of 
Directors and in the Annual Report, but does 
not include the financial statements and 
our report thereon. We obtained the report 

of the Board of Directors prior to the date of 
the auditor’s report, and the Annual Report 
is expected to be made available to us after 
the date of the auditor’s report.

Our opinion on the financial statements 
does not cover the other information.

In connection with our audit of the financial 
statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information identified above and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other infor-
mation is materially inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our knowledge ob-
tained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. With respect to re-
port of the Board of Directors, our responsi-
bility also includes considering whether the 
report of the Board of Directors has been 
prepared in accordance with the applicable 
laws and regulations. 

In our opinion, the information in the report 
of the Board of Directors is consistent with 
the information in the financial statements 
and the report of the Board of Directors has 
been prepared in accordance with the ap-
plicable laws and regulations. 

If, based on the work we have performed, 
we conclude that there is a material mis-
statement in the information included in the 
report of the Board of Directors, we are re-
quired to report this fact. We have nothing 
to report in this regard.  

Oulu, February 19, 2017

Ernst & Young Oy
Authorized Public Accountant Firm

Juhani Rönkkö
Authorized Public Accountant
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